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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company’, and
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is
accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the
omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.

This report shall remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information” page of the Stock Exchange's website at
www.hkexnews.hk for at least seven days from the date of its publication and will be available on the Company's
website at www.locohkholdings.com.

ERAMEXBAAAMRASE (TBXF)GEMZEE

GEMBYEN > DATNEABRE—ELTHNTS  LEARNMALERMERIALTHARNGTAERSRERR
FERENATERTERRERZSARNETAR ERSAEHRFNTERSFLIRERE

HIRGEMEH AR EESPNEAF  FGEME BN EF IR ERR MM EREEZEFAZTRANT IR K
B R R EZREEGEMEENEF AR MERNTIS

BEXG RGBT BERA R THETREINBH T EE B R EE LB TR T TR B I HER
BT R K #R & £ BF BT (T B 0 O B M0 EE £ BRI T BB X F A B0 5| BB (E (I IR K AR HE (E (I B (F ©

IR ETS IR TGEMEE S L TR (T GEMLEFBRRAY) 121 5E R BIRIFRE RG] (128238 - Z R E /& A A
K EE ) BIEK - KA AEEEE ((BEF) BH LI RERAREF AELEEF SEFUEFLH S EEHEE
50 FLIR FRTRA R B (5 - KR P BB & B A7 115 /8 E T 2o I #ERE A7 » Bl #E T A
FIE KR REE R LR EBTERE o

KR E AT & H A R+ KRB b www. hkexnews.hk 2 TERF _F i A S A & 488 K 7K 2 5 4805
www.locohkholdings.comPy Fl| & o



CONTENTS
B &

Corporate Information
rEER

Chairman’s Statement
FERS

Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE 5w DA

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
BEEREREEANBZEENE

Corporate Governance Report
TEERRS

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HEAEARARS

Report of the Directors

BEFERS

Independent Auditors’ Report
VARYR 2 S ETE =

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mrERmkEMEEREER

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

rE MBI R

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
LaRBEEE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEREMER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBERRWEE

Financial Summary

MBHME

Page
=N

22

29

49

81

97

106

108

110

114

240

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Wendong
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Fung Chi Kin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Zhou Tianshu

Ms. Wu Liyan

Ms. Wong Susan Chui San

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhou Tianshu (Chairman)
Ms. Wu Liyan

Ms. Wong Susan Chui San

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
Mr. Wang Wendong (Chairman)
Mr. Fung Chi Kin
Mr. Zhou Tianshu

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Ms. Wu Liyan (Chairlady)

Mr. Wang Wendong

Mr. Zhou Tianshu

Ms. Wong Susan Chui San

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Wang Wendong (Chairman)
Mr. Zhou Tianshu

Ms. Wu Liyan

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Chiu Ming King

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK

CORPORATE INFORMATION
~8EH

BE

BTES

EXEREE
(ZEFITHAE )

BERTE

BIERTES
BRE L
SRR L
ERMLL

BE%EEY
BXRExTE (Z/E)
REI L
ERMUL

BITEEY
EXRKE (Z/F)
BERLE
BRE L

FMEEE
SRRt (ZE)
IXEREE
BREFTE
BERMUL

RRZEY
EXR&KE (Z/F)
BRERE
SBHrL

ARWE
BRI E



CORPORATE INFORMATION
~8EH

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Fung Chi Kin

AUDITORS
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F.,

Two Chinachem Exchange Square,

338 King's Road, North Point,

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Unit 401, 4/F., Fairmont House,
8 Cotton Tree Drive, Admiralty, Hong Kong

LISTING
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

STOCK CODE
8162

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES TO
THE STOCK EXCHANGE

Mr. Wang Wendong

Mr. Chiu Ming King

WEBSITE
www.locohkholdings.com

EMAIL
info@locohkholdings.com

aBREME
BERTE

& Em
HE st EHAARAR
BEZET

Bz {538 P B 5o R
RS ERBRAR
BHEIEA

55 2553389
ML B B~ HA331E
3301-04Z

MM EE
EHE S BN IReYE
B E KEABLINE
L
ERMEXZ AR ATGEM
B AR 1SR

8162
BRZFRZIBRERE
EXEGE
HHBRIR

ik

www.locohkholdings.com

5

info@locohkholdings.com

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, collectively referred to as the “Group”), | would
like to present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 (the “Current Year”).

2022 was an extremely difficult year full of challenges. The
geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine, the mutation and
resurgence of the pandemic and the game between major powers
were among the turbulent factors in the world order that pushed up
global inflation and put heavy pressure and negative expectations
on the world economy. In the mainland of the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC Mainland”), the pandemic kept resurging with
sporadic and frequent outbreaks in 2022. Many regions such as the
Pearl River Delta, Yangtze River Delta and Sichuan and Chongging
suffered from the impact of the pandemic, which had a significant
impact on economic operations and disrupted supply chains and
logistics. 2022 was also a challenging year for the Group, with many
unpredictable and uncontrollable factors (pandemic lockdown, high
temperature and electricity restrictions, earthquakes, etc.) affecting
the Group’s business. Against the backdrop of a difficult business
environment, the Group’s unremitting efforts, refinement of its
business strategy and various proactive measures have resulted
in an upward trend in the Group’s operations and a significant
improvement in the Group’s revenue throughout 2022, particularly in
the fourth quarter, showing a positive recovery.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FEHRS

In terms of the metal business, in the three years since the outbreak
of the pandemic in 2020, the Group’s metal business has been
severely impacted by rising logistics costs and uncertainty risks
due to the “border closure” between the international and domestic
markets and between Hong Kong and the PRC Mainland, as well
as the shortage of supply and shrinking demand for our products.
Despite this, we have not relented in our efforts to respond
proactively and in a comprehensive manner. While maintaining our
existing trading of metal business, the Group took advantage of the
“Sichuan-Hong Kong Summit” in September 2021 to further expand
the domestic metal industry supply chain and other businesses
and successfully signed a strategic cooperation agreement with
a customer in the PRC Mainland in March 2022. 2022 saw the
Group start to provide metal supply chain services to several
new customers in the PRC Mainland. As a metal supply chain
integrator, the Group provides customers with one-stop integrated
services covering procurement, insurance, logistics, trade, customs
declaration and market information on the most favourable terms.
Our business model can create maximum value and effectively
reduce procurement costs for customers, and has good potential for
sustainable development.
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In terms of the education management services business, the Group
made a good start in 2019 with the introduction of the education
management services business, which was profitable in the same
year. 2020 saw a severe impact on the education management
services business due to the outbreak of the pandemic, followed
by the government’s new policies on the rectification and reform
of education and the “Double Reduction Opinions” issued by the
General Office of the CPC Central Committee and the General
Office of the State Council in 2021, which brought about significant
changes to the domestic education industry. In response to the
new policy of national education reform, the Group adjusted its
business strategy in a timely manner and shifted its business focus
to the areas of arts and physical education, humanistic and well-
rounded education encouraged by the national education policy.
In 2022, we also developed a new customer engaged in nature
experience well-rounded education and a new customer who was
a distributor of educational textbooks and books. At present, the
Group’s diversification of customers include kindergartens, education
institutions engaged in art, music, sports, science and technology,
outdoor and other aspects, as well as education institutions focusing
on humanistic well-rounded education and textbooks and books
distributors. The combination of the business development direction
encouraged by the policies, rich education management resources,
diversified customer base and good cooperation with customers
enable us to have unique and sustainable competitive advantages,
which will help us to develop more potential customers. During the
Current Year, we continued to adopt a prudent assessment and
lending policy for credit facilities due to the uncertain economic
environment.

In 2022, despite the difficult situation faced by the Group, we never
slacked off and have taken various measures to expand our trading
of metal business and education management services business
in a risk-controlled manner, with a view to optimising our business
opportunities and improving our financial performance. At the same
time, the Group remained committed to its strategy of prudence
and continuous enhancement of risk control, and was determined to
pursue a sound, high quality and sustainable business model.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FEHRS

As the global society and economy are still facing complex and
severe situations such as the escalation of the Russia-Ukraine
conflict and high inflation, the world economy has become more
uncertain. In the PRC Mainland, the economic environment is
changing in a positive direction with the relaxation of national
pandemic prevention and control, the focus on economic
development and the resumption of normal travel between Hong
Kong and the PRC Mainland after a three-year hiatus. We will keep
abreast of the changes and opportunities in the general environment,
and continue to adhere to the strategy of actively restoring and
continuously expanding our core businesses to further develop our
metal business and education management services business.

All'in all, the Group will strive to seek development in the balance of
risk control in its existing business model.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers and
business partners for their continuous support and to our staff
members for their diligence, dedication and contribution to the
growth of the Group.

Wang Wendong
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND BUSINESS MODEL

Metal Business

The Group has been engaged in metal business in Hong Kong
since 2010 which has been the Group’s principal business since
then. The Group used to derive revenue from the sales of metals,
comprising silver, gold and tin, of which processed silver product
was the Group’s then principal product. However, since 2017, the
metal business has been operating under challenging business
environment caused by various external factors such as rigorous
fluctuations in silver prices, Sino-US trade disputes, international
economic downturn and tightening up of export of silver scraps
from the mainland of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC
Mainland”) to Hong Kong. The COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong
and the PRC Mainland seriously affected the import and export
industry as well as logistic business in general, which enhanced the
settlement risks significantly. In view of the challenging business
environment of the metal business, the Company has taken
immediate steps to radially switch its business focus from processing
and sales of processed silver to becoming a supply chain integrator
within the metal industry. The Group also taps into the business of
gold trading in Hong Kong. Nevertheless, the Group has maintained
its silver melting and processing facilities in Hong Kong and retained
three core technicians such that the Group would be able to resume
its silver processing operations as and when opportunities arise.

Being a supply chain integrator, the Group connects metal
manufacturing enterprises in the PRC Mainland with downstream
wholesalers and retailers of metal products whereby the Group
provides its customers with one-stop integrated services to its
customers by selecting suppliers with the best available terms
(including product specification, pricing, payment, delivery
terms, etc.). Benefiting from the Group’s one-stop services cover
procurement, insurance, logistics, trade and customs declaration
and market intelligence etc. aspects, the Group’s customers are
able to simplify their procurement procedures, lower their overall
procurement costs and focus on the sales activities. During the
year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Current Year” or “2022"),
the Group mainly derives revenue from acting as a supply chain
integrator within the metal industry and provides supply-chain
support for its customers which are based in the PRC Mainland.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EBESWADH

Education Management Services Business

To further diversify the income stream of the Group, the Group
successfully introduced the education management services
business in the PRC Mainland in 2019. The Group’s education
management services business mainly involves the provision of
comprehensive education management services (including but not
limited to, recommend of experienced teachers/instructors, help
recruitment of students, designing structure and content of course
curriculum, formulation of promotional and marketing activities,
designing course promotion materials, recommending teaching
materials and textbooks for its customers) to various education
institutions (including kindergartens, arts and physical education
or well-rounded education (RE ¥ &) providers, nature experience
education (HRBEERZS) provider and distributor of educational
text books and books) in Chengdu, Sichuan Province, the PRC
Mainland so as to enhance the service quality and operation
effectiveness of its customers. In return, the Group receives a
management fee calculated with reference to the total revenue of the
respective education institution.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the Current Year, the Group’s principal activities were broadly
divided into the trading of metal and metal supply chain business
in Hong Kong and the PRC Mainland, provision of education
management services in the PRC Mainland and provision of money
lending services in Hong Kong.

Trading of metal

In the Current Year, global economy development was still subject
to complex and grim negative expectations due to the combined
impact of continued inflation and interest rate hikes in major
economies, geopolitical conflicts and the ongoing pandemic.

Since the outbreak of the pandemic in 2020, international logistics
costs and uncertainty risks have been escalating due to the
pandemic prevention and control measures in various countries,
together with the three-year “border closure” between Hong Kong
and the PRC Mainland. At the same time, factors such as insufficient
supply, shrinking demand and decline in business gross profit margin
have severely impacted the Group’s trading of metal business.

Nevertheless, the Group insisted on active response and
comprehensive layout. In September 2021, the Group took the
opportunity of the “Sichuan-Hong Kong Summit” to further expand
the domestic metal industry supply chain and other businesses.
In March 2022, the Group successfully entered into a strategic
cooperation agreement with Chengdu Zhonghuan Fulin Trading
Co., Ltd.* (R#HIREZFBEEERAT) (“Zhonghuan Fulin”),
an independent third party headquartered in Sichuan Province,
China, and further entered into a supplemental agreement (the
“Supplemental Agreement”) in May 2022. Pursuant to the
Supplemental Agreement, Sichuan Loco Metal Technology Limited
(“Sichuan Loco”) agreed to sell, and Zhonghuan Fulin agreed to
purchase, metal products within the business scope of Sichuan
Loco, including but not limited to steel, metal components and
steel fastener materials. Zhonghuan Fulin is one of the largest
supply chain units of hardware and electromechanical standard
parts in Sichuan Province, and also a national hardware and
electromechanical information collection unit in China. It has over
1,000 end customers, mainly including many large state-owned
transportation infrastructure central enterprises, state-owned
enterprises and manufacturing enterprises such as Sichuan Deyang
Erzhong Heavy Equipment Company* (I8)1|1®8k5 —EEREFH A T)),
Deyang Dongdian Group* (f2[Z R B4 E), Chengdu Railway Bureau*
(R &R 2% F5) , Chengdu Tianma Railway Bearing Co., Ltd.* (B &8 X
E#EEAAFRAR), FAW-Volkswagen Chengdu Factory* (—/5 K
S EUEB T ) , Hunan Hongtai Power Construction Co., Ltd.* GH B
HZENRZRARAF), etc.

* English name for identification propose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERESRAEADH

During the Current Year, the pandemic in the PRC Mainland
continued to be characterized by sporadic, widespread and
frequent outbreaks. In March 2022, the outbreak of the pandemic
in Shanghai caused temporary suspension or interruption of
the logistics, production and supply chain of Shanghai and its
surrounding core areas in the Yangtze River Delta. Until the
pandemic was initially under control in June and July 2022, the
production of factories gradually resumed, and the supply chain
and industry chain also gradually recovered. The Group seized the
opportunity to successfully complete the delivery and performance
of several orders and contracts with Zhonghuan Fulin, laying a good
foundation of mutual trust for subsequent business development.
While the Group was planning to accelerate the development of
its metal business in the PRC Mainland, in August 2022, Sichuan
Province, the principal location of the Group’s metal business in the
PRC Mainland, experienced power blackouts caused by rare and
continuous high temperature and drought, forcing many production
and manufacturing industries to shut down. Earthquakes of great
magnitude struck near Chengdu, Sichuan in September 2022, and
local production and logistics in Chengdu were again interrupted
due to the ongoing “city-wide static management” (“lockdown
management”) triggered by the pandemic, until the gradual
discharge of the lockdown management in Chengdu in the end
of September 2022. The unexpected and extreme environmenta
climate and the resurgence of COVID-19 had a significant impact on
the normal operation of this business segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Despite the impact of many of the above uncontrollable factors,
the Group has actively taken various measures to respond. In the
Current Year, the Group has sold nearly 1,481 tonnes of metal
products to Zhonghuan Fulin under the agreement. In addition to
Zhonghuan Fulin, in the fourth quarter of 2022, the Group further
expanded its customer base and started to provide metal supply
chain services to three new Chinese customers. These three new
customers have contributed revenue of approximately RMB10.79
million (approximately HK$12.58 million) in the fourth quarter of
2022. These three new customers include two in Sichuan and one
in Yunnan, who have been serving metal parts manufacturers and
suppliers of the provincial-owned and state-owned enterprises
such as China Railway Construction Group Corporation* (F [l
EERHEEBAMRAT), China Telecommunications Corporation*
(FEBEEEERAT) and Kunming Rail Transit* (EBE#L
i83%3@) . The products involved in the trade are widely used in
infrastructure projects such as high-speed rail, subway and large-
scale transmission lines, which are products with rigid demand in the
infrastructure industry.

In the Current Year, the Group continued to expand the metal
industry supply chain business in the PRC Mainland market. As a
metal supply chain integrator, the Group provides customers with
one-stop integrated services covering procurement, insurance,
logistics, trade, customs declaration and market information. The
Group business model can create maximum value and effectively
reduce costs for customers, and has good potential for sustainable
development.

As of 2022, the overall revenue of the Group’s trading of metal
business improved significantly year-on-year, showing a good
recovery trend. Revenue from this business segment was
approximately HK$34.55 million for the Current Year (2021: HK$9.39
million) and, in particular, the revenue of the metal business in
the forth quarter of 2022 amounted to approximately HK$18.32
million. The significant increase in revenue from the metal business
underlined the Group’s efforts to further develop the metal business
and the sustainability of the business model. The Group is confident
to further improve and expand its metal business in line with the
general environment of the resumption of normal travel between the
PRC Mainland and Hong Kong, optimisation of pandemic control
and focus on economic development in the PRC Mainland.

* English name for identification propose only
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Education management services

As of 2022, our wholly-owned subsidiary, Sichuan Loco Yahui
Education Management Limited* (F0)I|BiRHEHRB SEER A
@) (‘Loco Yahui”), was principally engaged in the provision of
education management services to different schools and education
institutions in the PRC Mainland.

Since the introduction of the education management services
business by the Group in 2019, it has achieved profit in the year of
introduction. In 2020, the education management services business
was also severely affected by the outbreak of the pandemic. In
2021, the government’s new policies on the rectification and reform
of education and the “Double Reduction Opinions” issued by the
General Office of the CPC Central Committee and the General Office
of the State Council have a huge impact on the domestic education
industry. In response to the new policy of national education reform,
the Group timely adjusted its business strategy and shifted its
business focus to the fields of art and sports education, humanities
education and well-rounded education encouraged by the national
education policy. The latest business strategy has achieved initial
results in 2022. The Group has signed up a number of customers
in the above-mentioned education fields and achieved good
performance returns. According to the notice in relation to the
orderly resumption of primary and secondary schools (kindergartens)
was issued by the Education Bureau in Chengdu on 19 September
2022, the education management services business started to
recover in the fourth quarter of 2022 and achieved revenue of
approximately HK$8.51 million during the fourth quarter of the year.

In the Current Year, Loco Yahui engaged by a new customer in
Chengdu providing well-rounded education and entered into an
education management service agreement with the customer.
The customer is a humanistic well-rounded education institution
providing natural experience education for primary and secondary
school students. (For details, please refer to the voluntary
announcement of the Company dated 7 June 2022). In the Current
Year, Loco Yahui also entered into a management service agreement
with a distributor of educational textbooks and books in the PRC
Mainland to assist the customer in effectively improving the resource
utilisation and maintenance of the educational books market
and exploring educational books distribution market. Recently,
the number of customers of the Group’s education management
services business has reached 8, covering kindergartens, education
institutions engaged in art, music, sports, science and technology,
outdoor and other aspects, as well as education institutions focusing
on humanistic well-rounded education and educational textbooks
and books distributors.

* English name for identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The business development direction encouraged by the policies,
rich education management resources, diversified customer
portfolio and good cooperation with customers enable the Group
to have unique and sustainable competitive advantages, which
will help to continuously attract more potential customers. At the
same time, given that the PRC Mainland has gradually lifted the
pandemic control, schools and various educational institutions
are not expected to be required to suspend classes again, and
extracurricular activities and humanities and well-rounded and after-
school training for students not affected by policies will also return to
normal. The customer base of the Group’s education management
services will increase enrolment and types of courses, thereby
increasing tuition income, which will increase the revenue of the
Group’s education management services business.

This will effectively contribute to the development and revenue of
the Group’s education management services business. The Group
will continue to pay close attention to policy trends and regulatory
environment, and further optimise and adjust its business model and
related arrangements in response to changes in national education
policies.

This business segment contributed revenue of approximately
HK$13.79 million (2021: approximately HK$4.55 million) to the
Group during the Current Year.

Provision of money lending services

As of 2022, global economic and social development continued to
face complex and severe challenges due to a range of uncertainties,
including the geopolitical conflict between Russia and Ukraine,
high global inflation and continued interest rate hikes. Similarly,
the market conditions in the PRC Mainland were also affected.
Therefore, the Group believed that the credit risk in its money lending
services remains high. Due to the uncertain economic situation and
business outlook, the Group strictly adheres to a prudent credit
assessment and review policy and assesses the creditworthiness of
existing and potential customers in a timely manner based on the
prevailing market conditions and the respective background of the
customers. As the prevailing uncertain economic conditions would
affect asset valuation projections, business forecasts and individual
repayment capacity projections, the Group still adopted further
enhanced risk control measures and prudent evaluation and lending
policies in selecting qualified credit applicants for potential business
opportunities. However, the Group will conduct related business
accordingly when the time comes.

Therefore, no revenue was recorded in this business segment during
the Current Year (2021: Nil).
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OUTLOOK

The current complex and severe situations such as the escalation
of the Russia-Ukraine conflict and high inflation brought more
uncertainties to the world economy. In the PRC Mainland, some
important positive changes in the domestic economic environment
are emerging such as the easing of national pandemic prevention
and control policies, the focus on economic development, and
the resumption of normal travel between Hong Kong and the PRC
Mainland.

The Group expects that the metal business will benefit from the
orderly resumption of domestic economic production, and the
demand for commodity orders in the domestic metal market is
expected to further increase, and the Group are endeavoring to
discuss cooperation plan(s) with potential customers, so as to further
expand the customer base of its metal business. In respect of the
education management services business, with the optimisation
of domestic pandemic prevention policies, education teaching and
students’ extracurricular courses will also return to normal, which
will help the Group’s education management services business to
continue to recover and develop steadily. At the same time, the
Group will continue to pay close attention to policy trends and
regulatory environment, and further optimise and adjust in response
to changes in national education policies in a timely manner. In
addition, the Group has gained publicity in the education markets
in Chengdu, and its team is actively expanding customer bases
of education management services business. The Group will keep
abreast of the changes and opportunities in the international and
domestic environment, continue to adhere to the strategy of actively
restoring and continuously expanding its core businesses, and
further develop our metal business and education management
services business. All in all, the Group will strive to seek development
in the balance of risk control in its existing business model.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had a total
revenue of approximately HK$48.3 million (2021: approximately
HK$13.9 million), representing an increase of approximately 247%
as compared with 2021. The Group recorded loss of approximately
HK$23.2 million (2021: approximately HK$31.4 million) for the year
ended 31 December 2022, representing a decrease of approximately
26% as compared to 2021. The decrease in loss was mainly
attributable to net effect of:

(@) an increase in the Group’s total revenue of approximately
HK$34.4 million as discussed in above;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(b) the carrying value of inventories sold was recognized
approximately HK$34.1 million (2021: approximately HK$9.4
million);

(c) fair value changes on investment in unlisted equity securities
was recognized approximately HK$0.17 million (2021: no fair
value changes on investment in unlisted equity securities was
recognized);

(d) an increase in share of loss of an associate of approximately
HK$4.4 million;

(e) a decrease in employee costs of approximately HK$5.3 million;
and

(f) an increase in other operating expenses of approximately
HK$2.6 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s loss attributable
to owners of the Company was approximately HK$22.1 million, as
compared to the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$29.2 million for 2021.

The key performance indicators of the Group include those provided
above and in the sections “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report”, “Business Review”, “Capital Structure, Liquidity and
Financial Resources” and “Financial Summary” of this annual report.
They help the management to set, evaluate, implement and control
strategies so as to improve the performance of the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL
RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$4.2 million (2021: approximately HK$20.9
million) and net current assets of approximately HK$13.3 million
(2021: approximately HK$29.4 million). As at 31 December 2022, the
current ratio stood at 1.65 times (2021: 7.24 times).

The Group generally finances its operations primarily with internally
generated cash and borrowings. The decrease in cash and bank
balances of approximately HK$16.7 million is mainly attributable
to the loss for the year and the increase in the trade and other
receivables, netting off by the proceeds from borrowings.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had outstanding borrowings of
approximately HK$12.1 million (2021: Nil). The borrowings represent
loans denominated in HK$ from shareholders bearing interest at
2.5% per annum which are unsecured and are repayable within one
year.

As at 31 December 2022, no banking facilities were granted to
the Group (2021: Nil). The Directors believed that the Group has
adequate financial resources to fulfill its commitments and working
capital requirements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
AFFILIATED COMPANIES, AND PLAN FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

On 31 May 2022, the Company (the “Purchaser”) (as the purchaser)
and Mr. Hon Hang (“Mr. Hon”) (as the vendor) entered into the sale
and purchase agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Hon agreed to sell,
and the Company agreed to purchase, 4,300 shares of True Time
International Investments Limited (“True Time”) (representing 43%
equity interests in True Time), at the consideration of USD1 in cash
(the “Acquisition”). Upon completion of the Acquisition, True Time
becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. For the details
of the Acquisition, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 31 May 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded financial assets
measured at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$4.28 million (2021: approximately HK$5.5 million). Details of
such financial assets are disclosed in Note 16 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Save as disclosed herein, there was no other significant investment
held, material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated
companies by the Company during the year ended 31 December
2022. There was no other plan for material investments or capital
assets as at 31 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

Placing of new shares in 2021

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 12 August
2021 and 20 August 2021, the Company had completed placing of
138,234,000 ordinary shares of the Company at a placing price of
HK$0.2 per placing share on 19 August 2021.

The placing price of HK$0.2 per placing share under the placing
represents: (i) a discount of approximately 15.97% to the closing
price of HK$0.238 per ordinary share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange on 12 August 2021, being the date of the placing
agreement; and (ii) a discount of approximately 6.02% to the average
closing price of approximately HK$0.2128 per Share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange for the last five consecutive trading days
immediately prior to the date of the placing agreement.

The net proceeds (after deducting the placing commission and
other related expenses and professional fees) from the 138,234,000
placing shares amounted to approximately HK$27.24 million. The
Company intends to apply such net proceeds from the placing for its
metal business and for general working capital.

As at 31 December 2022, the aforesaid net proceeds use which are
consistent with the intended use of proceeds has been applied as
follows:
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Unutilized amount of proceeds as at 1 January 2022 WR_Z - _F—H—BKXEFANAENRIE 12,918
Utilized amount of proceeds during the year: FREBANMERIEERE .

- General working capital ——REEES (11,784)

- Metal business —EBEX (1,134)
Unutilized amount of proceeds W2 _HF+-"H=+—H

as at 31 December 2022 FEBWFIIERIE -

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY 1 5 R % BH B 2R

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 24 staff
(2021: 30 staff). The total employee costs, including remuneration
of the Directors, for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted
to approximately HK$13.2 million (2021: approximately HK$18.5
million).
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The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are
periodically reviewed. In addition to salaries, the Group provides
staff benefits including medical and provident fund. Share options
and bonuses are also available to employees of the Group at
the discretion of the Directors and depending on the financial
performance of the Group.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 December 2022, no Group’s asset was pledged as security
(2021: Nil).

GEARING RATIO
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.

As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio was 38.4% (2021: no
gearing ratio was presented as the Group has net cash surplus).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities, guarantees or any litigation or claims of material
importance pending or threatened against any member of the
Group (2021: Nil) and there has not been any material change in the
contingent liabilities of the Group since 31 December 2022.

TREASURY POLICY

The Directors will continue to follow a prudent policy in managing
the Group’s bank balances and maintain strong and healthy liquidity
to ensure that the Group is well placed to take advantage of future
growth opportunities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s sales, purchase and borrowings are predominantly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars and Renminbi. The
Directors considered that the Group had no significant exposure
to foreign exchange fluctuations and believed it was not necessary
to hedge against any exchange risk. Nevertheless, the Company’s
management will continue to monitor the foreign exchange exposure
position and will take any future measures if appropriate.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitment and capital expenditure (2021: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DIVIDENDS
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company has received a letter from the Stock Exchange
notifying the Company that the Listing Division of the Stock
Exchange has decided that the Company has failed to maintain a
sufficient level of operations and assets required under Rule 17.26 of
the GEM Listing Rules to warrant the continued listing of its shares,
and that trading in the Company’s shares shall be suspended on
9 November 2022 under Rule 9.04(3) of the GEM Listing Rules
(the “Decision”) unless the Company applies for a review of the
Decision. The Company has submitted a written request to the
Stock Exchange for the Decision to be referred to the GEM Listing
Committee for review pursuant to Chapter 4 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Accordingly, trading in the shares of the Company has
continued. Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 31
October 2022 and 8 November 2022 for details.

The review hearing of the Decision by the GEM Listing Committee
was held on 31 January 2023. On 10 February 2023, the Company
received a letter dated 10 February 2023 from the GEM Listing
Committee, notifying the Company that, having considered all the
submissions (both written and oral) made by the Company and the
Listing Division of the Stock Exchange, the GEM Listing Committee
was of the view that the Company failed to maintain a sufficient level
of operations and assets to meet Rule 17.26 of the GEM Listing
Rules to warrant the continued listing of its shares. The GEM Listing
Committee therefore decided to uphold the Decision to suspend
trading in the Company’s shares under Rule 9.04(3) of the GEM
Listing Rules (the “LC’s Decision”).

The Company has submitted a written request to the Stock
Exchange on 21 February 2023 for the LC’s Decision to be referred
to the GEM Listing Review Committee for a further and final review
under Chapter 4 of the GEM Listing Rules. Accordingly, trading
in the shares of the Company has continued. Please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 12 February 2023 and 21
February 2023 for details.

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant events after the
reporting period of the Group.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK

EEBESmADH

[:35)

EEEL A E: ?tﬁi_v__fﬁ-f— A
=+ —HEFERIERERE CEZ—F:
) o

BEHEREER

KABWEIBZMEH RG> BRIAA
BB EMEBRE KABKREMHTT
GEMEMRBE17 26K REN BN EE
MEBEKFE URBEREEE TR
GEMJ:FE%EH'J%Q 04(3)E» KRB REN
REVRIEZZF+—ANBHE R (TZR
El) BRIERRNBDRBEZZARTE - AQF
ERBXiERE@mEK EZUETJ’EGEM
LEHRABIERZATEIRRGEM ETMZE
ﬁ%ﬁol&t KRB REHRZ %WEEL
HEIEH2RARABAEBEA ST &+
HE+—E&_$::¢+—H/\EEM}

=
= °

GEMEmZEgHZATNEZRMARZ
T F B+ —HRF ZE=F_"
B+B > RABEEGEMLEFZEEHEA
TEC-FZRTHMRMG BRIAARAK
%Fﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁxﬁﬂ&%ﬁ“ﬁﬁiﬁﬂf’%Eﬁf
H (BEEEAORE) 2 GEMETZEER
ARANBREHEFTBIKENEEREE
ﬁéGEMtﬁi%ﬁﬁu%w 261% > U{REBH K
TgEFH - FHIL GEMETHZEE GRTE4H
FIREGEM LR A 59.04Q)FE = A A E
RHEBEENAE (LHEEGRE)) °

ARBERZIE Z=ZF-_B-+—HMBH

RPTRXEEHF > ERRBEGEM LT ARRY
FABR LT EETREERCGEMLETEZ
ZERFE—IRERBEZ -RAIL REX
ZINREBET -FBF2HEREALTEHNS
—ET-HE"A+TZHRZZEZZ=H£"AR
—+—HZRAE-

PR EAPT IR E SN R EBR R ERRME
ERERFR

21



22

BIoGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREBABEZEESHTR

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Wendong (“Mr. Wang”), aged 55, has been appointed
as an executive Director in May 2018 and re-designated as chief
executive officer of the Company in October 2018. Mr. Wang was
also appointed as the chairman of the board of the Company since
January 2019. Mr. Wang has more than 28 years of extensive
experience in real economy investment. Since the 1990s, Mr. Wang
has served as a group vice president in an international group of
companies. Such group has significant footprint in the PRC Mainland
and Hong Kong including international trade, farming, education,
culture industry, real estate and consumer goods.

Since his appointment as the chairman of the Board at the beginning
of 2019, Mr. Wang is responsible for the overall oversight of the
metal trading and education management services business as
well as strategic development, and helping to expand the customer
bases. Mr. Wang has continuously adjusted and enhanced the
composition of the Board and management members of the
Company to ensure the healthy development of the precious
metal industry, and successfully introduced a new industry (the
educational management service industry) to obtain returns and
profits in the year of investment. Positive and favourable responses
have been received given the healthy market capitalisation of the
Company. With the continuous efforts of Mr. Wang in improving and
strengthening the management and internal control, the Company is
in a more sound financial position.
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Mr. Fung Chi Kin (“Mr. Fung”), aged 73, has been appointed
as an executive Director since June 2019 and also appointed as
the compliance officer of the Company in August 2019. Mr. Fung
is the honorary permanent president of the Chinese Gold & Silver
Exchange Society and director of Fung Chi Kin Consulting Limited.
Mr. Fung has over 35 years of experience in banking and finance
Prior to his retirement, he was the director and deputy general
manager of Po Sang Bank Limited (merged into Bank of China
(Hong Kong) Limited in 2001), managing director of BOCI Securities
Limited and chief administration officer of BOC International
Holdings Limited. From October 1998 to June 2000, Mr. Fung
served as a council member of the first Legislative Council of the
HKSAR. He also held offices in various public organizations and
was the vice chairman of the Stock Exchange, director of the Hong
Kong Futures Exchange Limited, director of Hong Kong Securities
Clearing Company Limited and Hong Kong Affairs Advisor. Mr.
Fung is appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Poly Property Group Co., Limited (Stock Code: 119) since May
2021, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, and is appointed as a non-executive director of Sang
Hing Holdings (International) Limited (Stock Code: 1472) since July
2018, the shares of which are recently listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange from 17 March 2020. Mr. Fung also served as
an executive director and compliance officer of China Trustful Group
Limited (formerly known as Powerwell Pacific Holdings Limited)
(Stock Code: 8265) from March 2019 to October 2019 and from
September 2014 to May 2017, the shares of which are listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Fung has been an independent
non-executive director of Chaoda Modern Agriculture (Holdings)
Limited (Stock Code: 682) since September 2003 and Geotech
Holdings Ltd. (Stock Code: 1707) from September 2017 to August
2020 respectively. Mr. Fung has also been an independent non-
executive director of China Overseas Nuoxin International Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Kenford Group Holding Limited) (Stock
Code: 464) from August 2017 to April 2019. Each of the shares of
Chaoda Modern Agriculture (Holdings) Limited, Geotech Holdings
Ltd. and China Overseas Nuoxin International Holdings Limited are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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BIoGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREBABEZEESHTR

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhou Tianshu (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 47, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since September 2018. Mr.
Zhou is currently the senior vice president of JEIIEZ IS EMB A
fR A~ B)(Shenzhen Yunyi General Aviation Technology Limited*) and
was the executive CEO of Skyho Aviation Technology Co., Ltd.. Mr.
Zhou received a bachelor’s degree in engineering from Civil Aviation
University of China and a master’s degree in law from Wuhan
University. Mr. Zhou has over 23 years of experience in enterprise
planning, business investment and risk control. Mr. Zhou has worked
in a major state-owned aviation enterprise in the PRC Mainland
for over 18 years, mainly in enterprise planning and management
positions. Mr. Zhou also held management positions in China Aircraft
Leasing Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1848) in Hong Kong,
which is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
and its subsidiary, Aircraft Recycling International Limited.

Ms. Wu Liyan (“Ms. Wu"), aged 37, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since September 2018. Ms.
Wu is currently the marketing director of Pacific International
Securities Limited. Ms. Wu received a bachelor’s degree in science
from University of Minnesota and a master’s degree in science from
New York University. Ms. Wu has more than 13 years of marketing
and business development experiences in renowned investment
management companies.

* English name for identification purpose only
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Ms. Wong Susan Chui San (“Ms. Wong”), aged 49, has been
appointed as an independent non-executive Director since February
2019. Ms. Wong has been a certified practising accountant of
the Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants and a
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since May 1999 and May 2000, respectively.
She is also a member of The Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors, a fellow and a certified tax adviser of the Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong. Ms. Wong has more than 23 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and taxation. She is the founder of Messrs.
C.S. Wong & Co. and a director of Pan-China (H.K.) CPA Limited.
Ms. Wong has been an independent non-executive director of Ban
Loong Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 30) which is listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange since October 2014. From January
2015 to September 2019, Ms. Wong was the chief financial officer
and company secretary of Astrum Financial Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 8333) which is listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange. From
April 2012 to August 2015, Ms. Wong was as the company secretary
of Yin He Holdings Limited (formerly known as Zebra Strategic
Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 8260) which is listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange. From November 2014 to June 2017, Ms. Wong
was also the company secretary of Youth Champ Financial Group
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Grand Investment Internationa
Limited) (Stock Code: 1160) which is listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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BIoGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREBABEZEESHTR

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Gao Xinna (“Ms. Gao”), aged 39, joined Loco Yahui in June
2020 and was appointed as the general manager of Loco Yahui
on 1 June 2020. Ms. Gao is primarily responsible for the overall
management of Loco Yahui’s education management services
business and overseeing the business operation, mainly including
soliciting new clients, introducing new projects, client management,
project planning and so on.

Prior to joining Loco Yahui, Ms. Gao had gained extensive
experience in the education industry. From October 2015 to June
2020, Ms. Gao was the co-founder and first principal of an art
training school in Chengdu. Currently, she is also a certified senior
instructor of ICE International Study Center, and a guest instructor
for the Women and Children Channel of Sichuan Radio and
Television and Golden Panda Children's Art Troupe, among other
unofficial positions. Ms. Gao was awarded the bachelor's degree
in Performance Education from the Dance College of Sichuan
Conservatory of Music in July 2007 and the master's degree in
Financial Assets and Management from Brest Business School in
France in October 2022.

Mr. Wang Neng (“Mr. Wang”), aged 50, joined Loco Yahui in
November 2022 and was appointed as the deputy general manager
of Loco Yahui on 17 November 2022. Mr. Wang is mainly responsible
for providing assistance to the general manager and developing
marketing plans to promote the educational management services
provided by Loco Yahui. Prior to joining Loco Yahui, Mr. Wang held
senior positions in various companies, including deputy general
manager and general manager, focusing on marketing strategy and
business relationship development. He has accumulated more than
20 years of marketing experience in PRC Mainland. Mr. Wang holds
a bachelor degree from Yunnan University.

SREEE

MRt (MERL)) 39m R -F
FRAMABRMEE T T _FFXA
—HEZERBREERLEE - SRLTE
BEBRKEEHSEERFBEBNEZAE
B -UTEEEBNES T2URBENT
P #ENMIEE -BEREE -BEEREF

EMABRBEZR > SRETERBETE
BREELR -BRLITBN _E—AF+A
ETTTFENAHE A RE— B2
BIERNBERIBARBEERE BAE
FALICERRMA B LI E S RBED )1
ERERER7AE EREVEZENES
BEMEFEIBF SRIN _TTLF
TtRAESH I ZREREEERXEHNSE
FETRMU TR B _F+HAEREE
hEFRHEReREEREEEXRLS
fiLe

FEREFRE (TEKE)) 6505 R
+—BMABRRE TR —2 - —F+—
BTtHEZERBIRMERBLIE £5
EEXTEAERBEBRHIBE > I HIE S
S8 IEEBRBEERENHE EER
BoMABRBEZR  TXEBEZHKE
EEFRESE AKEBESRBE
REEEHRBENEBRRER ETER
WHRET _+ZFENEHER - TREHER
ERARBANB LR

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERSREEBAEZEEHBE

Mr. Chen Ming (“Mr. Chen”), aged 36, joined Loco Yahui in
January 2020 and was appointed as the executive manager of
Loco Yahui on 13 January 2020. Mr. Chen is primarily responsible
for the overall management of the Company's operation. He is
also responsible for the business development of quality education
management services business. Prior to joining Loco Yahui, Mr. Chen
had extensive experience in the education industry.

From October 2015 to January 2020, Mr. Chen acted as an assistant
to the chairman, and the center’s director of the Chengdu College
of Arts and Sciences. Mr. Chen was awarded the bachelor's degree
from Sichuan Normal University in June 2011.

Ms. Gao Huajin (“Ms. Gao”), aged 59, joined Loco Yahui in July
2020 and was appointed as the director of human resources of
Loco Yahui on 1 July 2020. Ms. Gao is primarily responsible for
directing the human resources department of Loco Yahui to recruit
and identify the best possible talents for high quality education
management services, and improving the team’s business quality
to provide better education management services to existing or
prospective clients. Currently, Ms. Gao also acts as the Party
Secretary of Chengdu College of Arts and Sciences, commissioner
of Chengdu College of Arts and Sciences, senior economist, vice
chairperson of the Party Building Committee of Private Schools
under China Private Education Association, vice president of
Sichuan Private Education Association, and expert of Sichuan Social
Organization Assessment, among others. Ms. Gao holds a master's
degree in business administration issued by Business School of
Sichuan University.
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COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Fung Chi Kin is the compliance officer of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chiu Ming King (“Mr. Chiu”) has been appointed as the
Company Secretary with effect from 28 August 2020. Mr. Chiu,
aged 45, currently serves as Head of Corporate and Fund Services
of Vistra Corporate Services (HK) Limited. He has over 18 years
of experience in the company secretarial field. He is currently
the company secretary and joint company secretary of several
companies which listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chiu has been an associate member of the Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as the Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) in United Kingdom and the Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute (“HKCGI”) (formerly known as
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) since 2003 and
has become a fellow member of both the HKCGI and the Chartered
Governance Institute since September 2015. He is also a holder of
the Practitioner’s Endorsement Certificate issued by HKCGI. From
2020, he has been a council member of HKCGI, vice-chairman of
the Membership Committee and chairman of Professional Services
Panel of HKCGI.

Mr. Chiu obtained a bachelor of arts from University of Toronto in
Canada in June 1999 and received a master of arts in professional
accounting and information systems from City University of Hong
Kong in November 2003.
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CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to attain a high standard of corporate
governance practices to safeguard the interests of its shareholders
and enhance the shareholder value.

COMPANY’S CULTURE

Operate in accordance with laws and regulations, seek the best
return on investment for shareholders, and strive for the sustainable
development of the Company.

The Board believes that corporate culture underpins the long-term
business, economic success and sustainable growth of the Group. A
strong culture enables the Company to deliver long-term sustainable
performance and fulfil its role as a responsible corporate citizen.

The Board sets and promotes corporate culture and expects and
requires all employees to reinforce and satisfied itself that the
Group’s culture is aligued. All of our new employees are required
to attend orientation and training programs so that they may better
understand our corporate culture, structure and policies, learn
relevant laws and regulations, and raise their quality awareness. In
addition, from time to time, the Company will invite external experts
to provide training to our management personnel to improve their
relevant knowledge and management skills.

The Board considers that the corporate culture and the purpose,
values and strategy of the Group are aligned.
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CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
During the year ended 31 December 2022, to the best knowledge
of the Board, the Company has complied with the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix
15 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Code Provision(s)”), save for the
deviation from the Code Provision C.2.1 as explained below.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions carried out by Directors, that is not laxer than relevant
standards of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, they
confirmed they have complied with the standards of dealings and
the code of conduct regarding securities transactions carried out by
Directors, adopted by the Company throughout the year ended 31
December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(a) Board Composition
The Board currently consists of 5 Directors including 2
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Wendong and Mr. Fung
Chi Kin; and 3 independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Zhou Tianshu, Ms. Wu Liyan and Ms. Wong Susan Chui
San.

The biographical details of all Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out on pages 22 to 28 of this annual
report. To the best knowledge of the Company, save as
disclosed under the section “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management”, there is no financial, business, family
or other material or relevant relationships among members of
the Board.
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(b)

(c)

(d)
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CoRPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Function of the Board

The Board considers, oversees and approves the overall
businesses, strategic direction and financial performance of
the Group; develops and performs the corporate governance
duties under Code Provision A.2.1 of the Group; monitors the
implementation of these policies and strategies and responsible
for the management of the Group. The Board is the ultimate
decision-making body of the Company except for matters
requiring shareholder approval pursuant to the Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Articles”), the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

Daily operation of the Company is delegated to the
management team with substantial experience and expertise to
which the Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing the policies and strategies of the Group.

Board Meetings

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
means of electronic communication in accordance with the
Articles.

The Board schedules 4 meetings a year at approximately
quarterly intervals and will meet as necessary. The Company
Secretary prepares minutes to record matters discussed and
decisions resolved at the Board meetings. Minutes are kept by
the Company Secretary with copies circulated to all Directors
for information and records.

The Board held 4 meetings during the year ended 31
December 2022. The Directors’ attendance to the Board
meetings is listed out on page 41.

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors
Under the Code Provision B.2.2, every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Each
of the independent non-executive Directors have entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of one year
commencing from date of appointment or re-appointment
subject to termination, among others, by giving not less than
one month’s written notice.
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Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing
from date of appointment or re-appointment to termination
in certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant service
contract.

By virtue of article 68 of the Articles, the Board may, at any
time, and from time to time, appoint any person to be a
Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or by way of addition
to their number so long as the number of Directors does not
exceed the maximum number determined from time to time (if
any) by the shareholders in any general meeting. Any Director
so appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
first general meeting of members after the appointment and
be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office
only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company, and shall then be eligible for reappointment, but
shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at each
annual general meeting.

In compliance with the Code Provision B.2.2, every director,
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. Further, pursuant to article 69 of the Articles, at
each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for
the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of
three, then the number of Directors nearest to but not greater
than one third of the total number of Directors (or such other
number as may be required under applicable legislation),
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.
The Directors to retire in every year shall be those who have
been longest in office since their last election but as between
persons who become Directors on the same day, the Directors
to retire shall be (unless otherwise agreed amongst themselves)
in order by which such Directors were appointed on the day of
their last election.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has 3 independent non-executive Directors
which complies with Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.
Among the 3 independent non-executive Directors, Ms. Wong
Susan Chui San has appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise
as required by Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules. The
independent non-executive Directors represent at least one-
third of the Board in compliance with Rule 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a written confirmation or an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers
the independent non-executive Directors are or have been
remained independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separated. Currently,
Mr. Wang Wendong holds both positions. Since Mr. Wang
Wendong joined the Company in May 2018, he has held the
key leadership position of the Group and has been involved
in the formulation of corporate strategies and management of
business and operations of the Group gradually. Taking into
account the consistent leadership within the Group and in
order to enable more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning and continuation of the implementation of such plans,
the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
consider that Mr. Wang Wendong is the best candidate for
both positions and the present arrangements are beneficial
and in the interests of the Group and the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.
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(g) Directors’ Participation in Continuous Professional

Trainings

According to Code Provision C.1.4, all directors shall
participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Each
newly appointed Director would receive a comprehensive
induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that
he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the
GEM Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
arranged and/or introduced some training courses/relevant
reading materials for the Directors to develop and explore their
knowledge and skills in relation to the updates on laws, rules
and regulations which might be relevant to their roles.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with Code
Provision C.1.4 on the directors’ training. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, all Directors who were in office
as at 31 December 2022 have participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars or reading
materials to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

(9)
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EXERRS

Attending training
courses/reading
relevant materials

in relation to

the business,

GEM Listing Rules or
directors’ duties

HEBMRER-
GEM_LH#i A5
EEREZIZIERE
Name of Director ERER EEREE
Executive Directors: BiTES
Mr. Wang Wendong EFXELE Yes2
Mr. Fung Chi Kin BERLE Yes2
Independent Non-Executive Directors: BIEMITES :
Mr. Zhou Tianshu BXREfE Yesi2
Ms. Wu Liyan RSBt Yes2
Ms. Wong Susan Chui San mERMz L Yesi2
Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance and (hy EZFRHEEEREREE

Indemnity

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance
and indemnity covering the liabilities in respect of the legal
action against the Directors that may arise out in the corporate
activities which has been complied with the Code Provisions.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy, setting
out the approach to achieve diversity within the Board. The
Company considered diversity of Board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, culture and education
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. With a view to achieving a sustainable and
balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
appropriate criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) is responsible for reviewing the board diversity
policy and monitor the progress on achieving the objectives
set for implementing the said policy from time to time. The
Nomination Committee shall review this policy and the
measurable objectives at least annually, and as appropriate, to
ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board.

The Board currently comprises of 5 Directors, of which 2 are
executive Directors and 3 are independent non-executive
Directors. Among which, 2 Directors are female and 3 Directors
are male and 1 in the age group of 30-40; 2 in the age group
of 41-50; 2 in the age group of over 51. With reference to
the qualifications and working experience of the Directors,
the Board is of the view that the Board has an appropriate
mix of skills, experience and diversity that are relevant to the
Company’s strategy, governance and business.

The Board targets to maintain at least the current level of
female representation, with the ultimate goal of achieving
gender parity.

Workforce diversity

The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management) for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
50:50. The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced
and the Group will continue to maintain the gender diversity
in workforce. For further details of gender ratio and initiatives
taken to improve gender diversity together with the relevant
data, please refer to the disclosure in the ESG report.
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Nomination Policy and Process for Nominating Directors
The Nomination Committee and the Board have followed
the nomination policy and board diversity policy of the
Company for the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.
In reviewing the structure of the Board, the Nomination
Committee and the Board will consider the Board diversity
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, culture and education background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. With a
view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development,
the Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against appropriate criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

(a)

BIRIERBRAAF |

Audit Committee

The Company established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 22 July 2014 with written terms of reference
that was amended and adopted with effect from 2 January
2019 in compliance with the Code Provision D.3.3. The duties
of the Audit Committee include reviewing, in draft form, the
Company’s annual report and accounts, half-yearly report
and quarterly report and providing advice and comments to
the Board. In this regard, members of the Audit Committee
will liaise with the Board, the Company’s senior management
and the auditors. The Audit Committee will also consider any
significant or usual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in such reports and accounts and give consideration to any
matters that have been raised by the Company’s accounting
staff, compliance officers or auditors. Members of the Audit
Committee are also responsible for reviewing the Company’s
financial reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems.
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(b)

The Audit Committee currently comprises 3 independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou Tianshu, Ms. Wu Liyan
and Ms. Wong Susan Chui San and Mr. Zhou Tianshu is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit
Committee held 4 meetings, at which it has reviewed the
annual, interim and quarterly results, evaluated the Group’s
financial reporting process and made recommendations to
improve the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems, discussed with the external auditors the nature
and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the
audit commences, and made recommendation to the Board
on re-appointment and change of the external auditors. The
members’ attendance to the Audit Committee meetings is
listed out on page 41.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022
which were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited,
whose term of office will expire upon the coming annual general
meeting. The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board
that HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will be re-appointed
as the auditors of the Company at the coming annual general
meeting. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board
did not take different view from the Audit Committee on the
appointment of external auditors.

Executive Committee

The Company established the executive committee (the
“Executive Committee”) on 19 December 2016 with written
terms of reference. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for monitoring the formulation, revision and
implementation of the Company’s strategic plan and monitor
the operation of its subsidiaries.

The Executive Committee currently comprises 2 executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wang Wendong, Mr. Fung Chi Kin
and 1 independent non-executive Director, namely Mr. Zhou
Tianshu. Mr. Wang Wendong is the chairman of the Executive
Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no meeting was
held by the Executive Committee.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 22 July 2014 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision E.1.2.
Amongst other things, the primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on
remuneration packages of all of the executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment, and
make recommendations to the Board on remuneration of
independent non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises 3
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou
Tianshu, Ms. Wu Liyan and Ms. Wong Susan Chui San and 1
executive Director, Mr. Wang Wendong. Ms. Wu Liyan is the
chairlady of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting, at which it has reviewed the
remuneration of each Director and made recommendations
to the Board. The members’ attendance to the Remuneration
Committee meetings is listed out on page 41.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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EXE

(d)

A S

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5, the remuneration of the
senior management (excluding the Directors) by band for the

RETABYEEAISE BE_SZ
—E+ZRA=t—HIEEERHEEE

year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below: IHEHREERE (FEEES) HNE
NS

Number of Individuals
Emolument bands B & &6 E A
Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 7t AT 4
Nomination Committee d) REESE
The Company established the Nomination Committee on 22 KABIRNZE—NMELtAZ+ZHMK
July 2014 with written terms of reference that was strictly IURBHREZES WEEBETNRATS

adhered to and adopted in compliance with Code Provision
B.3.1. The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible
for making recommendations to the Board on appointment
and succession planning of the Directors. The procedures
for Nomination of Directors include the measures taken by
the Nomination Committee that it considers appropriate in
connection with its identification and evaluation of a candidate
after it determines that an additional or replacement director
is required. Upon considering a candidate suitable for the
position of director, the Nomination Committee will hold a
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to approve the
recommendation to the Board and may submit the candidate’s
personal profile to the Board for consideration. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, by considering of a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, culture and
education background, professional experience, professional
skills, knowledge and length of service of each Director, the
Company forms a diversified structure of the Board and
embraces the diversified composition of the Board will be
beneficial to meet the development needs of the Company. The
Nomination Committee has reviewed the board diversity policy
to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group
achieved the objectives of its board diversity policy for the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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The Nomination Committee currently comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhou
Tianshu and Ms. Wu Liyan and one executive Director, Mr.
Wang Wendong. Mr. Wang Wendong is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting, at which it has reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board, and made
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. The members’
attendance to the Nomination Committee meetings is listed out
on page 41.

Attendance at Board Meetings, Board Committee
Meetings and General Meetings

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the Board
meetings, Board committee meetings and general meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are as follows:

(e)
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Number of Meetings Attended/Held During the Year Ended 31 December 2022
BE_S__F+BA=+-HLEENRE STHEERY

Audit Remuneration Nomination Executive Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
ERZEY FMZzEE RRZRE BiTZEE RRBE
EEy EZEEE 2k ik i EE AE
Executive Directors
BiTES
Mr. Wang Wendong 4/4 N/AT B 1/1 1/1 N/ATRE 1/1
Ix®EEE
Mr. Fung Chi Kin 4/4 N/AT B N/ATEF N/ATREH N/ATRE 1/1
BEREE
Independent
Non-Executive Directors
BUENTES
Mr. Zhou Tianshu 4/4 4/4 1/1 11 N/ARE 11
BXREEE
Ms. Wu Liyan 4/4 4/4 1/1 11 N/ATE R 11
SEHuL
Ms. Wong Susan Chui San 4/4 4/4 1/1 N/AT B N/ATE R 11
EE Sk,
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the fees paid/payable to the
Company’s external auditors in respect of the audit services were as
follows:

4% 24 B i B
BE_Z__F+-_RB=1+—HLEFE
BERRBEN /BN RABIIEREANE
BT

Type of services HK$
RFsEA R BT
Audit services BIZR 600,000

No non-audit service was provided by external auditors for the year
ended 31 December 2022. There was no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee on the selection and appointment of
the external auditors during the year ended 31 December 2022.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the
results and cash flows during the year ended 31 December 2022.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements during the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Directors have selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimated that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared
the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding its reporting duties on the
consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 97 to 105 of this annual
report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems. The
Audit Committee assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities
for maintaining an effectiveness of the systems of internal control
and risk management of the Group, covering all material controls,
including financial and operation. The risk management and internal
control systems of the Group are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failures to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Group would choose certain material risk events in its field
every year and assess and grade the possibility of occurrence and
influence of risk events to determine the scope of material risk of
the year together with the management of the Group. Procedures
have been designed to facilitate the effectiveness and efficiencies
of operations, safeguard assets against unauthorized use and
disposition, ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records
and the truth and fairness of the financial statements, and ensuring
compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations. Qualified
management throughout the Group maintains and monitors the
internal control systems on an ongoing basis.

During the process of risk assessment, each risk owner is
required to capture and identify the key inherent risks that affect
the achievement of its objectives. Each inherent risk is evaluated
according to the risk matrix. After taking into consideration the risk
response, such as control measures in place to mitigate the risk, the
residual risk of each inherent risk is evaluated again. The risk register
with the risk responses and residual risks is reported to the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee, evaluates the effectiveness of the
systems and report to the Board. The highest category of residual
risks is subject to the Board'’s oversight.
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The Group does not have an internal audit function and is currently
of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal
audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and
complexity of the Group’s business. Each year, the Board engaged
an independent consultant company to conduct internal audit
function in order to review the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Board is of the
view that the systems of risk management and internal control
adopted for the year ended 31 December 2022 were assessed to
be satisfactory and were functioning properly, to a large extent,
in safeguarding the assets employed by the Group. The Board
and the Audit Committee have both reviewed the systems of risk
management and internal control on an annual basis.

The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control review report
issued by the independent consultancy company on the Company’s
risk management and internal control systems in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2022 and considered that they are effective and
adequate. The Board assessed the effectiveness of internal control
systems by considering the internal control review report and reviews
performed by the Audit Committee and concurred the same. It also
considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience of
relevant staff were adequate and the training programs and budget
provided were sufficient.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR

THE HANDING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Board has already implemented restriction on disseminating
non-public information, handling of rumours, unintentional selective
disclosure, exemption and waiver to the disclosure of inside
information, and also compliance and reporting procedures.
Senior management must take all reasonable measures to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent any breach of disclosure
requirement from time to time. Employees are required to promptly
bring any possible leakage or divulgence of inside information to the
attention of the Chief Executive Officer, or his delegates, who will
notify the Board timely and accordingly for taking the appropriate
action promptly. For any material violation of this policy, the Board
will decide, or designate appropriate persons to decide the course
of actions and strategies for rectifying the problem and avoiding
recurrence.
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Board Independence

The Company recognizes that Board independence is key
to good corporate governance. The Company has in place
effective mechanisms that underpin an independent Board and
that independent views. The current composition of the Board,
comprising more than one third of the of the independent non-
executive Directors and the members of the Audit Committee
are all independent non-executive Directors. The Remuneration
Committee and Audit Committee are chaired by independent non-
executive Directors. The remuneration of independent non-executive
Directors are subject to a regular review to maintain competitiveness
and commensurate with their responsibilities and workload. The
independence of each independent non-executive Director is
assessed upon his/her appointment and annually.

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests,
if any, in proposals or transactions to be considered by the Board
at the Board meetings and abstain from voting, where appropriate.
External independent professional advice is available to all
Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, whenever
deemed necessary. The independent non-executive Directors have
consistently demonstrated strong commitment and the ability to
devote sufficient time to discharge their responsibilities at the Board.

The Company has also established channels through formal and
informal means whereby independent non-executive Directors can
express their views in an open manner, and in a confidential manner,
should circumstances requires.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed, externally, Mr. Chiu Ming King (“Mr.
Chiu”) as the Company Secretary. His biographical details are set
out in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. During the year ended 31
December 2022, Mr. Chiu has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules. Mr. Chiu’s primary contact with
the Company is Mr. Wang Wendong, the executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board.
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CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
The Company has not made any significant changes to its
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than 5% of the total voting rights of all the members having a
right to vote at general meetings of the Company and shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board, to require an
extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”) to be convened by the Board.
Such requisition, signed by the shareholders concerned, must state
the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may include a text of resolution that is intended to be moved
at the meeting. If within 21 days from the date of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to such meeting the shareholders concerned
may themselves convened an EGM, but any EGM so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months after the date
on which the Directors become subject to the requirement to call a
meeting.

If a shareholder (other than the candidate) wishes to propose any
candidate as director of the Company, the following documents
should be duly lodged at the head office of the Company at Unit
401, 4/F., Fairmont House, 8 Cotton Tree Drive, Admiralty, Hong
Kong, not earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the
general meeting and not later than seven days prior to the date fixed
for the meeting:

(@) a written notice by the shareholder of his intention to propose
a resolution for the appointment or reappointment of that
candidate, duly signed by the shareholder with his/her name
and address stated clearly in an eligible manner, the validity
of which is subject to verification and confirmation by the
Company’ s share registrar according to its records;

(b) a written notice duly executed by the candidate of his
willingness to be appointed or re-appointed;

(c) written consent of the publication of the candidate’ s
information together with the candidate’s biographical
information as required by Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules; and

(d) the candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has adopted Shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Policy”), which set out means of communication by Shareholders
and the investment community. The Company will publish the
information (for example announcements, circulars and notices of
general meetings and other documents) on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. Shareholders are encouraged
to participate in general meetings (including annual general
meetings) and to attend Shareholders’ activities organized by the
Company, where information about the Company, including its latest
strategic plan, products and services, etc. will be communicated.
The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings.

The Board considered the Policy is effective during the Current Year,
having considered the communication channels in place provided
Shareholders and investment community with information about
the latest development of the Group in a timely manner, and the
Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, investors and other stakeholders
to allow the Company to receive feedback effectively.

The Company recognizes the importance of maintaining an on-
going communication with shareholders to ensure that shareholders
are kept well informed of the business activities and direction of the
Group.

The Company uses a range of communication tools including various
notices, announcements, circulars, annual report and annual general
meeting to disclose relevant information to shareholders. Separate
resolutions are proposed at general meeting on each substantially
separate issue, including the re-election of Directors. The Chairman
and the chairmen of all board committees, together with the external
auditors, shall attend the annual general meeting to answer the
enquiries of shareholders.

To further promote the effective communication with shareholders

and the public, the corporate website is maintained to disseminate
the information of the Group electronically on a timely basis.
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POLICY ON PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS

The Company currently does not have a fixed dividend policy and
may declare dividends by way of cash or by other means that the
Directors consider appropriate. A decision to declare any interim
dividend or recommend any final dividend would require the approval
of the Board and depend upon the following factors:

(@) the Group’s financial results;
(b)  the shareholders’ interests;

(c) general business conditions, strategies and future expansion
needs;

(d) the Group’s capital requirements;

(e) the payment by its subsidiaries of cash dividends to the
Company;

(f)  possible effects on liquidity and financial position of the Group;
and

(9) other factors as the Board may consider relevant.

VOTING BY POLL

All resolutions put to the general meeting will be voted by poll at the
meeting in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules.

To ensure that shareholders are familiar with the detailed procedures
for conducting a poll, the chairman of the meeting will explain the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll at the commencement
of the meeting and then answer any questions from shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll.

At the conclusion of the general meeting, the poll results will be
published on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries from shareholders to the Board can be sent in writing to
the Company at the registered office in Hong Kong or by email to
info@locohkholdings.com as stated on the Company’s website.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD STATEMENT

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company” together with its
subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as the “Group” or “we” or “us”)
is pleased to present the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the year end 31 December 2022. The Group puts the
sustainable development of its business as the top priority of its
long-term development goals, and incorporate climate-related issues
and environmental, social and governance elements into its long-
term business strategic planning. As the most important leading
role of the Group, the board of directors (“Directors”) of the Group
(“Board of Directors”) has the sole responsibility to oversee,
directly manage and monitor the Group’s environmental, social and
governance issues and progress directly.

The Group has set clear short-term and long-term sustainable
development vision and goals to progressively achieve ongoing
emission reduction according to governmental requirements
of different countries and regions. Relevant emission reduction
targets and corresponding strategies are established, and
sustainable development factors have been incorporated into
the Group’s strategic planning, business model and other
decision-making processes. The Board regularly monitors and
reviews the effectiveness of management approach, including
reviewing the Group’s environmental, social and governance
performance and adjusting corresponding action plans. Effective
implementation of environmental, social and governance policies
relies on the collaboration of different departments. Following
the recommendations given by the Stock Exchange, in order to
endeavour to achieve the objective of sustainability development, the
Group has established an inter-departmental environmental, social
and governance working group to coordinate different departments
and enhance their mutual co-operation, for ensuring consistent
work performance which could be aligned with the stakeholders’
expectations.

The Group strives to ensure the establishment of appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems for
supervision of the identification and assessment of environmental,
social and governance and climate-related risks and opportunities,
and to response to the challenges and impacts of different times.

Looking ahead, the Board will continue to review and monitor the
environmental, social and corporate governance performance of the
Group and provide material, reliable, consistent and comparable
environmental, social and corporate governance information
to its stakeholders for making contributions to create a better
environment.

Wang Wendong
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is pleased to present 2022 Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”), which enables stakeholders
to know more about the Group’s progress and direction in
sustainability aspects by reporting on its policies, measures and
performance in various sustainability issues. The ESG Report is
prepared and published in both Chinese and English at the Stock
Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s
website (www.locohkholdings.com). In the event of contradiction or
inconsistency between the Chinese version and the English version,
the Chinese version shall prevail.

Reporting Period

The Report illustrates the overall performance of the Group regarding
the environmental and social aspects from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2022 (the “reporting period”).

Reporting Scope

The Group is principally engaged in trading of metal and metal
supply chain business in Hong Kong and the mainland of People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC Mainland”) accompanied with trading
of commodity forward contracts for hedging purpose. Besides, the
Group is also engaged in the provision of education management
services in the PRC Mainland and money lending services in
Hong Kong. The Report covers relevant laws and regulations of
the Group’s important core businesses in the PRC Mainland and
Hong Kong. The relevant environmental key performance indicators
(“KPI(s)”) mainly cover the operations units including offices and
metal processing facilities in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong. All
the Group’s business operated within the reporting period have been
covered by the scope of this report.

The Group’s awareness on greenhouse gas emissions and climate
change is ever increasing, we focus on improving our data collection
system and expanding our disclosure scope. The reporting scope
of the reporting period has expanded to cover the metal trading
business in the PRC Mainland. To enable comparison of the Group’s
yearly performance and progress in sustainability, the reporting
methodologies of the two consecutive reports are aligned. If the
scope and boundaries of the specific contents vary, they are noted in
the relevant section of the Report.
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Reporting Standards

The Report is prepared in accordance with all applicable provisions
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) under Appendix 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”), the provision of “comply or explain”, and on the basis
of the four reporting principles — materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency.

Review and Approval

The Board of Directors of the Company confirms that they have the
responsibility to ensure the integrity of this Report, and to their best
knowledge, the Report expounds all relevant important issues and
fairly presents the ESG performance of the Group. This Report was
reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2023.

Information and Feedbacks

Stakeholder opinions matter as they facilitate the Group to map out
important Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) issues and
give the Group inspiration on how to improve its ESG performance. If
you have any comments about the Report, please contact the Group
via the following channels:

Mail: Unit 401, 4/F Fairmont House,
8 Cotton Tree Drive, Admiralty, Hong Kong
Email: info@locohkholdings.com
Phone: 2203 0999
Fax: 2205 0099
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
STRUCTURE

The Group is committed to integrating ESG factors into its
operations, creating sustainable value for stakeholders and fulfilling
its responsibilities as a corporate citizen.

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the Group’s
sustainable development strategy and clear emission reduction
targets, assessing the actual and potential ESG and climate-related
risks and opportunities that affect the Group’s operations, and
ensuring that the Group has established appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control system. The management
reviews these risks and the effectiveness of the internal control
system and confirms to the Board of Directors.

The Group has established an Environmental, Social and
Governance Working Group (the “Working Group”). The working
group is composed of core members from different departments
of the Group and directly reports to the Board of Directors. It is
responsible for reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of the
sustainability structure and managing ESG issues and performance
material to the Group. The environmental and social KPIs and the
progress of achieving emission reduction targets are monitored
by the Working Group, the members are also responsible for
communicating and collaborating with external consultants to
compile annual ESG report. The Working Group meets at least
once every half year, and reports to the Board of Directors on the
implementation of ESG measures and performance of the business
units.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group is committed to operating in a socially responsible and
transparent manner with regards to all stakeholders. |dentified
stakeholders include employees, customers, shareholders, suppliers,
regulatory authorities and the general community. To maintain and
develop good corporate citizenship, we aim to engage fully and
openly with all stakeholders through a diverse array of effective
communication channels.

Employees ° Annual performance appraisal system
(== SHEZEEKS
° Training, seminars and briefing sessions
Hil BERERE

° Staff communication

BRI LG REBHRS

BirEsH
rEBAREFNENHEEE USEHR
WEREE-BHINFNERLREEE T
P-RE-HEB EERBREERR B
MR RTERFEEARNKRE  HMANE
REBBEZEMNBEERE EFAERD
EHR e RIS EERTR -

BITRMR
Customers ° Client relationship contacts
=R RER P RG2S
° Company website
NGIE S
° Customer service hotline
B RIRFBALR
Shareholders ° Annual General Meeting and other general meetings
f& =8 RRBFEAGRAMKREARE
° Investor and press conferences and briefings

REERTHEMRS BRE
° Company website
NEIRES

o Corporate communications including announcements, press releases, circulars, interim and

annual reports

TEBN OEAS HMERB BR THBRERFERS

Suppliers ° Regular supplier communications and reviews
e 7E HA B9 11 F& 7 22 7 K i 5
Regulators ° Regular meetings and communications
BEEKE EHEZMIR
° On-site review
RIZEE
o Compliance reports
BRERE

o Training, focus groups and other events
B~ NAR R B R B R ELAMUE B

Community ° Sponsorships and donations
Fan BBy RImm

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

EEMFL

The Group identifies issues for disclosure required in the Report ZAEBEFEBETAIBRINBEE ML UL
through internal and external materiality assessment. By considering EBEXRREEEIRBENZE - BBEETFTH
the dependence and influence on the Group of the stakeholders E¥REBMNKBUERSEE N URKEER
and the availability of the resources for the Group, the management HEE > BEEEBHD TRHBSHETLHHE
has identified key stakeholders and conducted a survey with them. {TRIEHEE -t AE B ESEHAR N &
They have expressed their opinions and recommendations on the MEBRH TERMEZ-

sustainability issues related to the Group’s operation.

Consolidating the results of internal assessment and the survey, the #H& 7T AEBRNHENTEEAEEAETER

Group has complied the Materiality List (refer to the table below). B AERBHEERIKR (BETH) -
Importance Issues
EEM EE

Highly important

SEEE

Moderately important
FEEE

Anti-corruption training for management and employees
FEENBINREE

Business ethics

EEFEE

Child labour and forced labour

75 L {2 FA & T 058 25

Customer satisfaction

BEEmREE

Development and training of staff
BT REEE

Diversity and equal opportunities
BIZnthTFERS

Employment practices

(=

Occupational health and safety of staff
BETINBERREZS

Quality of services and products
IRBRERER

Safety of services and products

REREREE

Anti-discrimination

IR

Compliance with regulations on marketing, product and service labelling
BIMIBHEERERMRBIESENER

Customers’ privacy and confidentiality

BEEMRERERMRE

Environmental compliance

BFIRE AR

Intellectual property

R 58 E
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Importance Issues

BEEM ]

Generally important Air Emissions

—WEE KRS R BEM
Climate change
IR

Communication and connection with local community
B2 11 & B9 32 7 A B 52

Contributions to the society

A =7y

Effluents management

BB

Energy efficiency

AEIR R

Environmental friendliness on products or service purchased
PREE E sl R BVIRIE R 414

Greenhouse gas Emissions

mE RSN

Land use, pollution and restoration

T B R N S R AIRIE

Responsible supply chain management
BEENHEEEE

Use of raw materials and packaging materials
R R B AR W e 52 FR

Waste management

BEEYER

Water efficiency

K @
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Environmental Management Policy

Hong Kong has a very stringent control regime on matters which
are covered by the ESG report and especially on pollution and water
discharge. The Group, in order to develop a sustainable business
and striving for a higher level of product quality and business
return, undertakes environmental protection in a very serious and
responsible manner. The Group is determined and committed to
developing a sustainable business and have taken initiatives to
secure a sustainable and environmentally friendly production and
operating processes by taking all practicable and possible measures
to comply with the relevant applicable statutory provisions. Abiding
by the law and complying with regulatory standards are the guiding
principle of the Group.

The Group is principally engaged in the trading of metals and metal
supply chain business in Hong Kong and the PRC Mainland. Our
metal processing facility in Kwai Chung houses the fully integrated
metal melting plant. Silver scrap is purchased as raw material
for processing into finished silver products in our scrap metal
processing facility. Its operation enhances the marketability and
facilitates the trading of our silver products. In the effect of global
COVID-19 pandemic and economic situation worldwide, although
the basic operation of facility continued in the reporting period,
no production or processing work was carried out in the reporting
period. Emissions and consumption of energy remained at a low
level.

In addition, the Group advocates energy saving and carbon
reduction, and is committed to achieving sustainable operations.
To this end, we have set clear emission reduction targets, aiming
to reduce all our emissions (including air pollutants, greenhouse
gas, hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, and sewage), energy
consumption (including electricity), and consumption of resources
(including water and paper) by 3% in terms of intensity (per million
Hong Kong dollars revenue), compared to corresponding emissions
and consumptions of the base year of 2021, before 2030. The
target value will be reviewed and updated by the Board of Directors
every year to comply with the latest government policies and plans
for energy conservation and emission reduction. Moreover, we are
investing more resources in recycling to help the development of
circular economy.

The Group’s education management services and metal trading
business in the PRC Mainland and general business operations and
activities in Hong Kong are mainly ordinary office operations. Indirect
greenhouse gas emissions, through the use of electricity, can be
considered as our major emissions. Electricity consumption has cost
implications and is closely monitored.

IRIGREME

IRIREIEH R

EARAHRE HEREARSTEENFTEE
FEBRBOEFFIE  LEHHESRY REKX
- BB RAIFEEFRFINEBKTH
EREEREBRKR AEBUBHERS
BENARETRBERE - AEBRELRS
RERVDFHEFEY WEEBEBRINFFA
BRI ITRAIRERERE IR R ERIRRE
EREEBRE LBTHBEBREERX
BT IRREBETEERERTEENEER
Rl

FEMFEREERTERAMEESEES
ReBHEEER RN EEBMIR
HEEEEGETBBLEEE RMAKRES
IREER BENRESBBACHmENT A ER
BRmBEME - HEER e EHEME REER
IREME S - TR I1E R AMCOVID-193
BEBRERFE HEHREERSHANEE
EBHREEE BREHRREEEIM IR
MEAE 1F » B2 B8 BE TR M AE Re HE U 8 IR M K

7 o

tE5h > A S B R B BT RE BB » BN EBUKE
e BILHMETERBABIER U=
T FEREEE BHE_S=TFHE
IFBEHIRY) (BREERSEY EERE
BEREZTEREY BN BERER (B
B RERERE (BERKKBHK - US
BEBTBWASEZEZESR BN Z=
IR RRERESFHEFTTERBTIL T U
BT LAY & U RO BY BT AE TR FF R e R
Blo B HATERERRBIKSTERAE
ZER REBREENER-

AEBURPEAMBIEE EERS B
BREBREBN —REGBEERTHETE
REBRPAEEF BEEEREHK &
BEAEN) IREARSRMANEIEZHB-B
DHEAERARZE TRIETEE-
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The Group also stays abreast on any technological advancement
which can be used for reducing emissions.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations with significant
impact on the Group

Most of the Group’s business activities are of a general office nature,
which do not generate air emission which has a significant impact
or materiality to the environment as far as the Group is concerned,
with the exception of the scrap metal processing facility. Silver scrap
is melted in our scrap metal processing facility and processed into
various sizes, shapes and forms as specified by our customers. In
this process, water is used for cooling after which is then discharged
as wastewater.

The Group’s processing facilities and major business operations
are strictly in compliance with relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC Mainland and Hong Kong, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC ((FREIBIE(REE)),
the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric
Pollution ((RBIKGISHFH/AED), the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Environment Pollution by Solid Waste
(R EE RS Y S RIRIERA A E)), the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution ({FE7K5ZHEE)),
Hong Kong’s Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311), Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354), Water Pollution Control Ordinance
(Cap. 358), Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400) and other laws and
regulations. We carry out treatments on exhaust gas, wastewater
and solid waste to ensure compliance with discharge standards.

The operations and activities of the scrap metal processing facilities
are subject to the statutory control regime of pollution control.
The Group has obtained all the required statutory registrations
and licenses required of the precious metal processing facility: (i)
Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354) — Waste Disposal (Chemical
Waste) (General) Regulation and (ii) Registration as a Chemical
Waste Producer under Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General)
Regulation and (i) Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358) —
Victoria Harbour (Phase One) Water Control Zone.

In order to obtain relevant registrations or licenses, the Group must
ensure its chemical wastes (e.g. residual acidic solution, if any) has
been proper treated before final disposal. This process is under the
supervision and monitoring of third-party companies registered with
government and subject to the inspection of the law enforcers.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK

BRI LG REBHRS

It [B) B > A &2 [ 7 Ak B2 R A {R) BT AR UL
PRI BT 8 f o

BETHAEREERRENEMZERRZEZR
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The Group adopts all appropriate measures to ensure that the
quantity, quality and composition of any discharge from our metal
processing facility shall not exceed the limits stipulated by the
Environmental Protection Department of the Government. The
Group strictly complies with all stipulations of the laws, regulations
and policies on disposal. Besides non-toxic cooling water, other
wastes produced which are of a general office nature are properly
disposed of by licensed waste collector after undergoing the
required treatment. Our metal processing facility is subject to the
unannounced visits and inspection of the government authority.

In the reporting period, the Group did not seriously violate the laws
and regulation with regards to any air emissions, greenhouse gas
emissions, wastewater discharge, and production of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste in all material aspects. No related fine,
complaint or warning have been received.

Emissions

The Types of Emission and Emission Data

General business operations and activities of the Group involved
general office operations and metal processing in the plant.

Air emissions in the reporting period majorly came from the exhaust
of group-owned vehicles used in daily transport service, except that
we do not generate complicate emission which is considered of
significant impact or materiality to the environment, our operations
or the control regime. The emission data' of air emissions in the
reporting period were as follows:

FEBRN—)BEERERUERSEMNT
RIEHERFRYNEE - EEREDTE
BREBNIREREZSTANRE  AEE R
BRETEREERNEZR ERABERNMA
MEFRES AN FREEEME—MRK
WMAMENERNETRENEERBITE
BYREFOZERE -RANEEM IR
FEAER BN BB RIRE -

BERHRN AEBRREEATBLERE
BREARBEHN RE R - BRI
UREEBEERESEEMARBERKR
BleTRRBWEMEMAERNER RFRNE

==
= °

HEm

ERFBEER KIS
FER-REFEERTHIZHEBMA
EERRISGNEBMIRERE

BEHARNERFBIDETEREELAEES
WEE BB BRI —RIZEE BRI B
S BHALAEEERIRHIRE - EER
ERFEREATENEMBER -REH
W AEBERFFDEE T

Air Emissions? Unit 2022 2021
ZERBER? B (i —E-C B4
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) kg 0.831 1.051
8164 (NOx) T
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) kg 0.033 0.067
W E¥ (SOx) T
Particulate Matter (PM ) kg 0.077 0.096
g (PM) T

! Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.

2 The figures covered the emissions from Group-owned vehicles in the PRC
Mainland and Hong Kong. The calculation method of the corresponding air
emission assessment figures and the emission factors used in the calculation
are based on “How to Prepare an ESG Reports” and its annex “Appendix 2:
Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange,
“Technical Guidelines for Compiling the Air Pollutant Inventory of Road
Mobile Vehicles (Trial)” (‘BB E KRR SR YIRS BB EKMIERE (R
17)”), “National Standards of the People’s Republic of China—LPG” and the
air pollutant emission factors published by the United States Environmental
Protection Agency.

! FEEN OB IARRKE Bt RO /AT
FHYEEREBA -

2 YEREEENPEAMREBNZHAE@MAT
EENHR-EENEREBRYTHEFTHAE
7375 B A IS St E B R IR F 1R 48 5k 32 P 3 4 2 <D
ARETE REREARSE) REWMAFMER
RIEFSENIERERIES)  (BREBEARER
SRMBERBERRRMER G ) (hEA
REMBERAREE — BRLABR)  UKREEEH
FKIRIRRERRAMH RS AMPERRFHEE
FHe
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Compare with the previous year, all figures of air emissions in the
reporting period decreased, aligned with the current emission
reduction target.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Data

The Group’s direct greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) were mainly
from petrol and Liquefied Petroleum Gas (‘LPG”) consumed by
vehicles. Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) were mainly
from electricity consumed in the Group. Due to the business nature
of the Group, the greenhouse gas emissions were mainly from Scope
2 emissions.

In the reporting period, the Group’s total greenhouse gas emissions
and intensity are listed as below:

BRI LG REBHRS

HBIEFELBR REFASBEERFBIH
BEHAERLD FERFRFER

i E AR B

FEENERREREN @E—) TE2E
FEEREAUERREAHER (TRIER
MR BEAEREINR (8B £2XK
BRAEENENHE - ENTEENES
ME AEENAEREFRRZSKRENE

-
BE_o

SRR P Pt e Tt
BERTH:

Greenhouse Gas Emissions*  Unit 2022 2021
i 2 A Bk B {iI —E=-= —T_—F
Scope 1° tonnes CO2-equivalent 8.19 13.55
#[E—° AW _EERE S
Scope 2° tonnes CO2-equivalent 17.88 16.92
E[E O RP_FEREE
Total Greenhouse Gas Emission tonnes CO:z-equivalent 26.07 30.47
RERBEHIK RB_EERES
Greenhouse Gas Emission tonnes COz2-equivalent/million HKD 0.54 2.19

revenue’

AW R ERESE BEBITRAT

Intensity
BERBHREE

8 Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.

The figures covered the direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions from the

Group’s offices and processing facilities in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong.

The calculation method of the corresponding greenhouse gas emission figures

and the emission factors used in the calculation are based on “How to Prepare an

ESG Reports” and its annex “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental

KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, “General Guideline of the Greenhouse Gas

Emissions Accounting and Reporting for Industrial Enterprises” ((T %8

ERBHZEEFEEAD), and the “Emission Factors of China’s Regional

Power Grid Baseline for Emission Reduction Projects” (R #EIE B HE & 5 B 48

EEGHRAT)).

5 Scope 1: The direct emission from the business operations owned or controlled
by the Group, including stationary combustion sources and mobile combustion
sources, as well as fugitive emissions.

6 Scope 2: The “indirect energy” emissions caused by the internal consumption of
purchased electricity within the Group.

7 The total revenue of the Group in 2021 and 2022 were 13.932 million HKD and

48.341 million HKD respectively.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK

° EERNEL ARBKE @5 RS BPRE
FHYEREMEN -

‘ BBEAEAERNRFEAMAEBNMAE RN
ImENEENEZAEREIK HRENBEK
YFOEFERAR S EOPREFRER L
FRFfs iz (MERELE REREARE) R
HI R (82— © IRIBRARE RIS RERIESI)
(TEEXREREHBZERRESER )M CH
HEETHRABEEESIIRAF)IEESH-

s HE—  AAEERENZHNEBEEEEE
ENER SEEEREBEEIRE P EENHE
B U RRHAR R REE -

6 HE . AAEBERIEFEINEE 5 M
AR HER ©

7 AEF S - —FR_EB-_FZHRBRADRL
#A13.932E BB T R48.341EEBIT

59



60

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI ML EREBHRS

Compare with previous year, total greenhouse gas emissions data
decreased, while the Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions data
slightly increased. It was due to the expansion of reporting scope,
which additionally included electricity consumption from the metal
trading business in PRC Mainland. The greenhouse gas emission
intensity in the reporting period has recorded significant decline,
demonstrating the achievements of the Group towards sustainable
operations. The scale of metal processing business operation
diminished under the continuous effect of global business situation
and COVID-19 pandemic and no production or processing work was
carried out in the reporting period. Electricity is only used for daily
maintenance and checking purposes. Therefore, the greenhouse
gas emissions induced by the electricity consumption in the metal
processing facilities remained at a low level.

Waste Data and Management

Under normal circumstances, a small amount of chemical waste
that has an impact on the environment and our business operation
is mainly generated from the scrap metal processing facilities. The
waste is mainly chemical in nature and designated waste collectors
are responsible for its final disposal under the close supervision and
control of the government. The handling of the waste is required to
comply with its chemical requirements as specified by the collectors
and the law enforcers. Our metal processing facility has to follow all
the prescribed steps, standards and measures to properly handle
the wastes before disposal. The Group believes that by having
complied fully and without deviation from the prescribed norm and
standard, our hazardous wastes are properly and duly handled. Our
focus is therefore on emphasizing adherence closely to prescribed
procedures.

Under the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic, no production or
processing work was carried out in the reporting period. There
no hazardous waste was produced, and no chemical waste was
discharged in wastewater. Our business operation did not involve
any material sewage discharge generated in the industrial process.
All our domestic wastewater was treated properly before discharging
into the municipal pipe network and all the sewage was treated
properly according to the requirements of the local regulations.
The total amount of sewage generated in the reporting period was
around 66 tonnes.

Non-hazardous wastes were mainly office paper, collected by
waste collectors and transported to landfills for disposal. The non-
hazardous waste data in the reporting period were approximately
halved when comparing to that of previous year.

HEFELB REFMANERERETN
BEARRAL MEERE @EEZ) 29K
BBEAHAE LA EREANTFEENRER
B HETEETEAMEEE S XER
WEHEFMEEEERE - REPRE
EREFNZERSEE TR BrEEE
MXKBEEZHR - TBMIEBANZE
KB 1B RCOVID-198 B R I &M E
RNEBHER RERAREEEXMIR
MEEMF BIOHERARABSHEERE  E
mEBMITHEABERASIBEERE
PR RR PR K o

BRNHBEREE

—RERT HRERBMANEFEEAR
EBEREN TEREEBEMMIT
RMEE ZEBENETEBCEME WHE
HENEZREERES THIEEEYIKE
POREETRKRRE - ZFERAET
WER LR EANEIRENLCREER  H M
WEBNIREORBREABEES R R
BRI UNEEMZERIE - ~EEHE
SoRBTEBTRIEREREERLERRT
RPN ESEYFIZEZREE -EILRK
FINEM S EABRRERIEERER -
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In the reporting period, the Group’s waste data® are listed as below:

BRI LG REBHRS

BERAR ZEENBERDPEBECR TR

Types of Waste Unit 2022 2021
EEE YRR Efi —EZC TET—F
Total non-Hazardous Waste® tonnes 0.58 0.69
mEBEREYES NI

Non-Hazardous Waste Intensity  tonnes/million HKD revenue'® 0.01 0.05
BEEEBEYTE AME/ BEBITHA

Use of Resources

Resources Policies and Relevant Laws and Regulations
regarding Energy Conservation

The Group’s production facilities and business operation strictly
abide by the laws and regulations of the PRC Mainland and Hong
Kong, including but not limited to Energy Conservation Law of the
PRC ((shEI&IZIAEIRIED) and other laws and regulations. The Group
is committed to improving on energy and resources efficiency, and
advocating conservation of resources. Based on the Group’s nature
of business, under normal operating circumstances, water, electricity,
and packaging materials are the three major types of resources
which the Group uses. The Group is committed to improving on
energy efficiency, conserving resources for our operations and
activities and raising the awareness of our employees in these areas.

Driven by electricity conservation and cost-saving incentives, the
Group has implemented measures and initiatives to encourage
employees to avoid unnecessary energy consumption. The Group
have reminded our staff to turn off electrical appliances especially
computers when not in use; to set the offices’ room temperature to
24°C or above and to use natural ventilation whenever possible. The
Group has purchased energy-efficient appliances and has installed
LED light in our office. Discrete electric meters are also installed for
monitoring the electricity consumption of strategic processes in our
metal processing facility.

Energy Consumption and Intensity

Other than the consumption of petrol and LPG by group-owned
vehicles, electricity is the major source of energy which the Group
uses, it is vital to and has a significant impact on the operation of our
metal processing facility.

8 Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.

o The figure covered non-hazardous waste generated in offices in the PRC
Mainland and Hong Kong.

10 The total revenue of the Group in 2021 and 2022 were 13.932 million HKD and
48.341 million HKD respectively.
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In the reporting period, a total of around 26,635 kilowatt-hour
("kWh”) electricity was consumed by our material business units
(including metal processing facility, Hong Kong and PRC Mainland
office respectively). As the scope of the report expanded which
additionally included the electricity consumption of the metal trading
business office in the PRC Mainland, the electricity consumption
increased by approximately 24% when compared to that of previous
year. Our vehicles ran on petrol and LPG, and the corresponding
energy consumption is around 31,818 kWh, decreased by
around 30% when compared to that of previous year. The energy
consumption intensity in the reporting period has recorded
significant decline, demonstrating the achievements of the Group
towards sustainable operations. Overall, the usage of electricity
in various offices and metal processing facility of the Group is
considered normal and consistent with our production and turnover
levels.

In the reporting period, the data of Group’s total energy
consumption' by type are listed as below:

REPRN BMEENEFEN (BELB
MIRKE SEMPEARNBAE) HES
#4926,635F LB (TFREF)) B77 HIX IR
SHEREA MG HETEARAMESBE S
EBEMAENESHE FEEBEEIH
EREEENNBEDZ —+ Mo REFET
B BT MRS M R(E R MR E R - % 4E
FUHFEA31,818 T R HIEREREFR
DHBERZ =T REBAEREES E iR
BEETR BRAEEBOXELE 2R
ReEmMs AERETMAERSEMN
TREMAEBLEE  THERMANEEREE
BBKF—E o

REHAN AEERELHE DB EREH
FEELIE

Unit 2022 2021
i —E=-= —ZT-—F
Energy Consumption'  Direct energy consumption MWh 31,818 45,197
REJRH FE1? BEAERHRE TR
Indirect Energy Consumption MWh 26,635 21,549
4% 88 TR OH #5 T BB
Total Energy Consumption MWh 58,453 66,746
48 RETROH FE TR
Energy Consumption Intensity ~ MWh/million 1,209 4,791

FEROHAE R B

HKD revenue'®

TRE B8E

TTHEAS

" Totals may not be the exact sum of numbers shown here due to rounding.

° The figures covered the direct and indirect energy consumption in the Group’s
offices and manufacturing plants in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong. The
calculation method of the corresponding energy consumption figures and the
emission factors used in the calculation are based on “How to Prepare an ESG
Reports” and its annex “Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
issued by the Stock Exchange, “Guideline of the greenhouse gas emissions
accounting and reporting for industrial enterprises” ((T 2128 = REEH K
HEIREEA])) and Energy Statistic Manual issued by the International Energy
Agency.

18 The total revenue of the Group in 2021 and 2022 were 13.932 million HKD and
48.341 million HKD respectively.

i FEENUBEREARAKE Bt RO A TE
FHEEREAERA o
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Water Consumption and intensity

Freshwater the Group used is sourced from the city’s central supply
network and is mainly used by our metal processing facility for
cooling purpose during smelting of the metal. In the reporting period,
the aggregate water consumption of the Group was around 66 cubic
meters, representing a decrease of around 19% when comparing
to that of previous year, as a result of the diminishing scale of metal
processing operations. The water consumption intensity in the
reporting period has recorded significant decline, demonstrating the
achievements of the Group towards sustainable operations.

The Group believes that there are no material issues in seeking
suitable water sources. The existing supply of water resources is
sufficient to satisfy the Group’s needs in all aspects of volume,
quality and supply reliability. With the help of new discrete water
meters, the Group is able to better monitor water usage to facilitate
to identify more effective measures. In the reporting period, the data
of the Group’s total water consumption are listed as below:

BRI LG REBHRS

KEFHEREE

7 & B fE A BYSS K R B 3 T R R A4S
TERRMNVETBEM RN S EEIRBERE
RELEAIZB -BEHA AREEMI&R
FEETHRER G  AERBEKERY
BT K BEFRILNEDZ TN BE
HRNAKERERRFRE TR BTREER
MXEEEZMR

FEERSRNSIERAKKRAELEERSE
B RAMKREER U ERERBER (0
HE HERMETENERTE - EHEE
IKERMEB T REEENBFEZERKX
B UBHRBAMBRE - REMA > &
BYFKARHFER R T -

Water Resource™ Unit 2022 2021
K& E E il —E=-= — T —F
Water Consumption cubic meters 66 81
k& 3K

Water Consumption Intensity cubic meters/million HKD revenue'® 1.37 5.81
RAKEBE IFHKSBEBTHAS

Paper Consumption

The paper used in the reporting period was mainly from the offices
in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong. The data of the Group’s paper
consumption are listed as below:

HBARE
BERANNAREZRETEAMMEBE
BEAUNRAE  ZEENBRBERNT ¢

Unit 2022 2021

B {iI —E-= = —F
Paper Consumption tonnes 0.34 0.69
BfE NE

The paper consumption data in the reporting period decreased by
around 51% when comparing to that of previous year.

1 The figures covered the water consumption in processing facility for cooling
purpose

15 The total revenue of the Group in 2021 and 2022 were 13.932 million HKD and
48.341 million HKD respectively.
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Packaging Materials for Finished Products

Packaging materials do not constitute a major issue to the Group
given our product is mainly silver which does not warrant fancy
components. Main packaging materials of the Group comprise
wooden boxes, paper and plastic bags. In the reporting period, no
packaging material was consumed, due to no metal processing
operations under the effect of global economic situation and
COVID-19 pandemic during the reporting period.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to, on an ongoing pace, minimizing impacts
on the environment and natural resources within our limits and
abilities. We pay attention to areas in new technology advancement
and process efficiency on minimizing the impact on the environment
and natural resources from time to time to integrate into our
production activities and business goals. General staff education is
also measure we considered effective.

The Group is an enterprise engaged in the trading of metals and
metal supply chain business in Hong Kong and the PRC Mainland,
which operates a metal processing facility in Kwai Chung. Silver
scrap which acquired is further processed into finished silver
products of various sizes, forms and shapes complying with
requirements of the clients.

Our metal processing facility involves usage of water and electricity
which may have certain impact on the environment and natural
resources where impact from the other offices is immaterial. The
Group will endeavour to make all efforts possible and practicable to
reduce and minimize the impact on the environment and resources
by adopting and implementing measures to recycle, reuse and
reduce the consumption of water and electricity.

Climate Change

Climate change is one of the biggest global challenges faced by
the society nowadays, and we must act now for our climate and
our communities. In recent years, extreme weather, such as strong
winds and heavy rainfall, as well as tides and floods, have become
the focus of news. Logistics and supply chains are particularly
vulnerable. Heavy rainfall, rising tides, and floods can cause serious
damage to assets such as buildings, warehouses, and goods in
storage, resulting in financial losses. Although such incidents are
beyond everyone’s control, the Group believes that all stakeholders
should work together to address climate change.

g aEHH
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The COVID-19 pandemic has presented many new challenges in
recent years, the pace of change has expedited around the world,
underscoring the importance for us to accelerate its transition to a
low-carbon economy.

The Group essentially plans to respond to local government
initiatives and follow local governments’ emission reduction
requirements. We aim to reduce emissions intensity by around 3%
by 2030 and ensure the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions will
comply with the increasingly stringent regulatory requirements set up
by local governments. Our target is to achieve carbon neutrality by
2050 in Hong Kong region and by 2060 in PRC Mainland. We are
committed to continuously improving our energy efficiency, applying
professional knowledge to improve on-site efficiency and maintain
efficient management support, in order to safeguard the Group’s
reputation.

The Group has identified a series of climate-related risks and
opportunities relevant to our assets and services and understand the
scenarios in which these risks and opportunities may have a greater
impact to us. These transition and physical risks are discussed in the
sections below.

Risks
& B3
Short term e Physical risks from extreme weather e
(O =1 year) events
¥2HA mim KR/ EHSIENEERR
(0-1%) e Securing the skills and capability required
to implement climate strategy
BECEE R IERBEPIRNRAE
Medium term e Transition risks — Implementation of low- e
(5 years) carbon policies for the operation
FR A BERE-REELEM/MRER
(5%F) e Transition risks — Supply and demand
for certain commodities, products and e
services may change as climate related
risks and opportunities are increasingly
taken into account
i B — E 2 ¥ B 13 A8 BA R B AN A
BRNEZEHREL REEHR - E MR
BHHRAIEGEEEE
BIRERBRAR | ZEZ2EFER

“HERERBERS

BRE EEHTEREBETHERTHZHHK
B R MBEE D RINR o I B A
BAMRBEEMHCENEER M-

FEBAE LR ERB BT ER > Wt
£ EEI‘E%WJBU*B’J/UZ%F;:X cHAFIER

=SERIBL A ZZHIRRE > W HE
T?ZliﬁlE’J&iﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁl%ﬁé%ﬂﬂﬁﬁ@
BEBEENZREXR -HMANEREI-FA
TEREBMENI _SRTEFEPEA
B IR P o HFIR DR TENR S E R
KOFBERENBMNES  HHRBUERN

B PN EEXF IREFAEENE
&
AEBEEHH H—FRIEBRFINE E KRR

B RN RIEAEREE RS LXT%@%Etbﬂ
A%D#&%Lfﬂﬂﬁﬁb'l‘iiﬁqﬂT EERATE
BENERREEREEUTHD ':F“Tuw

Opportunities
#ia

Technologies to enhance the performance of
operation and energy efficiency
b iy Bl SR FH & B BE IR K

Transitioning to low carbon economy market
to meet government decarbonization targets
E BT T 5B AR RAE IR > LUR B BUN
EOPERId=E =

Opportunities arising from transition enablers

REBERARPAEENKE
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Risks
E &

Medium to e Transition risks — Potential new regulation

long term and policies

(5+ years) iBE R s — BT AT AR MER

R e Transition risks — Development and use
(5ELL ) of emerging technologies may increase

the operational costs, and reduce the
Groups’ competitiveness
38 B Bl — 7 B e i B9 B 25 A0 60 AR BT A
SREMEEMA TREAEENGF
73

e Transition risks — the Group reputation
may be impacted due to changing
customer or community perceptions
of said the Group’s contribution to or
detraction from the transition to a lower-
carbon economy
BERE-HRERHATEHAERY
B BEENNEMRIURIBENE 8L
g AEEBEVUEERIFE

The Group has experienced super typhoons in southern China
and Hong Kong regions in recent years, causing serious damage
to the city. Floods have also occurred to some extent in the PRC
Mainland and other countries in recent years. These climate and
weather events can cause physical damage to our assets or reduce
operational efficiency, increase our repair and maintenance costs,
and service disruptions for customers or even temporarily halt our
operations. The Company’s operations may also be directly and
indirectly affected by these events, such as damage to assets along
the supply chain. Over the years, the Group has taken a series of
measures for the supply chain to assist the company in responding
to these climate events. To implement targeted measures, taking into
account of asset type, location and relevance.

The Group is prepared to address the threat posed by climate
change to our business and the community, and with an anticipation
of the Group’s future carbon intensity trajectory, we are determined
to achieve our goal of providing a safe, reliable and affordable
service to our customers.

Opportunities

s

Transitioning to low carbon economy market
to meet government decarbonization targets
EMEREETHEE  UBRBUT KRS
12

Opportunities arising from transition enablers
IR R R R E L RIS

To work as a pioneer in the industry and
build up the relevant reputations

PR AT R ZIIAHRAE R

FERLFREERAEBMEEEETBR
R HEWENBRBRIB - AKX TAER
PEAMMEMBEREBE-—ERE L&EE-
BERGMNRREMFAIESRMNEESN
HERS WREEENE LB MBI
MENEENS EERZPIRE BEE
BRELERPNEF - AATNWEEN A
REBLEEHNERNBEZE AIINHEE
BNEETB -ZER FEESHERED
RE— R B RBEERESMS-
ZREEERE M RAERME  REEAM
il B A S H 1 HE i o

AEBEEREFEHREEECHRMANES
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BESD RFAROCEBREMANER BF
FR#tZ2 A RNERGENRS -
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

The Group takes all measures to ensure that our statutory duties
and responsibilities as an employer duly comply within our operating
locations. The Group adopts a serious view and attaches great
importance to complying with all the labour laws on employment,
employee compensation, etc., which are applicable to our office
operating locations.

In this connection, the Group has formulated policies and regulations
on employment and other labour welfare and protection matters
which include but not limited to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits. The
Group also strives to provide equal opportunity for our staff in
recruitment, promotion, compensation and benefits and is dedicated
to establish and promote a fair, harmonious and respectful
workplace.

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations of the PRC
Mainland and Hong Kong regarding employment, including but not
limited to the Labour Contract Law of the PRC (T EZEIE[RE
3£)), the Social Insurance Law of the PRC ({FREI*t &1RK5%)), the
Employment Promotion Law of the PRC ({FFEIFE2{2%#°%)) , Hong
Kong’s Employment Ordinance (Cap.57), Disability Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap.487), Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.480) and
other laws and regulations.

The Group provides and maintains employment welfare and benefits
for our staff, including but not limited to mandatory provident fund,
medical insurance and work injury insurance. Staff are entitled to
paid leave on public holidays and personal occasions like wedding
and maternity. Terms and employment conditions of all employees
are entered into written contracts signed by the employee and a
representative of the Group. Office staff work 8.5 hours on weekdays
and staff working in the processing facility work 9 hours on
weekdays.

The Group is committed to creating a fair employment environment
with equal opportunity. All applications for vacancies, transfers
and promotions receive fair consideration with regardless of age,
race, colour, religion, gender, sexual orientation, disability or other
discriminating basis. The Group seeks to provide a fair playing field
for all employees.
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The Group has established qualifications and requirements for each
job. Processing for recruitment or promotion is carried out by the
human resources department in an open and transparent manner.
To enhance employee cohesion and foster morale and productivity,
we have a Group culture of holding gatherings for all employees at
various festivals like Mid-Autumn, Winter Solstice and Annual Dinner
every year. Under COVID-19 pandemic, we are still maintaining this
arrangement in compliance with local epidemic prevention guidelines
and regulations. Employee remunerations are determined with
reference to the prevailing market level as well as the competency,
qualification and experience of the individual employee. Salary
payment will be credited to the bank account of the employee within
the last working day of the month.

In the reporting period, the Group is strictly in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations in this regard and has not found any
material non-compliance or violation of relevant laws and regulations.
The Group has received no complaints, warnings, litigations or fine
from the law enforcing agents or the staff.

FEEEREBAUTIEERRTERER .
HEXEAEFEADERIEUBBR S
XRT - ARSEENREN - TRREE
N AEBXIEREFMAERESFENEA
(MPMLERFEHBE) R —E 77
COVID-19#rB &R 18 T » I BT & B
BIESIMERTREFL L -RBEFM2
ERTHHKFEUAREHEENE - EE
REBMET - #FERESANRE—EATL
EEFARERIRITERF -

REA - AEERERDERTHEER
RER  REEREMEATGRIERN
RERERRANEER TEWREIZRBHEA
BHE TR ES SFahaERe
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 24 employees. The data of
Group’s number of employees and turnover by type in the reporting
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period are listed as below:

BRI LG REBHRS

BE_E__F+-_A=+—H1L £EH
B4t BB -REMANEEEREEI DN
EBEAMENRARBFE RO

2022
—F_-_

Employee Number

BEAZ
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Total number
B

By Gender
Ecgkabill
Male
%
Female
7
By Age Group
b ScE Rl
Below 30
30 AT
30-50
30-507%
Above 50
505 &
By Level
AR
Top management
EREERE
Middle management
FREERE
General staff
—MmAB
By Employment Type
R
Full-time
2
Part-time
SR
By Geographical Region
it 12 (& 15
PRC Mainland
R P dth
Hong Kong
HE

24

12

12

12

10

13

24

14

10
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2022
—F_-_

Employee Turnover Rate’®

FRiE S A

Overall number (Turnover rate)

BRRRAY (RKLEE)

By Gender

Ecgkabill
Male (Turnover rate)
BHEAH (BHRKLEE)
Female (Turnover rate)
A EMRREEE)

By Age Group

b ScE Rl
Below 30 (Turnover rate)
30 A ™ A B CRKEER)
30-50 (Turnover rate)
30-50m A B (i 5k L)
Above 50 (Turnover rate)
50 A £ A B ORKEER)
By Geographical Region

IR (& 15
PRC Mainland (Turnover rate)
FRE It A B Ot Sk B =)
Hong Kong (Turnover rate)

BBAB CRKRLER)

16 Turnover rate = number of employees in the specified category leaving

employment / number of employees in the specified category at the end of the

reporting period.

16

7 (29%)

5 (42%)

2 (17%)

0 (0%)

2 (17%)

5 (50%)

0 (0%)

7 (70%)

EEZ IR BB A MR U F R ZIR
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Health and Safety

The Group is committed to complying with all the health and safety
statutory requirements applicable to us to safeguard the health
and safety of our employees. In accordance with the Hong Kong’s
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282), the Group has
taken out employee compensations insurance for all qualified
employees. In case of accidents, employees are required to notify
their superior. Regardless of whether the accident is minor or
serious, the superior should take appropriate measures to mitigate
the impact and avoid any further recurrence or damage.

The Group is strictly in compliance with relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong regarding occupational health
and safety, including but not limited to the Labour Law of the PRC
((hE% &5%)), the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Treatment of Occupational Diseases (M EEZERHABED), the
Fire Control Law of the PRC ((FEIEEA%.)), the Hong Kong's
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509), the Factories
and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Cap. 59), the Occupiers
Liability Ordinance (Cap. 314), the Boilers and Pressure Vessels
Ordinance (Cap. 56) and other laws and regulations.

Our metal processing facility is the operation which may give rise to
the potential of causing significant impact on health and safety. The
Group is always mindful of this risk and has given great attention
to the metal processing operation. The Group ensures that the
operation is safe and without risk to our property and people as
far as practicable by complying with all laws, rules, regulations
and standards in Hong Kong. It includes but not limited to on-site
medical and emergency facilities, all relevant required medical and
safety equipment. In the reporting period, our metal processing
facility passed all relevant government inspections with regard to
means of escape and fire safety, plants and equipment and there
was no accident reported.
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The Group has no official record of any fatal accident, major work-
related fatalities and work injuries, lost working days due to work
injury in the reporting period. The data of the Group’s work-related
injuries and fatalities of the past three reporting years are listed as
below:

FEENBRERRNLELEEAERR LS
UEHKRTIEMBRTHFERE RAPBE
ZEREFERTHGTHEHEEINT

2022 2021 2020

—E=-= —E—4F —EBCBF
Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 0
TTHAZ
Rate of work-related fatalities 0% 0% 0%
T TR
Number of work injuries 0 0 0
ITREAH
Lost days due to work injury 0 0 0
FTEHEBEETIERH
Development and Training BREEIZIN

The Group adhere great importance to sustainable development of
our employees. Employees are encouraged to formulate their own
training objectives that will equip themselves with the skills and
knowledge necessary for their jobs. The Group upholds an open
and responsible attitude, listens to opinions with an open mind,
and improves its work efficiency through continuous discussion and
introspection. Looking ahead, we will actively improve employee
training policies and rules, and provide more comprehensive training
programs for employees on occupational safety, professional
knowledge and environmental awareness.

FEBEREAMAERENFELRE  HATE
ETHRIBSNFIER URETIFEE
DENKRERNH# AEBRFRABRKEE
WEE EORBEER TBBFERSN
REVHTARSEIFRR - BER K &K
MEBBeEs 8 THIIBERMER > BRET
PWEEZE2 FEXENAKRFREH S EIZMH
B ARSTHENIEIIEE -
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As at 31 December 2022, the employee training data of the Group W_E__F+_A=+—H &xEEEH

are listed as below: BHINEIEWT -
2022
Number of Trained Employee Overall 4 (17%)
and Percentage'’ BR
BINAB KRB
By Gender
Egull
Male 3 (25%)
3
Female 1 (8%)
7
By Level
L AR
Top management 4 (67%)
SREIERE
Middle management 0 (0%)
FREERE
General staff 0 (0%)
—MmAB
Other 0 (0%)
Hith

17

Percentage of trained employee = Number of employees received training during 17 HIABEDE = REPHESBIAL RS
the reporting period / Number of employees at the end of the reporting period. FRERB T AH-
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2022
—E_-Z
Average Training Hours (hour/ Overall 10.67
employee)® e
FIGFANRFE (I BT)
By Gender
Ecgkabill
Male 10.29
%
Female 12
7
By Level
YR AR
Top management 24
SREIERE
Middle management 0
PR EIEE
General staff 0
—mRAE
Other 0
Hith

Due to the impact of the COVID-19 epidemic in the first half of the
reporting period, the Group delayed the arrangement of training
courses, resulting in a decrease in the percentage of trained
employees and the average number of training hours; however, the
Group will timely adjust the arrangement of the training courses
provided to employees in the future, such as holding online training,
to ensure that employees can obtain reasonable training and
development opportunities.

Labour Standards

The Group adopts the applicable statutory standard as its minimum
standard on labour protection and welfare. The Group is committed
to ensuring its stringent compliance. In addition, the Group adopts
a serious view and attaches great importance to the compliance of
statutory duties and obligations as an employer.

The Group is adamant in banning and prohibiting the employment
of child labour, illegal workers and forced labour and it is achieved
through the recruitment and employment processes at source by the
human resources department. The human resources department has
been fully charged with the statutory duties and is being oversighted
by the senior levels with constant reviews at periodic intervals.

8 Average Training Hours = Total training hours during the reporting period / Total
number of employees at the end of the reporting period.

HRHREIABN EFFEZCOVID-19F B8 &
ERE, RERIE T EINRENZE
2318 B th B K T 5 52 5 5 8039 B AR
D B A EEEERARRELTET Y
BEIIRRE T MBRITH L5 UBRE
TAREMESSEEIIZEEK TR

HTEA
FEEFRMBREIEREFAES TRER
BN RERE - AERERNNBRERLRS
BRI FEBRERBEREAERE
STEREINEEREREE-

FERZRZILEAEI IFET AR &
F1 REBANERBREHIBERERRE
FER - ANERBEEZEAEEIERS
THSREEEEE REMEE -

® THEIISH = REABBEIBRE RS
EERBET AH-
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Any form of child labour and forced labour is prohibited within the
Group. To prevent and deter any form of child labour and forced
labour in business, the Group would verify the actual age of the
applicants during the recruitment process. All job applicants are
required to submit their credentials like academic qualifications,
professional skill certificates, references, and identity card for
verification and record purpose during recruitment. If any violation is
discovered, the Group will handle it in a serious manner. Depending
on the actual situation, the cases will be handled in accordance with
national and local laws and regulations, and the Group’s internal
practices.

The Group strictly abides by the government laws in labour
protection and welfare to ensure employee health, safety and welfare
during their employment. Salaries, benefits, compensation payments
and insurances are paid on time strictly laws within the prescribed
statutory period.

The Group strictly regulates and supervises the recruitment process,
performs the responsibilities of supervision and management and
as far as possible to prevent any breach of relevant laws and
regulations on the employment of illegal or forced child labour. etc.
Measures and steps are established and taken to examine and verify
the personal information of the applicants in the recruitment process
in accordance with the statutory employment requirements in an
effort to eliminate any potential non-compliance. In addition, other
technical skills or academic credentials required of a job are also
checked and examined. The Group strictly complies with the relevant
labour laws and regulations in the PRC Mainland and Hong Kong,
including but not limited to those listed in the “Employment” section
of the Report, and Law of the PRC on the Protection of Minors
(R EREEAREED), Employment of Children Regulation in
Hong Kong’s Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) and other laws and
regulations. Various statutory provisions on labour protection, safety
and health are closely monitored and duly complied with. Employee
remuneration, compensation and welfare are duly paid on time in
accordance with the statutory time limit.

The Group is committed to discharging our obligations as a
responsible employer. Since the establishment of the Group, we
have fully complied with these employment provisions and have
honoured all of its obligations towards staff and no labour disputes
or litigations were reported for the year. In the reporting period,
the Group has no official record of any material non-compliance or
breach of relevant laws and regulations regarding child labour and
forced labour.
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Operation Practices

Supply Chain Management

In our supply chain management, the Groups primarily looks for
factors like fit for purpose, cost-effectiveness, supply reliability and
quality assurance. Where necessary and appropriate, considerations
on the impact on the environment and social risks are also taken into
consideration.

Our purchases include various types of metals, such as steel
fastener materials, gold and silver. The Group purchases silver
scrap as raw materials for processing into finished silver products.
Raw silver is also purchased for processing into different sizes and
shapes to meet customer needs.

To ensure a stable, quality assured and cost-efficient and well-
managed supply chain, the Group has issued and implemented a
clear procurement managements rules and guidelines containing
policies and procedures with respect to procurement including
quality control, warehousing, payment and documentation approval
process, and methods of payment.

The Group’s relationships with its suppliers are stable and the Group
did not experience any major difficulty in obtaining adequate supplies
of raw materials to meet its production requirements in the past.

Suppliers are chosen based on the supplier’s continuous ability to
guarantee satisfactory product quantity and quality, reasonable price
and timely delivery. When selecting suppliers, the Group requires
potential suppliers to provide relevant certifications/documents and
to arrange for site visits.

In the reporting period, all the suppliers of our metal business were
local suppliers in Hong Kong and PRC Mainland. For other business,
there was 1 supplier from the PRC Mainland.

Product Responsibility

Recommended by the ESG Reporting Guide, with reference to the
Group’s business, there are 4 major areas on product responsibility
which would have an impact on our businesses. They are product
quality and labelling; customer services and complaints handling;
intellectual property rights; and data protection and privacy.
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Products Quality and Labelling

Our products include various types of metals. In the reporting period,
our products comprise mainly steel fastener materials , gold and
silver. Due to the nature of metals, our products have a relatively
long lifecycle and we do not expect to have any product returns and
warranty problems and there is no such requirement for a policy.

Furthermore, in Hong Kong, for silver, apart from the Hong Kong’s
Trade Description Ordinance (Cap. 362) (“TDO”), there is no law or
regulation which specifically governs the purity and fineness of silver.
Nevertheless, the Good Delivery Rules of the London Bullion Market
Association (“LBMA”) provide for a set of specifications for silver,
including purity and fineness. The minimum acceptable fineness of
good delivery silver bar is 999.0 parts per thousand silver, meaning
a purity of 99.90%. Such certification is not obligatory nor a legal
requirement in Hong Kong. The purity specified in most of our sale
contracts is 99.90% or 99.99%.

For gold, Section 3 of the TDO regulates trade description in relation
to fineness of gold. As to certification, similar to silver, LBMA
provides for industry benchmark for fineness and purity of gold under
its Good Delivery Rules. The minimum acceptable fineness of Good
Delivery Gold Bar is 995.0 parts per thousand of fine gold, meaning
a purity of 99.5%. Such certification is not compulsory nor is it a
legal requirement in Hong Kong. The purity specified in most of our
sale contracts is 99.99%, which is higher than such certification.

Customer Service and Complaints handling

Not only the Group ensures the quality of products and services,
the Group also requires the return or compensation of products with
quality problems in accordance with the terms of the sales contract.
The Group provides for product returns, recalls or compensation to
all affected customers in a consistent manner and procedure.

As described above, through a strict production control purpose, we
guarantee our products have and will meet all the legal and trade
standards. In the reporting period, the Group did not have any return
or complaints on the quality of our products.

Intellectual Property Rights

Based on the nature of the Group’s business, we believe that the
Group’s assets and services are not affected by intellectual property
rights. Besides, the Group ensures that our operations in PRC
Mainland and Hong Kong use copyrighted computer software and
teaching materials. In the reporting period, the Group did not have
any intellectual property rights infringement case against us, same as
the year 2021.
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Data Protection and Privacy

The Group maintains internal employee data, supplier data and
customer data for its operations. The information is extremely
sensitive and important, and by law must be safeguarded. To
safeguard the security and confidentiality of the Group’s data and
information in its database, the Group has implemented the following
internal control procedures:

° Access to documents and data: restrict access to information
and the database on a strictly need-to-know basis by
maintaining policies specifying the access levels and extents of
documentation required in its key business activities. Approval
from the management shall be obtained before the release of
documents;

° Storage of electronic data: there are backup policies for
each department in order to safeguard the information in any
unexpected situation; and

° Physical security of the environment: the Group implements
passcode controls in certain working areas of the offices where
access is limited to supervisory employees.

In the reporting period, the Group has no material non-compliance or
breach of relevant laws and regulations in respect of data protection
and privacy matters.

Anti-corruption

The Group recognises the importance of the value of honesty,
integrity and fairness of our employees and in our business activities.
Our general internal control system emphasis clearly and explicitly
the need for such values and their importance in policies and
processes on sales, procurement, operations, database control
and finance, and the adoption of a high standard, especially on the
senior management. We have a zero-tolerance policy on bribery and
corruption in any form or at any level in association with any aspect
of the Group’s activities. These policies encourage all employees to
discharge their duties with integrity and comply with relevant laws
and regulations. The internal control department is responsible for
counter-checking and following up any remedial actions.
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The Group is strictly in compliance with relevant national and local
laws and regulations regarding corruption, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, including but not limited to the Company Law of
the PRC (FE/AE %)), Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC
(P ER%E%)), Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC 9
(PERAFEEFHE L)), the Hong Kong’s Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) and other laws and regulations. In order to
cultivate employees’ awareness of anti-corruption, the Group has
provided the “Anti-Corruption Programme — A Guide for Listed
Companies” compiled by the Hong Kong Independent Commission
Against Corruption for employees to circulate. The Guide
covers major provisions of the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance,
organizational roles and responsibilities, key components of an anti-
corruption programme and policy, essential elements of a code of
conduct, corruption risk assessment, monitoring and promulgation of
anti-corruption practices.

In order to maintain good corporate governance, emphasizing
accountability and high degree of transparency, the Group
encourages our employees and other parties who deal with the
Group to report any misconduct, malpractice and irregularity within
the Group. For the purpose, we have established a Whistleblowing
Policy. The policy aims to provide reporting channels and guidance
on reporting possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or
other matters, and reassurance to “Whistleblowers” of the protection
that the Group will extend to them against unfair disciplinary action
or victimization for any genuine reports made. The policy also lists
out the principles of ethics regarding potential offences of irregularity,
including compliance with laws, rules and regulations. In general,
the Whistleblowers can make their reports to the risk control and
disciplinary inspection management department in writing by post in
a sealed envelope clearly marked “To be opened by addressee only”
at the relevant address provided. The Group reserves the right to
take appropriate actions against anyone who initiates or threatens to
initiate retaliation against the Whistleblowers. In particular, employees
who initiate or threaten retaliation will be subject to disciplinary
actions, which may include summary dismissal. The Whistleblower
will be informed of the final results of the investigation, whenever
reasonably practicable.

In the reporting period, there is no material non-compliance or
violations regarding corruptions and no concluded legal case
regarding corruption practices brought against the Group or its
employees during the reporting period.
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Community

Community Investment

We believe that corporates should utilize their influence in the
community to promote harmony and strengthen the community
connections. The Group encourages and supports employees and
their family members to participate in charity, volunteering, cultural,
sports and educational services and activities.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and its related impacts, there
are limitations when participating in community events during the
reporting period. In response to and preventing the spread of virus
in the community, we have demanded our employees to strictly
abide with and follow hygiene measures, and responded to the
government’s advice to encourage our employees to participate in
vaccination programs to reduce the risk of virus transmission in the
community. Besides, we distribute masks to our employees to raise
their awareness of personal hygiene. We believe that these measures
are not only fulfilling the employer’s obligation to protect employees,
but also contributing to society by breaking any possible chains of
infection. We look forward to engaging in more community events
when the pandemic is over.
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The Board presents its annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are engaging in
trading of metal and metal supply chain business in Hong Kong and
the PRC Mainland, provision of education management services in
the PRC Mainland and provision of money lending services in Hong
Kong. The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries
are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to
239.

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

Review of business and performance

A review of the business of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the outlook
of Company’s business can be found in the Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 9 to 21 of this annual report. The
discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group’s performance may be directly or indirectly affected
by risks and uncertainties relating to the Group’s businesses. The
followings are the principal risk factors facing the Company as
required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and are those that could
result in the Group’s business performance, financial condition,
operations results or development prospects materially different from
expected or historical results.
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Competition

Given that the current international situation and the
international economic environment becoming more complex,
severe and uncertain, the significant fluctuation in commodity
prices and the pessimistic medium-term outlook causing
market competition as the Group’s foremost risk. The market
price declines would lead to a severe drag on the metal
supply and so our financial performance. Under a reduction
in the global market size and the shrinkage of the Hong Kong
market, the Group operates in a competitive environment.
The operating result of the Group may be impacted due to
the market constraint. The Group aims to mitigate this risk by
maintaining close relationships with our customers, seeking
to expand our customer base and providing differentiating
services.

Supply of metal materials

We are dependent on the continuous supply of metal products/
materials and metal from a few suppliers. Any shortage or delay
in the supply of metal materials and metal products from them,
any deterioration in our relationships with these suppliers or
any change in their existing marketing strategies may affect
our ability to fulfill our customers’ demand, resulting in adverse
impact on our business and results of operations. In order to
maintain sufficient supply of inventories, the Group makes great
effort to establish good relationship with more suppliers to
secure potential alternative sources of metal supply.

Customer base

Our five largest customers accounted for a significant portion
of our revenue. If any of them were to substantially reduce
the volume and/or the value of the orders it places with us or
were to terminate its business relationship with us entirely, our
revenue level may be adversely affected. In management of
such risk, the Group continues to implement its strategies to
develop and enlarge its customer base, and strives to explore
potential customers to reduce its dependency on specific
clients.
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Operational risk

The Group is exposed to risks of unexpected losses
attributable to human error, systems failures, frauds, or
inadequate internal controls. Responsibility for managing
operational risks basically rests with every function at
departmental levels. The staff is guided by procedure manuals,
limits of authority and reporting framework to carry out the
duties. We identify and assess key operational exposures
continuously and regularly so that appropriate response can
be taken. We aim to mitigate operational risks through proper
policies and procedures, segregation of duties, and timely
and accurate management reports. We review and update the
policies and procedures from time to time so as to maintain a
strong and discipline control environment.

Health and safety

The Group, especially our processing facilities, may be subject
to various risks such as industrial accidents, equipment failure
and other catastrophic events, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects. The Group has developed
health and safety procedures to clearly define roles and
responsibilities in order to identify and mitigate risk. The Group
has no health and safety incidents or reportable accidents
during the year. In addition, the Group arranges insurance
policies to cover the losses or liabilities of such risks.
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Certificates and approvals

The Group requires certain certificates, licences and permits
and approvals for the operation, such as registration as a
chemical waste producer under the Waste Disposal (Chemical
Waste) (General) Regulation (Chapter 354C of the Laws of
Hong Kong), licence for discharge of industrial effluent pursuant
to section 20 of the Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), certificate of fitness for a
pressure vessel pursuant to Boilers and Pressure Vessels
Ordinance (Chapter 56 of the Laws of Hong Kong), lifting
appliances certificate of results of thorough examination
in the preceding twelve months pursuant to the Factories
and Industrial Undertakings (Lifting Appliances and Lifting
Gear) Regulations (Chapter 59J of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and money lenders license pursuant to the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong). We must
comply with the relevant standards, laws and regulations
and as well as restrictions and conditions, imposed by the
governmental authorities on application and renewal. The
Group must also comply with new standards, laws and
regulations that may entail greater or lesser costs and delays.
New laws and regulations, amendments to existing laws
and regulations, or more stringent enforcement would have
adverse impacts on the Group’s result of operations and
financial position. If we fail to comply with any of the relevant
regulations, we may not be able to maintain our certificates and
approvals and our operations would be significantly disrupted
or even suspended. The Group commits to comply with the
laws and regulatory requirements applicable to our operations.
We ensure full compliance through close monitoring of
legislative requirements and, when needed, engagement with
professional advisers.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting in an
environmentally responsible manner, the Group comply with laws and
regulations regarding environmental protection and adopt effective
measures to achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and
waste reduction.

Green initiatives and measures have been adopted in the Group’s
office and workshop. Such initiatives include replacement of the
new LED lighting for reducing electricity consumption in the office,
promoting double-sided printing and copying, and reducing energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings and electrical appliance.
The Group also encourages using office equipment carrying Energy
Label issued by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department
SO as to save energy in the office.

The Group will review its environmental practices from time to time
and will implement further ecofriendly measures and practices
closely adhering to the 3Rs — Reduce, Recycle and Reuse and
enhancing environmental sustainability.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to
ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in
particular, those have a significant impact on the Group. The
Audit Committee is delegated by the Board to review and monitor
the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. During the year, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group believes that employees are important and valuable
assets and thus we provide competitive and attractive remuneration
packages to retain the employees. The management reviews
annually the remuneration to employees of the Group.

The Group values long standing relationships with its suppliers
and customers. The Group aims at delivering high quality services
to its customers and developing mutual trust and enhancing
communication and commitment between the Group and its
suppliers.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 240.
This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUE
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has not issued
any debenture.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Share option scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 July 2014 (the
“Scheme”). Under the Scheme, the Directors of the Company may,
subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme and
the GEM Listing Rules, at its discretion, grant options to any full-
time or part-time employees, consultants or potential employees,
consultants, executives or officers (including executive, non-
executive and independent non-executive directors) of the Group,
and any suppliers, customers, consultants, agents and advisers,
who in the absolute discretion of the Board has contributed or will
contribute to the Group (collectively “Eligible Participants”).

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentive or reward for
Eligible Participants for their contribution or potential contribution to
the Group.
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Up to the date of 2019 Annual report, the Company has granted
39,310,000 shares of the Company under the Scheme. The
refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit was approved by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting held on 26 June 2020.
After the refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit, the total number
of shares (the “Shares”) of the Company available for issue under
the Scheme was 57,617,000 Shares, representing approximately
6.95% of total number of Shares in issue as at the date of this
report.

The Board shall not grant options to any Eligible Participant if the
acceptance of those options would result in the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued to that participant on exercise of his
options during any 12-month period up to the offer date exceeding
1% of the total number of Shares then in issue.

There is no general requirement that an option must be held for
any minimum period before it can be exercised. The period during
which an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Scheme shall be the period of time to be notified by the Board
to each grantee, which the Board may in its absolute discretion
determine, save that such period shall not be more than ten
years commencing on the date upon which the vesting period as
described in the respective grantee’s offer document commences.

A remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant of the option should be submitted to the
Company on or before the last day for acceptance. The option will
be offered for acceptance for a period of 14 days from the date on
which the option is granted.

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board but in any event
shall be at least the highest of (i) the official closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’ s daily quotations sheet on
the date on which the option is offered (the “Offer Date”); and (ii) the
average of the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the Offer Date.
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The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period commencing
from the date on which the Scheme was conditionally adopted
by an ordinary resolution of the shareholder of the Company on
22 July 2014 and ending on the tenth anniversary of the date of
listing of the Company’s shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange on
4 August 2014 (both dates inclusive), after which no further option
will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall remain in
full force and effect in all other respects to the extent necessary to
give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior thereto or
otherwise as may be required in accordance with the provisions of
the Scheme and options granted prior thereto but not yet exercised
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
Scheme. The remaining life of the Scheme as at 31 December 2022
was about 1.6 years.

A summary of the share options granted under the Scheme are as
follows:

ZAERE_E-—NELtAZ+ "1 B
SAEBBAADRREBRAZREARMH
MZBEERARATRMNBRZFFGEM L™
B —Z—mE N\BOAEsw+BEFHRE
(BEEEMA) ANREN HEHTE
R EAERSNFE IR 1 - W X 5T 8 B IR SXAEFR
BEHMAENE T AREN UL Z
HARR AT IR B AT MR X AT BE R E < Hth 75
ANREZEMBRER FT6E DUIRIRZH
RARLERETEZBRESEBAN
RAIRIEZGT BT & BN T F
TR =+ —BZRERHRA.65F-

ZEE BT RHZBRESZNT -

Number of share options and underlying shares

BRERERRMUE
Exercise Outstanding Outstanding
Type of price per  Exercise as at as at
participants Date of grant share  period 1.1.2022 Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  31.12.2022
i® ZE”_C :
—§-C +ZR
‘ -A-8 =+
SHEER RYAN ﬁ%ﬁﬁ% TR Ie R AT [B3idd BT B B&¥  HERT
HK
AT
Directors 27.8.2019 0.616  27.8.2019 - 26.8.2022 (Note) 13,110,000 - - - (13,110,000) -
EF “F-nENAZTtRH “E-NENAZFLHE
“E-TENRZTAR
(Htzt)
Employees 10.4.2015 0.78  10.4.2015-9.4.2025 160,000 - - - - 160,000
(3= “Z-AFMA+H “Z-1E5MA+HEE
—EZREMANA
27.8.2019 0.616  27.8.2019 - 26.8.2022 (Note) 23,500,000 - - - (23,500,000) -
“Z-nENAZTtR “E-NENAZFLHE
“E-TENRZTAR
(Htzt)
Others 10.4.2015 0.78  10.4.2015-9.4.2025 120,000 - - - - 120,000
Hit “Z-5EMB+A “EZ-REMBTAE
L __CESREMAMR o __
36,890,000 - - - (36,610,000) 280,000

Note:  The share options granted were vested to the grantees at the date of grant
(i.e. 27 August 2019), the first and second anniversary of the date of grant (i.e.
27 August 2020 and 27 August 2021, respectively) at an average amount, the
share options once vested shall be exercisable on a cumulative basis.
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The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the year
ended 31 December 2015 was HK$0.319 per option, amounted to
approximately HK$520,000 in aggregate. It was estimated as at 10
April 2015, being the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes Option
Pricing Model and taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted. The significant assumptions
and inputs used in the estimation of the fair value are as follows:

Share price at date of grant BEHHBZRE
Exercise price TEE

Volatility A

Risk-free interest rate 1 R B A =
Dividend yield g Bl =
Expected life of option B ETEHA G A

The expected life of the options may not be necessarily indicative of
the exercise pattern that may occur. The expected volatility reflects
the assumption that the historical volatility of comparable companies
is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the
actual outcome.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the
year ended 31 December 2019 were HK$0.211, HK$0.212 and
HK$0.213 per option each for three tranches which were vested on
27 August 2019, 27 August 2020 and 27 August 2021, respectively,
amounted to approximately HK$7,984,000 in aggregate. The fair
values were estimated as at 27 August 2019, being the date of
grant, using the Binomial Option Pricing Model and taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The significant assumptions and inputs used in the
estimation of the fair value are as follows:

Share price at date of grant REHBZRE
Exercise price T1EE

Volatility RN

Risk-free interest rate 1 [ e ) =1
Dividend yield B m=E

Early exercise multiplier REITHEGH
Expected option life B ETEHAT AR
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Estimation of the value of the share options is subjective and
uncertain as such values are subject to a number of assumptions
and with regard to the limitation of the model. The expected volatility
is based on the historical volatility reflecting the assumption that
the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also
not necessarily be the actual outcome. The expected early exercise
multiplier is also estimated and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur.

All significant features necessary to be considered for the
measurement of fair values of the share options granted during the
year were incorporated into such measurement.

The closing prices of the shares of the Company immediately before
the share options granted on 10 April 2015 and 27 August 2019
were HK$0.78 and HK$0.60, respectively.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: Nil).

No share options were exercised during the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

The Group did not recognize employee costs for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: approximately HK$0.8 million) in relation to
share options granted by the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no reserve available for
distribution in accordance with the provision of sections 291, 297
and 299 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong).

RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2022,
contributions was made (2021: Nil).

no charitable

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate revenues attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers comprised approximately 77% (2021:
approximately 97%) of the Group’s total revenues while the revenue
attributable to the Group’s largest customer was approximately 26%
(2021: approximately 67%) of the Group’s total revenue.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers comprised approximately 87%
(2021: approximately 100%) of the Group’s total purchases while
the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier was
approximately 35% (2021: approximately 95%) of the Group’s total
purchases.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder, which to the knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s total number of
shares in issue, had any interest in the share capital of any of the five
largest customers or suppliers of the Group.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wang Wendong
Mr. Fung Chi Kin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhou Tianshu

Ms. Wu Liyan

Ms. Wong Susan Chui San

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The person who has served on the boards of the subsidiaries of the
Company during the year and up to the date of this report are Mr.
Wang Wendong, Mr. Fung Chi Kin, Ms. Ip Yik Fung, Mr. Man Kin Fan
and Mr. Chen Lifan.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance,
which gives appropriate cover for any legal actions against its
Directors and officers of the Group. The permitted indemnity
provision is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) when this report prepared by the Directors is
approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies
Ordinance.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of one year unless terminated by not less than
one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other or
otherwise in accordance with the respective service contracts.

The Remuneration Committee will review and determine the
remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors with
reference to their experience, responsibilities, workload, time
devoted to and performance of the Group. The Directors may also
receive options to be granted under the share option scheme of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of Directors’ interest in contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business are set out in the section headed “Competition
and Conflict of Interest” in this report.

Save as disclosed above, there was no contract of significance to
which the Company or its subsidiaries, or its holding companies or
any of its fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director was
materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during
the year ended or as at 31 December 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, no interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

SHORT POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2022, no short positions of Directors and
chief executives in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations were recorded in the register or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons/entities (other than
the Directors and chief executives of the Company as disclosed
above) have interest or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by

FERRNRGREMRG ZESRRE

RIZZZFHFF+ZA=+—H B LEXPE
B2ARNBEERESTHASN UTA
T ERERAAB RN KRBT ERIR
BEERPEEAEXVIE2REID IR
BXBORABDIEHEENERI RS X

BB NIREE S RS KM FE336KETE

the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

BEEMOOB@mICRBWT !

Number of Approximate

ordinary shares percentage of

Name Nature of interests held shareholding

1R HERIBEAY

2 s Fr¥s&ERHSE BaL

(Note)

(P 51)

Hon Pok Beneficial owner 76,000,000 9.16%
218 BaEEAA

Zhang Bo Beneficial owner 45,000,000 5.43%
SR 18 BEEAA

Fung Ping Tak Beneficial owner 45,720,000 5.51%
BRE BmEAA

Poon Kwan Ho Beneficial owner 46,000,000 5.55%
RIS BamEAA

So Hing Sang Beneficial owner 41,964,000 5.06%
BEY BaEEAA

Liu Chengnan Beneficial owner 41,960,000 5.06%
BaEEAA

Zhang Siyuan Beneficial owner 158,060,000 19.06%
iR 2R BmEAA

FIAS (HONG KONG) CO., LIMITED  Beneficial owner 158,060,000 19.06%

Note: The approximate percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the
total number of ordinary shares in issue, being 829,404,000 shares as at 31
December 2022.

Em#EBA

7)) st8e

fisE  GRENFANBDLEERBETHEBERAHK B
RIBZZH+ZR=+— EB’J829404oooﬁ>zEx

According to the disclosure of interest form submitted to the Stock 22X T AT EF K BERIKR > FIAS

Exchange, FIAS (HONG KONG) CO., LIMITED is wholly owned by

Zhang Siyuan.

R o

(HONG KONG) CO., LIMITEDHERFEZE
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Save as disclosed above, no other interests or short positions of any
persons/entities (other than the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company) in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
were recorded in the register or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange as at 31 December 2022.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST

For the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
management, shareholders or substantial shareholders of the
Company or any of its respective associates has engaged in any
business that competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group, as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules, or has any other conflict of interests with the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note
29 to the consolidated financial statements. On 31 May 2022,
the Company (the “Purchaser”) (as the purchaser) and Mr.
Hon Hang (“Mr. Hon") (as the vendor) entered into the sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Hon agreed to sell,
and the Company agreed to purchase, 4,300 shares of True Time
International Investments Limited (“True Time”) (representing 43%
equity interests in True Time), at the consideration of USD1 in cash
(the “Acquisition”). Upon completion of the Acquisition, True Time
becomes a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

As Mr. Hon was a substantial shareholder of True Time, which was
a direct non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company immediately
prior to the completion of the Acquisition, Mr. Hon was a connected
person of the Company at the subsidiary level. Accordingly, the
Acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of the Company
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and was subject to
reporting and announcement requirements, but exempted from the
circular and independent Shareholders’ approval under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules.

For details of the Acquisition, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 31 May 2022.

Save as disclosed above, none of the related party transactions
constituted discloseable non-exempted connected transaction or
non-exempted continuing connected transaction under the GEM
Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEOHRS

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year under review, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Principal corporate governance policies adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 29 to 48.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The Group is committed to fulfilling its corporate social responsibility
in community affairs, environmental protection and corporate
governance during its business operation in order to achieve its
sustainable development. The Company’ s ESG Report is set out on
pages 49 to 80 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, the Company had maintained the public float as
required under the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, who has been appointed as
the auditors of the Company with effect from 6 December 2019 to
fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited. Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the
Company’s auditors in any of the preceding three years. A resolution
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to re-appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the
auditors of the Company.

By order of the directors

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited
Wang Wendong

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

B st EH A RAE
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF
LOCO HONG KONG HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Loco
Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 106 to
239, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, which including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK
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BIAZEEME S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS BBt ER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional PRIEZETEERBERMANZEHEDEE R
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated Bt AP G S BERERITREENSE
financial statements of the current period. These matters were TEoFKfITEB B M iESHERERKLTILT
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial M ERRRIEBILEEE MAGHIEEERE
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we EBIEERER

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
B EE KAz =t EA =t EE

Expected credit loss of trade and other receivables

B REMEKFIBA ER IS EEE

Refer to Notes 4 and 18 to the consolidated 2GR EMERKRM5F4R180
financial statements.

The balances of trade and other receivables Our procedures included:

as at 31 December 2022 were approximately HPNBEZEFEE

HK$29,311,000, which were material to the

consolidated financial statements. The Group has o We have discussed with management on the
applied the simplified approach in calculating the estimation involved in determining the amount of
expected credit loss for trade receivables and has expected credit loss allowance regarding the trade
applied the general approach in calculating the and other receivables.

expected credit loss for other receivables. . RMAEEENRIAERES REMEWRIESN
RIZBZZHF+ZR=+—H> B REMEWR TEHRE BB E T BERME -

B A 8R4 4929,311,0008 70> RS B|RKTL

5T BEENGTEESRERRAREBEBNEREES . We tested the working paper files prepared by the
BEERABLES L MRFTEEMEWIENTE valuation expert engaged by the management to
HEEEERIERB—RAE- calculate the expected credit loss and checked the

information included in the working paper files.
. EME D EEEZENGEERRRUSETE
HEEBEN TIFREXHURE TIFRE XA

WEk o

° We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuation expert engaged by the
management.

. BEMTETHEEEZENGEERNA & 46
AMEEME -
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Key Audit Matter
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
BIAZEEES

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRI ZE s NFEEMEETRIA

Under the simplified approach, the Group
measures the loss allowance based on lifetime
expected credit loss at each reporting date
by individual assessment. Under the general
approach, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month expected credit loss, unless
when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition then the Group
will recognize the loss allowance based on the
lifetime expected credit loss at each reporting date
by individual assessment. The assessment of the
expected credit loss allowance requires significant
judgments and estimation by management.
RIBEEIERZE BEERERSHHAREZHAE
HEEEERENTHEEBEEE BE—K
Fi% EEEBI2EBEREEBEEHERE
B IEHEMEEBLUREERRAEEM, &
ERERRNEREEHREXHBEREEHERE
AT FE RN B R - HTRME BB E HN T
EECEBFLEEY B GGt

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK

o We also engaged an independent valuation expert
to assist us to assess the appropriateness of the
expected credit loss provisioning methodology,
examining the key data inputs on a sample basis
to assess their accuracy and completeness,
and challenging the assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking information, used
to determine the expected credit losses by the
valuation expert engaged by the management.

. BPTZREB I GEERBHHMTERRAEERS
BREZZEE B MR RS A UGG
HEBRMERTEY TEAETEEZENLESER
ANECEREEEEMERNRE 8FBTR
AIFEME R o

We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
about the expected credit loss allowance regarding
trade and other receivables in the consolidated financial
statements.

KM TE SEEMGESMBRRANE Z KEMBIHR
HNRREEGEEFEFERENTE L
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B I % B ET RS

Key Audit Matter
FREEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRI ZENFEEMEETRIA

Valuation of investments classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy

ERFEEBRFDERFE=BIIEMEELNGE

Refer to Notes 4 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements

The Group’s other financial assets are stated at fair
value. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s other
financial assets amounted to HK$4,280,000.
EEENHEMEMEEUATEIKR - RI2Z
F+ZB=+—H> E£EENEMEMEES
4,280,000/ 7T

2RGREHHRRME4R16°

Our procedures included:
KMNEZEREE !

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
internal control and assessment process of the
valuations of other financial assets and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors, such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility
to management bias or fraud.
BMTHREERBHHMEHE E G (ER AP ESIA
BRI BiEaE REs T REENEE RHEM
BB REEZORR (FINEMEN - T8 &M
EEEBEREITEBTANHRE) T HEAER
PRILAY E A R

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuation expert engaged by the
management.
EMETETHEEEZENGHEERN S B 5E
MEE M-
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRI ZE s NFEEMEETRIA

We paid significant attention to this area due to
the material balance of the other financial assets to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements and
the estimation of the valuations of other financial
assets subject to high degree of estimation
uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to this area
is considered significant due to critical judgment
involved in determining the critical estimates and
assumptions used in the valuations.
MREMEREENGEGE SERGEMBR
KhEZkfEFHEHMEMEENGERETRS
BRENMGMEIAEES RMHELHELET TERN
B E o RS TERIE R A E RV RA S st AN R 32 s
W RHFIERNFE - LHEENE S RRERARE
KHEY o

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK

o We also engaged an independent valuation expert
to assist us in assessing the appropriateness of
methodologies used and the reasonableness of
the key estimates and assumptions applied in the
valuations. We have also conducted a sensitivity
analysis over the key inputs.

. BPTRERTBILGEEER B RMTEEEER
B8 AR 75 R BV 38 & 1 LUK PR % AR B SR (ST AT R 3 B9
BIEM - RMUSET 7 AR E ABBRSRE D -

° We checked the accuracy and relevance of the input
data used in the valuations.

. FMIEE 7 5T R A RV B A B Y ZE FE 14 A0 A8 B
Mo

We found the key estimates and assumptions used in the
valuation of other financial assets were supported by the
available evidences. We also assessed the adequacy of
the Group’s disclosures about the valuation of investments
classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy in the
consolidated financial statements.
BMBERAMEREEGLERERNBARMGHNERREE
THRARBENXZF RMEFLTERGRSUBRRITA
BATEERRADEAE=RINKEENKEZES R
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Mr. Lo Kin Kei.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Kin Kei

Practising Certificate Number: P06413
Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L0SS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEBRmkH

fthz=ml =R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HE_ZT__F+_FB=+—HIEE

2022 2021
—g-C —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5 FET T
Revenue KA
- Sales of metal —HEEE 34,548 9,387
- Education management services —HABEERY 13,793 4,545
Total revenue U A 4B ZE 5 48,341 13,932
Trading gains on commodity EEEmERASONKG
forward contracts 59 43
Other income H AUz 6 558 79
48,958 14,054
Carrying value of inventories sold BEFEZ EEETE (34,062) (9,413)
Change in fair value of commodity EREEZ AT EEE
inventories 5 (21)
Depreciation on property, ME- R MREBEITE
plant and equipment 13 (1,212) (1,193)
Depreciation on right-of-use assets  FAEEETE 14 (2,392) (2,758)
Employee costs fEE A 7 (13,169) (18,507)
Fair value changes on HEMMEmMEBEEZ A FEE
other financial assets (170) -
Other operating expenses HM& SR (14,198) (11,553)
Provision of loss allowance on iR E 5 R EMEWRIE
trade and other receivables [EEi=bedi] (214) (200)
Rental expenses HEMRX (1,435) (1,399)
Share of loss of an associate DME—REBE A BB (4,787) (378)
Finance costs SR A 9 (219) (131)
Loss before income tax expense PRPTEMMFEZAIETE 10 (22,895) (31,499)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frisf (BR) &% 11 (269) 139
Loss for the year FERE (23,164) (31,360)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L0SS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEmRkHEMERRE R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

2022 2021
g T4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
M 5F FET TAETT
Other comprehensive Hhz2m (F518) a
(loss)/income
Items that may be reclassified B EBEN FEEEm L
subsequently to profit or loss: EE
Exchange differences on MEBINEBEE
translating foreign operations PERERR (1,280) 392
Other comprehensive (loss)/ FEEHMZmE (558 s
income for the year, Npx#IE
net of tax (1,280) 392
Total comprehensive loss FEEmMEBIEEE
for the year (24,444) (30,968)
Loss for the year attributable to: WM TFTATHEEEE
B5i8 ©
— Owners of the Company . /N=TEZ TN 12 (22,074) (29,159)
- Non-controlling interests —JEERR S 31 (1,090) (2,201)
(23,164) (31,360)
Total comprehensive loss UFTALTEGEERZR
for the year attributable to: FiE4REE -
— owners of the Company —KRNEBEEBA (23,153) (28,954)
- non-controlling interests —JEEER R 31 (1,291) (2,014)
(24,444) (30,968)
Loss per share attributable to FRAFATEE AEMN
owners of the Company during SkEsE (BrxkigE)
the year (basic and diluted) 12 (2.66) (3.93)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated FEMI Z i st X S S M H MK =2 — 56
financial statements. e

BIRERARAD | TR "EER 107



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PoSITION

mEMBRRR

As at 31 December 2022 M_ZE__F+_F=+—H

2022 2021
T —EF—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FAET FAET
Non-current assets ERBMEE
Property, plant and equipment ME--BEREZE 13 1,249 2,574
Right-of-use assets FTHREEE 14 6,338 5,186
Interest in an associate R—EE B 2 #m 15 2,916 7,703
Other financial assets HithemEE 16 4,280 5,500
14,783 20,963
Current assets RENEE
Inventories T8 17 261 256
Trade and other receivables and B 5 K H i FE W R IE K
prepayments A FRIB 18 29,424 12,915
Loan receivable W E R 19 = -
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 20 4,180 20,880
33,865 34,051
Current liabilities RENEE
Other payables and accruals HihEANHIBRESTER 21 2,204 2,033
Borrowings & 22 12,050 -
Contract liabilities =EIENE 23 4,215 -
Tax payable FETIRIE 72 -
Lease liabilities HEAaE 14 2,035 2,667
20,576 4,700
Net current assets REBEERE 13,289 29,351
Total assets less current liabilities B EAER T EE 28,072 50,314
Non-current liabilities EFHEaE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEIRIE B R 24 194 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 14 4,602 2,594
4,796 2,594
Net assets HEERE 23,276 47,720
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBRARR

As at 31 December 2022 R_Z__F+_F=+—H
2022 2021
—E-C =T —F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
fd 5% FET TAETT
Equity i

Share capital A& s 25 188,348 188,348
Reserves Eei] (165,072) (141,632)

Equity attributable to AT AEGLERS
the owners of the Company 23,276 46,716
Non-controlling interests JEER R 31 - 1,004
Total equity i 23,276 47,720

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized
for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 2023 and signed on

its behalf by:

Wang Wendong
EXR

Director

EF

BIRIERBRAAF |

—= — —

—_=——

1 3R

HREMBRERN_Z_=ZF=RF_+HAE
EFEHAERRETETHTNALAESR
L

Fung Chi Kin

BER
Director

EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQuUITY

mMEEmE2ER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HE_ZT__F+_FB=+—HIEE

Equity- Equity
settled attributable
share-based to owners Non-
Share Merger payment  Statutory Translation Accumulated ofthe  controlling Total
capital reserve’ reserve’ reserve” reserve’ Losses' ~ Company interests equity
NREEEZ 525
RER BEA
RE  AHERE  BAERE  IEEET  RERE  RAEE RGEE  FERER 3
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mgk TEn TEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TEn TEn TEn TER
(Note 31)
(H5£31)
s 1 January 2021 HoE--£-F-8 161,112 (1,357) 7,000 1647 669 (121509 47,68 3655 5123
Loss for the year EEER - - - - S ey peis) 2 (31,360
Other comprehensive income for the year: FEEMRENE:
Exchange differences on translating BEENBELZERER
foreign operation - - - - 205 - 205 187 392
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEREGELR - - - - 206 29,159) (28,954) (2,014 (30,968)
Capital injection by non-controling interest FERERTE - - - - - - - 466 466
Issue of new shares by way of placements NRERRETHEN % 27,647 - - - - - 27,647 - 27,647
Transaction costs attibutable to issue of shares &R AR B AA 2% (a11) - - - - - (1) - (411)
Acquisition of non-controling interest of WE-ERBARERRER
a subsidiary - - - - - 20 20 (1,103) (1,083)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based BALREEE 2 ROERAH
payments 26 - - 846 - - - 846 - 846
As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022
188,348 (1,357) 7,846 1,647 874 (150,642) 46,716 1,004 47,120
Loss for the year - - - - - (22,074) (22,074) (1,090) (23,164)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: E, Jﬂ%@iﬂ?ﬁ .
Exchange differences on translating HEENEEELVERER
foreign operation - - - - (1,079) - (1,079 (201) (1,280)
Total comprehensive loss for the year TEZARRLEE - - - - (1,079) (22,074) (28,153) (1,201) (04,444)
Acquisition of non-controling Interest WE-EHEAR
of a subsidiary FrpEs . = . . = (287) (287) 287 -
Transfer of statutory reserve &Eﬁﬂ aE - - - 585 - (585) - - -
Expired share option BRENE - - (7,757) - - 7,757 - - -
As at 31 December 2022 WoBzz#+zA=+-A 183,348 (1,357) % 2,232 (205 (165831) 23276 N

HK$165,072,000 (2021:
statement of financial position.

Statutory reserves

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately
approximately HK$141,632,000) in the consolidated

&%ﬁ%ﬁﬁa@%mﬂ?éﬁﬂ&#/ﬁﬁmmw
GE# 165,072,000 T (ZE - —4
141,632,000 7T) ©

EE R

In accordance with the “Law of the PRC on Enterprises Operated Exclusively
with Foreign Capital” and the Articles of Association of those subsidiaries of the
Group, which are wholly foreign owned enterprises in the PRC Mainland, an
appropriation to the Statutory Reserve from the statutory net profit after offsetting
accumulated losses of previous years should be made prior to profit distribution
to the shareholders. The appropriation for the Reserve Fund is no less than 10%
of the statutory net profit and it can cease to accrue when the accumulated
appropriation exceeds 50% of the registered capital. For the year ended 31
December 2022, the appropriation for the Reserve Fund is 10% (2021: 10%) of
the statutory net profits of the year for the subsidiaries in the PRC Mainland.

BN Z Bl ZRERS

RB(PEIEREE)REERBETZENE
AE (HRE P SNEBE ) FEMSZA

A RSB T FEENRABER  RRRES
w A KB AR A E MR B EEE B L

MDA DRIEEAFIN10% > ERIR RS

FEBBEMERSONFEILRB-HE_T -

F+ZA=+—HULEFE TREAMBKEL

ziﬁ@ﬁ%jﬁ%fﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁgiiiﬂﬂ%0% (Z==—
10%) °

MBEREZ—

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLowsS

A

SR %

e — |
7;’?53

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E—-_ ==
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5F FET TAETT
Cash flows from operating RETHEENRERE
activities
Loss before income tax FRPTIS R AT 1E (22,895) (31,499)
Adjustments for: LTI EHBE ©
Change in fair value of commodity HmEEZ AT EEE
inventories (5) 21
Depreciation of property, ME BERKEITE
plant and equipment 13 1,212 1,193
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {EFEZEFE 14 2,392 2,758
Employee share option expenses EEERKRERS 26 - 846
Fair value changes on other HttemBEEZ
financial assets N EEH 170 -
Interest income B WA (18) (32)
Interest expenses MEMEZ 219 131
Provision of loss allowance on iR E SR EMEWRIE
trade and other receivables B R E 214 200
Share of loss of an associate PME—REBE AR E 4,787 378
Gain on lease early termination AR IERE RS (89) -
Trading gains on commodity EERmERAGAN
forward contracts Wz (59) (43)
Operating cash flows before SEESEHIN
changes in working capital REWRERE (14,072) (26,047)
Increase in trade and B 5 kEMEWRRIEMUE
other receivables and FEA FRIEIE A0
prepayments (18,229) (4,770)
Increase in other payables and HihERIBEKRETER
accruals A0 171 132
Increase in contract liabilities SRS EEM 4,355 -
Cash used in operation KECTEPTREMNIR S (27,775) (30,685)
Income taxes paid BIFREH = (23)
Net cash used in Fig—dr3-2/179::1:0)
operating activities B FEE (27,775) (30,708)

BIRERBRAR | 2=

1 3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLowsS

mEREME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2022 2021
—g-C —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5F FET T
Cash flows from investing BREZHEENRERE
activities
Interest received BUHE 6 17
Acquisition of non-controlling WE—ENB AR EERER
interest of a subsidiary - (1,083)
Proceed from disposal of HEHEMESMEEZRIE
other financial asset 1,050 -
Purchases of property, BEYE BEREE
plant and equipment 13 - (1,186)
Net cash generated from/ REZHEL “(FTHE)H
(used in) investing activities B8 1,056 (2,252)
Cash flows from financing MEIHEENRERE
activities
Capital injected into a subsidiary by — JE4% B& #E % 16) — 51 B /BB
non-controlling interest AE = 466
Interest element of lease ENHEE MR EE 5D
payment paid 9 (152) (92)
Interest paid [SXNEURSS 9 (67) (39)
Issuance cost attributable to BEITRERMIEEN
issue of placing shares BT A 25 = (411)
Proceeds from issue of new shares ~ WEZE H N EITH RN
by way of placements PS8 25 - 27,647
Repayments of capital element of HENRERIDER
lease payment (2,048) (2,716)
Proceeds from borrowings SRS RIA 13,560 3,000
Repayments of borrowings BERWIER (1,510) (3,000)
Net cash generated from financing # & ;ZBE LI 2555
activities 9,783 24,855
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLowsS

mERE

B =
7;’?55

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

2022 2021
—ZE-C B —
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
M5 FET TAETT
Net decrease in cash and BERBELZEBY L FEE
cash equivalents (16,936) (8,105)
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERAEEEY
beginning of the year 20,880 28,964
Effect of foreign exchange rate 41 B BB =B PN R &
changes 236 21
Cash and cash equivalents FRAERAEEEY
at end of the year 4,180 20,880
Analysis of the balances of cash RE&EKRIREZXEWEROIR
and cash equivalents
Cash at banks and on hand BT AFHERES 20 4,180 20,880

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R

SRR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares
are listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 5 August
2014. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business are Unit 401, 4/F., Fairmont House, 8 Cotton
Tree Drive, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
principally engaged in trading of metal and metal supply
chain business in Hong Kong and the mainland of the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC Mainland”), provision
of education management services in the PRC Mainland and
provision of money lending services in Hong Kong.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$’000”), unless
otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements were
approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on
24 March 2023.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622 (“CO”). In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”).

—REH

BIRZEKRBRAR (AT 5—FE
REBFMBILNBRAR  HEMHMV
TE-NENBREAREAEHERS
FrBERAT (TEk3ZER)) GEM L1 o 5E
MEERTESEMU MU AETSR
SIBA IR ESGIRER B K[E418401= 0

FABDBREERAT AR REW
BAE (i THERH) TENEER
hEARAME AN (TFREAM) 1
ETBESREBHBRER THEH
N IE A B EEIRT R & BRRH#
PAEARFS ©

BRIESBEER SRZERGMBRE
TS T8t ((FRRT)) BEYIR %
FEAUBBRERENR - _=F=2
“HHHEESREREREET

EXREHEHRE

MUEZEGEOVBREMERNEIE
SR BRRBN TX - BRIFSERR Z
SHREEWERRAEZNNFMAESE
o

21 REUEE
FEMBRRILIBES B S
~Ng ((ERAGHEAAE)) BEAN
FMTEBEREBVBEHRSELN (TE
BRBEREERN) ZEBOE
FMEEBRNENEEAEMBRE
ZA) - EEIHEN (THFEEE
FHER ) R2RE-FBERARBE:
FRAREBLFF6228F A B K
B (TABHEGIL) Z3RE o>
EEVBERREEEABEGR
SPERAGGEME =S EmRE]
(TGEM LA ERkEH
IWERA -

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
[7177 O = |

Rt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

BIRIERBRAAF |

Basis of preparation (continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
inventories and financial instruments that are measured at
fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”
(“HKFRS 27), leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS
16”), and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realizable
value in HKAS 2 “/nventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.

B _FER

2. EATHBEHSE (&

2.1

SRR (2
AR BERRDREEASEE
BN EETEERSBIAT
BATE R

BEEmAE—REERARXBRER
EBHBMZMREZ QT ES
o

ATEENRFEARTSE2HEE
BRERFRXZTHEEEM
WEHEEaRAXNZER.
MmAmZBRB U ERHREN
B EREMMGES AMGS -
RESFEERERZAFER:
FEEGERZSEHHSHEER
StEOMNEENAEEEBRFR
ERZEENERZFH N
EFREMBRERPIEFER
RERBZRFENRIEEES
EoMEUTEERERN  BREAR
MBREERB2R R ERS
) (ERMBREENFE2R)
BLEINZURD BHRERZ
ZREEBMHHREERF16
RIHE (BERAMBREENS
165%)) ARRZHEERZ  UkHE
SFEHEATEZAEBFAERLEM
Pz @R BIWIFRAFE HNEE
gt BRI FE I 2 P #IRF
BEXNEBGHERISEIHKEE
HEIZEREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the
accounting policies of the Group. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note

4.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies
(i) New and amended standards adopted by the

Group

The Group has applied the following new and
revised standards and amendments for the first time

in the current year:

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37
Amendments to
HKFRS 3
Amendments to
HKFRSs

Accounting Guideline 5
(revised)

116

Property, Plant and
Equipment - Proceeds before
Intended Use

Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations

2.

EXGHBEHRE (&

2.1

2.2

REEBVMBERSERNRRES
MERRBEERAETEKRGS
G5t HMEREEERHEB A
EE G5t BURBRE PITEH B o
B B S AR R RO
5 WS RENGEMBRERME
HEARRKREEIEE > 1
B SE 44 25 o

BEHHEREH

(i) FEEBFRAEIAZTRAEIEET
A
AERNKTEFEERERT
ST E] M AEAE 5T 2 R B 5T
PN

FREHER NE BER
163 (B5TEF)  REIFRE
BRIz
FriSmIR
FREstE BRAEN-ET
Harsk (BsIK)  GHBEE

EEMBRIER  ASERSIE

H35; (B3] %)
BEMBREEN BRAYBRISE
CHES AZE-0\f&
S
BHZEE
B
&5t55/ 555 HEEH A HH
(&2]) aftgstEE

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
(i) New and amended standards adopted by the

Group (continued)
The application of the amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year had no material impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial positions and
consolidated performance for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

(ii) The Group has not early applied the following

new and amendments to HKFRSs that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 and amendments Insurance Contracts and the

to HKFRS 17 Related Amendments’
Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback®
Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK

2. BEAGHHBEREHE &)

2.2 EHBRER &)

()

(i)

FE IR BIFT T R AENEET
A (&)
REFERBZEBUBR
HEAZESTHAERRA
FERBEFEZAEEGME
KRR ERE R, HEZ
FREMBRERMFZIRE
BENTEERTE

# L AR THIE
A 1E % E W OIRATE %
MBS BAIRE BB
ERAIELTH
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RAETRR REE
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BRI
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BEENBRE REZHEHE
EBF105%R NEZAED

ERGTER RZENEE
B85 (B314)  HEAEE
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HEAF165 BE&E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
(ii) The Group has not early applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective:

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of

HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Accounting Policies’

Definition of Accounting
Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

20283.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January
2024.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable

future.

2. EATHBEHSE (&

2.2 EHBIEEE (&

(i)

FEE Y FEIEFEETIE
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MBEREERREEFE
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BIRREEYH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting

(a)

BIRIERBRAAF |

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

A business is an integrated set of activities and
assets which includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The acquired processes
are considered substantive if they are critical to
the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organized workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced
without significant cost, effort or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group.

B _FER

2. BEAGHHBEREHE &)

23 FEREDEZERA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

For business combinations in which the acquisition
date is on or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet
the definitions of an asset and a liability in the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
issued by HKICPA in March 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) except for transactions and events
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(FRIC) 21, in
which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC) 21
instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.

Intra-company transactions, balances, cash flows
and unrealized gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated in full. Unrealized
losses resulting from Intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination,
the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(a)

(b)

BIRIERBRAAF |

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to
the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-
controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of
the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less impairment losses, unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

Associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group or
Company has significant influence but not control
or joint control, over its management, including
participation in the financial and operating policy
decisions. This is generally the case where the
Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investment in an associate is accounted for
in the consolidated financial statements under the
equity method of accounting (Note 2.3(c)), after
initially being recognized at cost.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Associate (continued)

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognized in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former investee at the date when significant
influence is lost is recognized at fair value and
this amount is regarded at the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset.

Equity method

Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of
the investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and
any direct investment into the associate that forms
part of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter,
the investment is adjusted for the post-acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the
investment. Any acquisition date excess over cost,
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-
tax results of the investees and any impairment
losses for the year are recognized in the profit
or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition post-tax items of the investees’ other
comprehensive income is recognized in the other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from an associate is recognized as a
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting
(continued)

(c)

(d)

BIRIERBRAAF |

Equity method (continued)

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest
in the entity, including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, the Group does not recognize
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealized profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associate
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in
the investee, except where unrealized losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred,
in which case they are recognized immediately
in profit or loss. Accounting policies of equity-
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy described in Note 2.8.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group.
A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognized in a separate reserve
within equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Principals of consolidation and equity accounting

(continued)

(d) Changes in ownership interests (continued)
When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognized in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognized
in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

2.4 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-makers. The chief operating decision-makers,
who are responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, have
been identified as the executive directors of the Company
that make strategic decisions.

2.6

BIRIERBRAAF |

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”).

The functional currency of some subsidiaries
is United States dollar (“US$”). The functional
currency of the subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC Mainland is Renminbi (“RMB”). However, the
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”) instead of its functional currency as
the directors of the Company consider that HK$ is a
more appropriate presentation currency in view of its
principal place of financing activities.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognized in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges
or are attributable to part of the net investment in a
foreign operation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Transactions and balances (continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the profit or loss on a net basis.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets and
liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are recognized in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets such
as equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) are recognized
in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each consolidated
statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the reporting
date;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

(d)

BIRIERBRAAF |

Group companies (continued)

o income and expenses for each consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rate (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

o all resulting exchange differences are
recognized in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognized in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or any
borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Partial disposal of foreign operation

On partial disposal that does not result in the
Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, the proportionate share of
accumulated currency translation differences
is re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
is not recognized in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s
ownership interest in associates or joint ventures
that do not result in the Group losing significant
influence or joint control), the proportionate share of
the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified
to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. BEAXGHHBRME (&
POLICIES (continued)
2.7 Property, plant and equipment 2.7 ME-BERSEE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any). Historical cost includes its
purchase price and the expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of any component accounted for as a
separate asset is derecognized when replaced. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss
during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over
their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold
improvements, the shorter lease term as follows:

Over the shorter of
3 years and the

Leasehold improvements

remaining
lease terms
Equipment and computer 3-4 years
software
Furniture and fixture 4-5 years
Motor vehicle 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

BIRIERBRAAF |

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold,
it is the Group’s policy to transfer any amounts included in
other reserves in respect of those assets to accumulated
losses.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortization and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the
end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized
on a trade date or settlement date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS 15”). Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortized cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

2.

EXGHBEHRE (&

2.9

EWMIA
TMEERTHEGEERERE
RABERIAESNRXH—HE
R -PTETHMEEZHEES
Th R % A48 A & LE
B -HREBEEAREBENER
BISKIBAIFE L 2 RIBR AR (T & &
ZEMEEES-

THEERTREERIERAD
FEFE FRINRRBEEEME
HREENSIEFELASHUA
(TERMBHREENF155)
STEMERANELENEZEI
RSN o EE ST AW 31T
THEEREMER BLFE
SHABRmZEMEERETMER
BRIN Z X5 B A o IR A 4a e 58 By
MASREREENETRERZ
RFEHRE WER) - WEEA
FESFABRDZEHREENTH
BREEBGZRFZMA B
st AIBmie

ERMEBZEZAGEARABARE
MEENEREEZBBENERK
MEBWARFNERDEZT
FBRANXDRBEMEENS
MEEERADERFEHN (NE
) BB RER kRN Z R
R 5tIRE (B PRS2 U ER
FEBMERERMNENAEER
RN REB X7 A H A
BEIE) ERMEERGME
SREREFEZA R

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXEHHEHME (&
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
2.9.1 Financial assets

29 £RIA #E)
201 EMEE

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories, which depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the
financial assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows:

o those to be measured at amortized cost;

. those to be measured at FVTOCI; and

o those to be measured at FVTPL.

The Group determines the classification of debt
investments according to its business model and
the contractual cash flow characteristics of the
financial assets. The debt investments shall be
classified as FVTPL if the cash flows characteristics
cannot pass the test on solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount (“SPPI”).
Otherwise, the classification of debt investments
will depend on the business model provided the fair
value option is not elected. Investments in equity
instruments are classified as FVTPL in general,
except for those designated as at FVTOCI.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortized cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash
flows; and
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

29.1 Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (continued)

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except for those at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
(“HKFRS 9”). Initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer
in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
“Business Combinations” (“HKFRS 3”) applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)
In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that is required to be measured at the
amortized cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

BIRIERBRAAF |

Amortized cost and interest income

Interest income is recognized using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortized cost
and debt instruments. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For
financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognized by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortized cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognized by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination
that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

29.1 Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)
(b)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortized cost
or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are

measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period,
with any fair value gains or losses recognized
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss is

recognized in profit or loss.

(c)  Equity instrument

Investments in debt and equity securities
are recognized/derecognized on the date
the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investment. The investments are initially
stated at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs, except for those investments
measured at FVTPL for which transaction costs
are recognized directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines the
fair value of financial instruments is set out in

Note 3.3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(©

BIRIERBRAAF |

Equity instrument (continued)

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVTPL unless the equity investment is
not held for trading purposes and on initial
recognition of the investment the Group
makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling) such
that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognized in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated
in other comprehensive income remains in
the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through
profit or loss. Dividends from an investment
in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are
recognized in profit or loss as other income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

29.1 Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including trade and other receivables, loan
receivable and bank balances which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Financial assets measured at fair value, including
equity securities measured at FVTPL and derivative
financial assets, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date. Assessment is done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXEHHEHME (&
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

29.1 Financial assets (continued)

29 £RIA #E)
291 EHEE (&

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For trade receivables from contracts with customers,
the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL. Therefore, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL without significant
financing component at each reporting date. The
ECL on these assets are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognizes
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognized is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(@)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXEHHREBE (&
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued) 29 £FMIA @&
29.1 Financial assets (continued) 291 £MEE
Impairment of financial assets (continued) EREEE ()
(a)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued) (a) EERPBBARELF
#
In particular, the following information is taken RAl2 TEEEER
into account when assessing whether credit fER A EFER K
risk has increased significantly: EERGERBUTER:
e an actual or expected significant e SR IANR

deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk;

existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(a)

BIRIERBRAAF |

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term and iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfill its contractual
cash flow obligations. The Group considers a
debt instrument to have low credit risk when
it has an internal or external credit rating of
“investment grade” as per globally understood
definitions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(a)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(©

BIRIERBRAAF |

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one
or more events that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization; or

o the disappearance of an active market

for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(d)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written-off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognized in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on the historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
29.1 Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(e)

BIRIERBRAAF |

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continueq)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contracts and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis
or cater for cases where evidence at the
individual instrument level may not yet be
available, the financial instruments are grouped
on the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments;

Past-due status;

e Aging of debtors; and

e External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure that the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortized cost of the financial
asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

29.1 Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset, if the
part being considered for derecognition meets
one of the following conditions: (i) the contractual
rights to receive the cash flows from the financial
asset expire; or (i) the contractual rights to receive
the cash flows of the financial asset have been
transferred, the Group transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset; or (iii) the Group retains the contractual rights
to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash
flows to the eventual recipient in an agreement that
meets all the conditions of derecognition of transfer
of cash flows (“pass through” requirements) and
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset.

Where a transfer of a financial asset in its entirety
meets the criteria for derecognition, the difference
between the two amounts below is recognized in
profit or loss:

° the carrying amount of the financial asset
transferred; and

° the sum of the consideration received from the
transfer and any cumulative gain or loss that
has been recognized directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXEHHEHME (&
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)
292 Financial liabilities and equity

29 £RIA #E)
292 HEEREZ

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognized at the
proceeds received, net of direct issued costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognized and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method
or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when
the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) is
designated as at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

292 Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (continued)

A financial liability is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose °

of repurchasing it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of °
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual

pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is °
a financial guarantee contract or a designated

and effective hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities at amortized cost, including
other payables, accruals and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the

effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
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difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognized and the consideration

paid and payable is recognized in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

293

294

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at
the date when derivative contracts are entered into
and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value
at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss unless
the derivative is designated and effective as a
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of
the hedge relationship.

Fair value on financial instruments

For financial instruments where there is an active
market, the fair value is determined by quoted
prices in active markets. For financial instruments
where there is no active market, the fair value
is determined by using valuation techniques.
Such techniques should be appropriate in the
circumstances for which sufficient data is available,
and the inputs should be consistent with the
objective of estimating the price at which an orderly
transaction to sell the asset or to transfer the liability
would take place between market participants at the
measurement date under current market conditions,
and maximize the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Financial instruments (continued)

294

29.5

Fair value on financial instruments (continued)
Such techniques include using recent prices in arm’s
length transactions, reference to the current market
value of another instrument which is substantially
the same, discounted cash flow analysis and/
or option pricing models. For discounted cash
flow techniques, estimated future cash flows are
based on management’s best estimates and the
discount rate used is a market rate for similar
instruments. Certain financial instruments, including
derivative financial instruments, are valued using
pricing models that consider, among other factors,
contractual and market prices, correlation, time
value of money, credit risk, yield curve volatility
factors and/or prepayment rates of the underlying
positions. The use of different pricing models and
assumptions could produce materially different
estimates of fair values.

Determining whether to classify financial instruments
into level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is generally
based on the significance of the unobservable
factors involved in valuation methodologies.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial
liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognized amounts; and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. EXCHHEEHRE &)
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Leases 2.10 &

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. If the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for
a period of time in exchange for consideration, it is
classified as a lease.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for shorter leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date which
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-
of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use assets
are also subject to impairment. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, as follows:
Properties Over the lease terms plus
extension option period
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R

=

Bt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Leases (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group
recognizes lease liabilities measured at the present value
of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses (unless
they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification (i.e. a change in the lease term (e.g. changes
to future payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change
in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Leases (continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (i.e. those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets
recognition exemption to leases of office equipment
that are considered to be low value. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

2.11 Inventories and other contract costs
(i) Inventories

Inventories mainly represent silver and gold
(“Commodity Inventories”) purchased for the
purpose of selling them in the near future. As
a commodity trader, the Group measures its
Commodity Inventories at fair value less costs to
sell. Commodity Inventories are initially recognized
at cost and subsequently measured at fair value less
costs to sell. Changes in fair value are recognized in
the profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Inventories other than Commodity Inventories are
initially recognized at cost, and subsequently at
the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost
comprises all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. Cost is calculated using
the first-in first-out method. Net realizable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Inventories and other contract costs (continued)

(ii) Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental
costs of obtaining a contract with a customer or
the costs to fulfill a contract with a customer which
are not capitalized as inventory, property, plant and

equipment or intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with
a customer that it would not have incurred if the
contract had not been obtained e.g. an incremental
sales commission. Incremental costs of obtaining a
contract are capitalized when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognized in a future
reporting period and the costs are expected to be
recovered. Other costs of obtaining a contract are

expensed when incurred.

Capitalized contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortization and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognized to the extent
that the carrying amount of the contract cost
asset exceeds the net of () remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in
exchange for the goods or services to which the
asset relates, less (ii) any costs that relate directly to
providing those goods or services that have not yet

been recognized as expenses.

Amortization of capitalized contract costs is charged
to profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset
relates is recognized. The accounting policy for

revenue recognition is set out in Note 2.20.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12

2.13

BIRIERBRAAF |

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade receivables are recognized initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognized at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Note
18 for further information about the Group’s accounting
for trade receivables and Note 3.1 for a description of the
Group’s impairment policies.

Loans receivables

Loans receivables are personal loans granted to
customers in the ordinary course of business. If collection
of loans receivable is expected in one year or less, they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented
as non-current assets.

Loans receivables are recognized initially at fair value

and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14

2.15

2.16

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
and bank overdrafts (if any).

Other payables

Other payables are classified as current liabilities if the
payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortized cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognized in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement
of financial position when the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial
liability that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognized in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17

2.18

BIRIERBRAAF |

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognized in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case,
the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
and associate operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

(a)
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted
for if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilize those temporary differences and
losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognized
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
(b) Deferred income tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

2.19 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

2.20 Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of promised
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those services. Specifically, the Group uses
a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract.

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract.

° Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.20 Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group recognizes revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognized
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognized at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)
2.20 Revenue recognition (continued)
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2.20 WARESR (&

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where
the period between the transfer of the promised goods or
services to the customer and payment by the customer
exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does
not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value
of money.

Revenue from trading of metal and commodity
forward contracts

The Group’s contracts with customers for the trading of
metal generally include a performance obligation and the
revenue from it should be recognized at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the goods.

Certain revenue from trading of metal is mainly arising
from sales of Commodity Inventories (Note 2.11) by
the Group. The Group enters into sale and purchase
agreements for Commodity Inventories with certain
customers and suppliers and under the terms of those
agreements, the selling or purchase price of metal is
determined based on the market price of gold on the
date subsequent to the delivery date as specified by the
customer or supplier.

Trading gains or losses from commodity forward
contracts mainly comprise the gains or losses arising from
the forward contracts which entered into with commodity
traders for hedging commodity price risk.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.20 Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from provision of education management
services

The Group provides several kinds of education related
services to other parties. Revenue is measured at the
consideration received or receivable for the service
provided. The Group recognizes revenue when it
transfers services to a customer. The services include
providing exclusive management and consulting services
(including amongst others student recruitment services,
management support services and staff training services),
equipment and exclusive technology support services
and financing supporting services to the educational
institution. The Group receives education management
services fees and such fees are recognized as revenue
over the period of the relevant education management
services provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
POLICIES (continued)
2.21 Revenue from provision of money lending services

EXGHBEHRE (&

2.21 IREBRERFHAOBA

The Group earned interest income from a loan lent to
a borrower. Such interest income is recognized and
accrued using the effective interest method. When a
loan and receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the
estimated future cash flow discounted at the original
effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest
income on impaired loan and receivables are recognized
using the original effective interest rate applied to the new
carrying amount.

2.22 Employee benefits

(a) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognized in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Other long-term employee benefit obligations
The liabilities for long service leave and annual leave
that are not expected to be settled wholly within
12 months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service. These
obligations are therefore measured as the present
value of expected future payments to be made in
respect of services provided by employees up to
the end of the reporting period using the projected
unit credit method. Consideration is given to
expected future wage and salary levels, experience
of employee departures and periods of service.
Expected future payments are discounted using
market yields at the end of the reporting period
of high-quality corporate bonds with terms and
currencies that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows. Remeasurements
as a result of experience adjustments and changes
in actuarial assumptions are recognized in profit or
loss.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities
in the balance sheet if the entity does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least
twelve months after the reporting period, regardless
of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

BIRIERBRAAF |

Post-employment obligations

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for all of its
employees who are eligible to participate in the
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employee’s relevant income
and are charged to the profit and loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administrated fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except
for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions,
if any, which are refunded to the Group when
the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution
under the MPF scheme is available to reduce the
contribution payable in future years.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC are required to participate
in a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the PRC government. The Group is
required to contribute a certain percentage of basic
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit scheme
is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. No forfeited contribution under the stated-
managed retirement benefit scheme is available to
reduce the contribution payable in future years. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
state-managed retirement benefit scheme.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.23 Share-based payments arrangements

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services, the fair value of the
options at the date of grant is recognized in profit or loss
over the vesting period with a corresponding increase
in the share option reserve within equity. Non-market
vesting conditions are taken into account by adjusting the
number of equity instruments expected to vest at the end
of each reporting period so that, ultimately, the cumulative
amount recognized over the vesting period is based
on the number of options that eventually vest. Market
vesting conditions are factored into the fair value of the
options granted. As long as all other vesting conditions
are satisfied, a charge is made irrespective of whether the
market vesting conditions are satisfied. The cumulative
expense is not adjusted for failure to achieve a market
vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified
before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the
options, measured immediately before and after the
modification, is also recognized in profit or loss over the
remaining vesting period.

Where share options are granted to parties providing
goods or services, the fair value of goods or services
received is recognized in profit or loss unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.
A corresponding increase in share option reserve is
recognized.

When the option is exercised, the relevant amount
recognized in the share option reserve is transferred to
share capital. When the option is forfeited, the relevant
amount recognized in the share option reserve is released
directly to accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24

2.25

BIRIERBRAAF |

Government grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognized
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized when the group has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.26 Loss per share

(a) Basic loss per share
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing:

the loss attributable to owners of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares; and

by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

(b) Diluted loss per share
Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic loss per share to take into
account:

the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares; and

the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.

EXEHBERBE (@

2.26 FiRESE
(a) EHEREZEIE
EREREIER
s AKRRNTEEAEMLES

B AN EEREER
BY BR 75 iR 18 2 AE o) Al
ZN

B LB B B B 4T
T 51 0 2 3 B 10 T
$IB (R 2F PO 3547 0 2
17 R AL I 20 ) ¥ 4138
% TREEERSD)
s

(b) FREFEE
ERBEEEEEBF R T
BREENETSRELRER
FRAREFMmE !

HEBETHENEZ
ZBREBNFE K
H 1t B & B 25 BY BR T
TREEE &

BRRFMERBEHES
MEZEBRESE
o BTN RSN S
Wz AT -

Loco Hong Kong Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

R

==

Rt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.27 Related parties

(@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family,

is related to the Group if that person:

(i)

(i

(i)

An

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i

(i)

(iv)

BIRIERBRAAF |

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.27 Related parties (continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

(v  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

(vij Person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments in the normal course of the Group’s business
are market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. These risks
are limited by the Group’s financial management policies
and practices as described below.

(a) Market risk
() Currency risk
Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign exchange rates. The functional
currencies of the Group’s respective principal
subsidiaries are HK$, US$ and RMB.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

()

BIRIERBRAAF |

Currency risk (continued)

For subsidiaries with HK$ and US$ as their
functional currencies, since most of their
transactions and financial instruments are
denominated in HK$ and US$ and HKS$ is
pegged to USS$, their exposure to foreign
currencies risk is minimal.

For subsidiaries operated in the PRC
Mainland, their assets and liabilities are mainly
denominated in RMB.

Fluctuations in the exchange rates of HK$
against RMB will affect the Group’s result
of operations. The Group does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However,
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2022,

management considers that there is no
significant foreign currency risk.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

3.1

(i)

(i)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair
value or cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The loan receivable and
borrowings expose to the fair value interest
rate risk as it is arranged at fixed interest rate.
While bank balances are arranged at variable
which exposed the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk. The directors of the Company
considered the exposure to interest rate risk
in relation to bank balances are insignificant
due to the low level of bank interest rate.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis for interest
rate risk is presented.

The Group manages interest rate risk by
monitoring its interest rate profile. The Group
conducts periodical review to determine
preferred interest rates mix appropriate for the
business profile. The Group has not used any
interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its financial assets measured at
FVTPL.

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(iii)

BIRIERBRAAF |

Price risk (continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of
investments decrease as a result of changes
in the levels of equity indices and the value of
individual investment. The Group is exposed
to equity price risk arising from financial assets
measured at FVTPL.

If prices had been 10% higher/lower, the
Group’s loss before income tax expense
for the year would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$428,000 (2021:
approximately HK$550,000). This is mainly due
to the changes in fair value of financial assets
measured at FVTPL at the end of the reporting
period.

The management will monitor the equity price
risk and take appropriate actions should the
need arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

3.

SRR RN

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from other financial assets,
trade and other receivables, loan receivable and
bank balances. The Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure
to perform their obligations as at the end of the
reporting date in relation to each class of recognized
financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

The credit risk of bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with sound credit
ratings assigned by international credit rating

agencies.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
its trade and other receivables and loan receivable.
In order to minimize the credit risk, the Group
has applied the simplified and general approach
under HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL or 12m ECL. The Group considers the
probability of default upon initial recognition of asset
and whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
the reporting period. To assess whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default
as at the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking

information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. HERAKRER &
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

(continued)

3.1 MBEAREER (&
(b) EERE (&

The Group uses four categories for those
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how
the loss provision is determined for each of those
categories. These internal credit risk ratings are

aligned to external credit ratings.

The following table shows the Group’s credit risk

AEBHEBWRIERA T
BRI R REEE R X

R 90 el B E &%

Rl ik

o & F MBS B AT 4R
ELSNEBIS B ETARAETT ©

TRITAEBNEERR

grading framework: FTARNELZR ©
Basis for recognition of ECL
BHREEBREDNESE
Trade Other financial
Category Group definition of category receivables assets
#5 R ABRER BRREWHRIE HttEREE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has not  Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and that are not credit-impaired (refer to as Stage 1)
B4 BAORBRBIBEMERILREERR T REZIEM 2HTRER 1218 5 ¥4
BUYREERENESHEE BAFIBE EEBE EEBE
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant increase ~ Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
in credit risk since initial recognition but that are not credit- not credit- not credit-
impaired (refer to as Stage 2) impaired impaired
2 BRI UREERBBZEN KT REERERN FHITER FHITEH
THEE BAFMER) FEBE- EEBE—
BEEERE BEERE
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit-impaired when one or more  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future credit- credit-
cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3) impaired impaired
X EE-BEYU R EREEMFRRRSRER T FHITER FHITEH
TENBHR cHEETEALREEAE EEBE- EEBE-
(R F3MER) EERE E&RHE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial Amount is Amount is
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery written off written off
i3 BRBENEBEALEYREMBRNEEREE ssza i EEE

BIRERBRAR | 2=

WESREEREME

FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies individual assessment to
measure the expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9 as stated in below:

The expected credit loss rates applied in the
individual assessment are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and internal credit rating by
reference to a study of other corporates’ default
and recovery data from international credit-rating
agencies, and are adjusted for forward-looking
information (for example, the current and forecasted
economic growth rates in Hong Kong and/or the
PRC Mainland, which reflect the general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors
operate) that is available without undue costs or
efforts. Such forward-looking information is used
by the management of the Group to assess both
the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting dates.

Relevant information with regard to the exposure
of credit risk and expected credit losses for trade
and other receivables and loan receivable as at 31
December 2021 and 2022 are set out in Notes 18
and 19.

The Group made no write-off on trade and other
receivables, and loan receivable during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1
(b)

(c)

BIRIERBRAAF |

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Concentration of credit risk

The Group has concentration of credit risk in trade
and other receivables as there were 4 customers
(2021: 4 customers) which individually contributed
over 10% of the Group’s trade and other
receivables. The aggregate amounts of trade
and other receivables from these customers
amounted to 42.79% of the Group’s total trade
and other receivables as at 31 December 2022
(2021: 89.98%). The Group has categorized these
customers as “Performing” and determined its loss
allowance based on lifetime ECL.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with
its financial liabilities, borrowings and lease liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity
risk in respect of settlement of payables and its
financing obligations, and also in respect of its cash
flow management. The Group’s policy is to regularly
monitor current and expected liquidity requirements
and its compliance with lending covenants to ensure
that the Group maintains sufficient reserves of cash
from business. The liquidity policy has been followed
by the Group since prior years and is considered to
have been effective in managing liquidity risks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

3.

=

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1

Bt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table below details the remaining
contractual maturities at the reporting date of
the Group’s financial liabilities, borrowings and
lease liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date the
Group can be required to pay. Balances within 1
year other than borrowings and lease liabilities,
equal their carrying balances as impact from

MBRMERE (&
3.1 MBERER (&

(c)

HBEEmEE (&

TRERGHURMBEBERE A
ERTEBREEBBAM
ENRFHAFARER
THEFE EMREEARE
RERE B HER TSR
1B o i —F AN B HA RV A5 R
(EmMKBEE& BRI 8
ENHEKREEER RAR

discounting is not significant. BN EEREKR
On demand
or within 1 Between 1 Between
year to2years 2to5years Total
BERN
—FR —EmE REELF et
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FETT FETT FAETT FAET
As at 31 December 2022
WZE-ZZ%+Z-H=+—H
Other payables and accruals 2,204 - - 2,204
HMENMIERES &R
Borrowings 12,199 - - 12,199
= E
Lease liabilities 2,282 1,976 2,978 7,236
HEaRE
16,685 1,976 2,978 21,639
As at 31 December 2021
R ZEZ—F+ZA=+—H
Other payables and accruals 2,033 - - 2,033
HMENRIERES &R
Lease liabilities 2,767 1,787 854 5,408
HE&RE
4,800 1,787 854 7,441
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3. MBAEAKREE (&

3.2 Capital management 3.2 BFER
The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital KEREEEANFEBERARF
are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern EAERFESENE I B
in order to provide maximize returns for shareholders EO SRS R EREI IR 2 H A
and benefits for other stakeholders. The Group’s capital MEBEBHRMF - AEBZERG
structure is regularly reviewed and managed by the BHARDESETHERIRE
directors of the Company. Adjustments are made to B-BERNEELEEB LK
the capital structure in light of changes in economic MRS HE R EEFR AR
conditions affecting the Group.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the AERFARABRERNREE AEE
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, AEZHEBERVTERENRES
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain B-ARERREES ZETHR
new borrowings or sell assets to reduce debt. D REHMERSIEHEEELUR
DEF o
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing KEEMNBAEABRIERERHE
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total B AR o b EE R R FEFE PR LA
capital. Net debt comprise total interest-bearing liabilities BEAGHE FEHERESTEAR
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated HWERREAREEEBY - BE
as equity attributable to the owners of the Company as KRB HEE ANEGHED (W0
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position EEMBERRERFMT) NFER
plus net debt. The Group is not subject to externally Met & o AEE B BESTINL
imposed capital requirements. T EARRE ©
As at 31 December 2021 and 2022, the gearing ratios N2 KRB _F+_H
were as follows: —t+—B > EXEBR/LENT
2022 2021
—g_-C -
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 F&T TAETT
Borrowings B 22 12,050 -
Lease liabilities HE&E 14 6,637 5,261
Less: cash and cash equivalents 78 : IR& RIBEEEY) 20 (4,180) (20,880)
Net debt BIETS 14,507 -
Total equity AR 23,276 46,716
Total capital BER 37,783 46,716
Gearing ratio BEASELEE 38.4% N/A 4 A

—= — —

—_=——
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

The Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that
are not measured at fair value mainly include trade
and other receivables, loan receivable, cash and cash
equivalents, other payables and accruals, borrowings
and lease liabilities. Due to their short-term nature, the
carrying value of these financial instruments approximates
its fair value.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis.

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial instruments are determined (in
particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as
well as the level of the fair value measurement hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorized
(levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable.

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 fair value measurements are those
derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 2:

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3 (unobservable

inputs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. HERAKRER &
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 RFEMGE &

Fair value as at

31 December Fair Valuation
B+ZB=+—BHAFE value technique(s)
2022 2021 hierarchy and key input(s)
—¥IE ZT-F PTEER GERNRARBARE
Notes HK’$000 HK'$000
ik FHAT TAT
Financial assets at FVTPL
BATEAARZNERNEE
- Unlisted equity securities 16 4,280 5,500 Level3 Market approach
—JFLmEAES E=H miEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBHRRKN

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MHBEKREE (&)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 RFEMGE &
The following table summarizes the quantitative TERBANR_ZEZ—FEZE
information about the significant unobservable inputs __FE+ZRA=1t—H&T®E=4
used in level 3 fair value measurements as at 31 NEEFEFFEANBERERTR
December 2021 and 2022: ARG AMBNEEER
2022
—E-=
Significant Range of inputs Sensitivity of
Fair Valuation  unobservable (probability-weighted fair value
Description value technique input average) to the input
EXTAHE BAYEHE ATEHBARREN
fiit ATE HERT BARE (BEEMEF9E  BRE
HK$’000
FET
Unlisted equity securities A 4,280 Market Price to book ~ 0.78 to 0.96 Approximately HK$3.9
approach ratio (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
the input adopted) HK$4.7 million
JFERRAESFA 4280 % [ 0.78%0.96 MIORBATTE
GEEan NG NATEBET
BAHIE+/-10%)

Discount for 14.7% to 18% Approximately HK$4.2
lack of (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
marketability the input adopted) HK$4.4 million

BRZHBRENE 147%E18% H42EEBTE
i GEEan s Na4BEET

BIAEE+/-10%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

AHE+/-10%)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MBRAMERE @
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 RTFEMGEH &=
2021
B —F
Significant Range of inputs Sensitivity of
Fair Valuation  unobservable (probability-weighted fair value
Description value technique input average) to the input
EXFUHE BAHEGEE ATEHBAYREN
it AFE HERKTE BARE (BEEMEF9E  BRE
HK$’000
FET
Unlisted equity securities A 4,500 Market Price to book ~ 0.71 t0 0.87 Approximately HK$4.1
approach ratio (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
the input adopted) HK$4.8 million
JEERRAESFA 4500 TIEE [ 0.71%£0.87 MAEBETE
GEEan N R H48BEEBAT
BABIE/-10%)
Discount for 8.9% t0 10.8% Approximately HK$4.4
lack of (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
marketability the input adopted) HK$4.5 million
HRZHERENE 8.9%F10.8% Ke4BBRATE
EiE GEEan e H45EBAT
BAHIE+/-10%)
Unlisted equity securities B 1,000  Market Enterprise value 6.39 to 7.80 Approximately HK$0.9
approach to sales ratio (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
the input adopted) HK$1.0 million
JFEHRAESB 1,000 mHE TEBEHHEE 6.3927.80 K0.9BEATE
(EERFEMNNE 10585 n
ABIE+/-10%)
Price to sales  6.33to 7.74 Approximately HK$0.9
ratio (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
the input adopted) HK$1.0 million
i 2ES 6.33%7.74 MOOREATE
(EERFEANE 10885 n
AEE+/-10%)
Discount for lack 18.3% to 22.3% Approximately HK$0.9
of marketability ~ (+/-10% relative to million to approximately
the input adopted) HK$1.0 million
BZmERAENE 18.3%%£22.3% MO9EEEBTE
i (EHRPEMNE Q10585 n
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continueq)

Reconciliation of movements in Level 3 financial
instruments measured at fair value is as follows:

MBREAKER (&

3.3

RTEEE (2
BATEHBNE=REBTE
BEZHENT :

Unlisted equity financial
assets at FVTPL

HATESAEZN

JEEHREEMEE
2022 2021
—E-C T4
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M &% FET T
As at 1 January w—B—H 5,500 5,500
Disposal during the year REAHE (1,050) -

Fair value losses charged in BEDNRNAFEREE

profit or loss (170) -
As at 31 December “+-HA=+—H 16 4,280 5,500

There were no transfers between the different levels of
the fair value hierarchy for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2022.

In estimating the fair value of the unlisted equity
securities, the Group engaged an independent third-party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation. Management
works closely with the qualified external valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model based on market conditions existing at the
end of each reporting period. The management reports
the management’s findings to the board of directors of
the Company to explain the cause of fluctuations in the
fair value of the unlisted equity securities.

REE_ZE-_—FKF_FE-_
+ZB=+—BLEEE FEHK
B HYA FAE B 4R 2 5 15 4 a2 o

PRAEEHIF EMRAESFHATE
B AEEZBBIS=HEE
BAEMETHE - BEEEHEN
BoERGEMBEYSE BN
RERSHREANTRETEY
ZEAGENGEERMTARBAR
B-EEERAAADEFTTER
EEENHEEER MREFLD
REFEFAFEKERRA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATES UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgment,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, other key sources of
estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within next financial year are as follows:

Estimation of recoverability of trade and other
receivables and loan receivable

The directors of the Company estimate the amount of loss
allowance for trade and other receivable and loan receivable
based on the credit risk of trade and other receivables and
loan receivable. The loss allowance amount is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows with the consideration of
expected future credit losses. The assessment of the credit
risk of trade and other receivables and loan receivable involves
high degree of estimation and uncertainty as the directors of
the Company estimates the loss rates for debtors by using past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking
information. When the actual future cash flows are less than
expected or more than expected, a material impairment loss
or a material reversal of impairment loss may arise accordingly.
For details of impairment assessment are set out in Notes 18
and 19.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mAEMBRRNME

R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

4.

CRITICAL JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATES UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Valuation of investments classified as level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy

The Group holds financial instruments that are not traded or
quoted in active markets. The Group uses its judgment to
select the appropriate methods and make assumptions based
on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting
period to estimate the fair value of such financial instruments
classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. Valuation
techniques include the market approach using prices and other
relevant information generated by market transactions involving
identical or comparable assets or liabilities such as net assets
values as provided by an independent third-party qualified
valuers or the discounted last transacted price. Although
the best estimate is used in estimating fair values, there are
inherent limitations in any valuation technique. Estimated fair
values may differ from the values that would have been used if
a readily available market existed. For details of the fair value
estimation are set out in Note 3.3.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the executive directors of the Company,
who are the chief operating decision-makers that are used to
make strategic decision. The Group manages its business by
divisions, which are organized by business lines.

The segments are managed separately as each business offers
different products and requires different business strategies.
The following summary describes the operations in each of the
Group’s reportable and operating segments:

()  Trading of metal — Sales of metal in Hong Kong and the
PRC Mainland.

(i) Money lending services — Provision of money lending
services in Hong Kong.

(i)  Education management services — Provision of education
management services in the PRC Mainland.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ-"F+"HA=+—HILFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment results, assets and liabilities

(a)

The segment information provided to the directors of
the Company for the reportable segments for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2022 are as follows:

5. REEX @)
(a) NBEH -BERKR

BARABDEFSRENEREET

E_—FKR_E_C

F+ZA

=t+—HLEFEZRARENHZ

DEEM ST

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-E--F+-B=t+—HLEFE

Education
Trading of Money lending management
metal services services Total
EBER RER BEEERS st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET THET FTHET THET
Reportable segment revenue (Note) TR EULA (it sE) 34,548 - 13,793 48,341
Reportable segment (loss)/profit iR A& (§538) /& F (7,435) (162) 5,777 (1,820)
Depreciation of property, ME -BERRENE
plant and equipment (22)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEENE (1,583)
Employee costs EBEMAE (8,839)
Interest expenses FSEX (141)
Fair value changes on HthnemEEZ ATEEE
other financial asset 50
Other unallocated corporate expenses  Eftik HEC 2B (10,540)
Loss before income tax expense  BREREMEAZAIEE (22,895)
Income tax expense FiisiEx (269)
Loss for the year EEBR (23,164)
Reportable segment assets AHRENDEE 15,297 190 27,507 42,994
Cash and cash equivalents B RIREEEY 3,385
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERE 20
Right-of-use assets FREEE 1,980
Other unallocated corporate assets Ht R DEGCEEE 269
Consolidated total assets BAEELE 48,648
Additions to specified BREIEREBEEEM
non-current assets - - - -
Reportable segment liabilities ARENHEE 4,597 191 5,037 9,825
Lease liabilities HE&R 2,005
Other unallocated corporate liabilities ~ EffikHEE T2 EE 13,542
Consolidated total liabilities Raafen 25,372

Note: There is no inter-segment revenue for the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. EEH (B
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) (a) ABEEBE - BEEREE E
The segment information provided to the directors of AAABEERENEHAEEC
the Company for the reportable segments for the years - FR-ZZE-Z-_F+-H
ended 31 December 2021 and 2022 are as follows: —t+t—HLEFEZAREDHZ
(continued) DWEREIIWT - (&
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HEZZ--F+ZHA=1+—-BLEE
Education
Trading of Money lending management
metal services services Total
SBES MER YEEBERS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET FET
Reportable segment revenue (Note) TTREHEPUIA (s 9,387 - 4,545 13,932
Reportable segment loss CECEE] ] 38,718) (174) (4,683) (8,575)
Depreciation of property, ME BERXERNE
plant and equipment (144)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEREEEITE (2,110)
Employee costs EEmA (12,124)
Interest expenses BB (108)
Other unallocated corporate expenses ~ Efthk HE %5 % (8,443)
Loss before income tax expense  MREGMREZAIEE (31,499)
Income tax credit FriEE% 139
Loss for the year FEHE (31,360)
Reportable segment assets ARESDEE 17,846 283 20,589 38,718
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 6,995
Property, plant and equipment ME BERRE 38
Right-of-use assets FREEE 4,320
Other financial assets HitemMEE 1,000
Other unallocated corporate assets Ht kDBt EEE 3,943
Consolidated total assets REBERE 55,014
Additions to specified HEERBDEZEM
non-current assets - - 1,180 1,180
Reportable segment liabilities AREFIHERE 1A 282 486 1,485
Lease liabilities HESE 4,393
Other unallocated corporate liabilities ~ Efik DE G2 EE 1,416
Consolidated total liabilities REaELE 7,294

Note: There is no inter-segment revenue for the year.

MIEE @ A BRI o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. SBEN &
Other segment information (b) HttaBER
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE_F-__E+-R=+—HLEE
Education
Trading of Money lending management
metal services services Total
ERE5 MR ERR BEEERS it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET THET TET
Change in fair value of BmEFEATEES
commaodity inventories 5 - - 5
Depreciation of property, NE- -BRRREINE
plant and equipment (756) - (434) (1,190)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREETE (466) (123) (220) (809)
Provision of loss allowance on trade R & 7 R EMEKZE
and other receivables BEEE (72) - (142) (214)
Interest expenses MERZT (14) (6) (58) (78)
Share of loss of an associate AME—BHEREEE (4,787) - - (4,787)
Fair value changes on HSHEEZ AT EEH
other financial asset (220) - - (220)
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_Z_-E+"A=-1+—-HILEE
Education
Trading of Money lending management
metal services services Total
2EES WERE YEEBERS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Change in fair value of HREFEATES
commaodity inventories (21) - - (21)
Depreciation of property, ME BERXENE
plant and equipment 768) - (281) (1,049)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEREEETE (516) (132) - (648)
Reversal of provision/(provision) of BEHR/ GHR) BS R
loss allowance on trade and EpENEIE
other receivables BEEE 12 - 212) (200)
Interest expenses FERX (24) 4) - (28)
Share of loss of an associate AME—BHEREER (378) - - (378)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. SBEN &
(c) Geographical information (c) MU EH

The Company is an investment holding company KAB)B—BREBFEMELY
incorporated in Hong Kong and the principal place of KREERAR MAEENEE
the Group’s operations is Hong Kong. Accordingly, the RSB REE -HIL EEER
management determines that the Group is domiciled in EREENEERHEEM-
Hong Kong.
The Group’s revenue from customers and information KEBEZMBUEEDREEF
about its specified non-current assets, comprising HWARBEBEREIFEREIEE
property, plant and equipment, interest in an associate BIEME - KREREE R —EH
and right-of-use assets, by geographical location are ENBZEGRERAEEENE
detailed below: BIEFIEWT !

Revenue from customers™

KEEEHBKA
2022 2021
—E-C BT —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THET
Hong Kong 5% 12,386 9,387
PRC Mainland R 5] g 3 35,955 4,545
48,341 13,932

* Based on location of customers. * RERWAES D

Specified non-current assets

REIFRBEE
2022 2021
—E-C B —
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT T
Hong Kong 5% 5,348 13,809
PRC Mainland PR ] P dth 5,155 1,654
10,503 15,463
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(d) Disaggregation of revenue

4= A

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

5.

For the year ended 31 December 2022

SEEH )

Ha A 53 #f

BE_Z-__H+-A=+-HLEE
Money Education
Trading of lending management
metal services services Total
EEER HEEE BEEEERH b
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
Primary geographical markets ~ T EHE T 15
Hong Kong B 12,386 - - 12,386
PRC Mainland Py 22,162 - 13,793 35,955
34,548 - 13,793 48,341
For the year ended 31 December 2021
HE_Z_—E+"A=1+—-QLEE
Money Education
Trading of lending management
metal services services Total
tEB% BERYE HEEERB Mt
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Primary geographical markets ~ T EME T 5
Hong Kong 58 9,387 - - 9,387
PRC Mainland El 3t - - 4,545 4,545
9,387 - 4,545 13,932
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

5.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(e)

(f)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with

SBWEH (E

(e) REFERESHHNWAD

customers
2022 2021
—E—-— —_ZEF"—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHT BT
By timing of revenue WA ST S5 -
recognition:
Control transferred over time 8 B 151 48 25 T 88 4% O 422 41 48 13,793 4,545
Control transferred at 7S R B R B e A2 09 122 )
a point in time 34,548 9,387
48,341 13,932

Information about major customers

Revenue from major customers, each of them accounted
for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue and is reported
under the segment of trading of metal and education

( FRETEFFHNEH

REBMEERRAT0%I U
NEEBEERFREEBESRHES
BEERBOBIET 2HRAIUAR

management services, are set out below: Sl
2022 2021
g T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TAETT
Customer A EEA 12,386 9,387
Customer B2 EHB? N/A FiEH 1,641
Customer C' EREC 9,681 N/A A
Customer D! =2 /D! 9,585 N/A &
1 Revenue from trading of metal 1 KETBES ZWA
2 Revenue from education management services 2 KREBHEEERBZ WA

N/A:  Not applicable as the revenue generated by the customer is less

than 10% of the Group’s revenue.

TEA: BEXREENBRATELER
FTAS UL A B910%85 R B A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

OTHER INCOME HL{th Uy 7=
2022 2021
g T4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT TATT
Interest income from rental deposit kBEMAEZEFBUWA 12 15
Government grant BT &R 264 -
Gain on lease early termination AR IEAE WS 89 -
Others Hh 193 64
558 79

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognized government grants of approximately HK$264,000 in
respect of Covid-19-related subsidies, of which approximately
HK$264,000 relates to Employment Support Scheme provided
by the Hong Kong government. All grants are recognized when
there is reasonable assurance that the Group is complied with
the conditions attaching and that the grants will be received.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain monthly
lease payments for the leases of the Group’s properties have
been waived by the lessors. These rent concessions occurred
as a direct consequence of Covid-19 pandemic and met of
all of the conditions in HKFRS 16.46B, and the Group applied
the practical expedient not to assess whether the changes
constitute lease modifications. The effects on changes in lease
payments due to forgiveness or waiver by the lessors for the
relevant leases of approximately HK$132,000 were recognised
as negative variable lease payments.

BE_T_"_F+-RB=t+—HL#F
£ AEERLCovid-1948 B8 89 # A &
BB EBIA264,0008 5w HAL
264,000/ ST BB BF R HAIBE
Fatalame EACERIEAERRN
BFTMH IR B IR E S L B BY B - REBE
sPTEER -

HE_ ST _—_F#%+_-_A=+—H
tEE HBEAEEBRERYERS
NELEESEEENR ELEHESRE
ECovid-19ARMITHEEER T E
HKFRS 16.46BHBIFRE 154 » N EE
RABRERRIEN % Tl hELE
HEH R ERAEENR  RAEHE A
MEEENNREMERAE N RES
EEMEEL132,0008 THRER AR
AR

EMPLOYEE COSTS =122 3
2022 2021
—=-C —ET—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT TR
Employee costs (including directors’ B E A<
emoluments) comprise: (BREEFNE) 615
Salaries and bonus, e M CAL ~ E B K B F
allowances and benefits 12,968 18,272
Contributions to defined ERAMFUR RSB HR
contribution retirement plans 201 235
13,169 18,507
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section
383 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
laws of Hong Kong) and the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Chapter 622G of the laws of Hong Kong) are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

8. EEM=E

(a)

EERBESITHASME
REBEABRG (FAREHI56228)
£383F AT MBEEFHTE
) 286 (BB EGH622GE) F
KEZEEMEWOT -

BE_F__F+-RA=+—H
ILEFE

Salaries, Equity-
allowances Pension settled
and benefits  Discretionary scheme  share-based
Fee in kind bonus  contributions payments Total
e RER Bi#E URTHEEZ
g BMER RETEA SElftR  RGERGR h)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TiER TR T#T TR
(Note (ii) (Note (ii)) (Note (iv))
(Fy =X (i) (B =X (i) (R X (iv))
Executive directors
HirEs
Mr. Wang Wendong (Note (i) 144 1,800 - 18 - 1,962
EEAE (i)
Mr. Fung Chi Kin 144 1,200 - - - 1,344
BEBRE
Total 288 3,000 - 18 - 3,306
by
Independent non-executive directors (“INED”)
BUkniTER (RUEHTES)
Mr. Zhou Tianshu 200 - - - - 200
BXRHEE - - - -
Ms. Wu Liyan 200 - - - - 200
REHLL o - - -
Ms. Wong Susan Chui San 200 - - - - 200
BRRUL
Total 600 - - - - 600
by
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

8. EEM= @

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERREITBRASME &
(continued)
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section RIEABHEG (BB EFIZFE6225)
383 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the F383ME /AT RBEENGE
laws of Hong Kong) and the Companies (Disclosure B RO (FEEFHE622GE) Fr
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation WEZEEM2WT (&
(Chapter 622G of the laws of Hong Kong) are as follows:
(continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE_ET-_—F+-B=+—H
EFE
Salaries, Equity-
allowances Pension settled
and benefits Discretionary scheme share-based
Fee in kind bonus contributions payments Total
e 2Rk Bihe  UREEREZ
g BNEH KIETEA SEMR RDEREGN st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TERL TEr TER TERT TEL
(Note (i) (Note (i) (Note (iv)
(M3 (P2 (i) (MizE()
Executive directors
HiTES
Mr. Wang Wendong (Note (i) 144 1,950 - 18 132 2,244
ENREE (H5H)
Mr. Fung Chi Kin 144 1,300 - - 132 1,576
BERRE
Total 288 3,250 - 18 264 3,820
st
Independent non-executive directors (‘INED’)
BuknmEs (BURTES)
Mr. Zhou Tianshu 200 - - - 13 213
ARTEE
Ms. Wu Liyan 200 - - - 13 213
REHRL
Ms. Wong Susan Chui San 200 - - - 13 213
BRRUL
Total 600 - - - 39 639

a4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

4 A

R

8.

=

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

(a)

Notes:

(i)

Mr. Wang Wendong is also chief executive officer of the Company.

Fees included director’'s fee received from subsidiaries of the
Company.

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the executive
directors of the Company are generally emoluments paid or
receivable in respect of those peoples’ other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company and its
subsidiaries undertakings.

Details of the equity-settled share-based payments regarding to the
share options granted to directors, eligible employees and other
eligible participants are set out in Note 26.

8.

EEM= (2
EEREETHAEME (@)

(a)

T :

IXRALERE AR RTTEHE

BEAEEWRALABDMBERATNNE
ElE-

MARBDRTEEINZHEE
MREYMEND—RBMZEAL
EEARBZEHFRANBADZ
EHFrRM T EMRB M AT
W 2z #h B

EHmEF cEREERHME
BER2EERHNBREMRAES
HZROBRGAOF BRI T
26°
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

BIRIERBRAAF |

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no
emoluments have been paid by the Group to the
directors or any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the
directors of the Company have waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments during the year (2021: Nil).

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

None of the directors of the Company received or will
receive any retirement benefits or termination benefits
during the year (2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2021: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favor of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

As at 31 December 2022, there is no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favor of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors (2021: Nil).

B _FER

8. EEM= @

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

ESERREITHAEME (&

HE_Z--_F+ZH=+—H
FEE AEEBEDNESI A
LEREHMA T ZSEEE
EAMAXREB RN MARER
BHEE NEABREE (T2
e S Y I

BE_E-__F+-B=+—H
HEEE BEARBDEENEAN
EREARERETAME (Z

T—F I HE) o

EFRMEAREF RLEILEF

RERBERAGEF WK
ik R AT ) 2B R A8 ) S A8 LE 4B A

T —F i E) e

MESEERFRAF=FREN
&

BE_TE__F+-BA=+—H
LFE ARBLEMRERSES
RFBEERS=ZAARE (&

T —F |

FRMES -RREFEFENN
ZABRERZEFESNMERR
RENER EERREMEZS
ER

RW_E__F+-RB=+—8H"
TEAEF - ZRFEFEHFN
EANERRZSEENHEER

REEM  EFEMKMHEMRZZ L5
(ZEBEZ—F 18|
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(e)

Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, 2 (2021: 2) were directors of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the analysis presented above.
The emoluments of the remaining individuals were as
follows:

8.

EXEME @

(e)

TBREHMAL
FEBLLRSFMALHERE
“H(CEI-F I ZH) ARF
B (REOMEEFENEXER
Sz i) c HER A TR0
e

2022 2021
—E-= BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FBIT
Salaries, allowances e R R ER

and benefits 2,280 3,328

Contributions to defined BB FUR NG EE R
contribution retirement plan 54 36
2,334 3,364

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

REZMENFLUTHE :

2022 2021

—E-C T4

No. of No. of

individuals individuals

A¥ A&

Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 75 LA 3 2
HK$1,500,001 to 1,500,001 T E

HK$2,000,000 2,000,000/ 75 - 1

3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. HMEBRZE

2022 2021
—E-—f BT
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
My st FHEx FAET
Interest on borrowings BERAE 67 39
Interest on lease liabilities HEAaBEHNAE 14 152 92
219 131

10. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. PREASMBEZAIEIE

Loss before income tax expense is arrived at after charging/

PREFIS IR BE X AT B BT &M kR (5

(crediting): A) U TEIBEER
2022 2021
= o BT —fF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 TFHET FET
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B4 BT 57 B 600 600
Exchange losses/(gains) — net EREE (k) F58 645 (85)
Lease payments not included in W iEst ATHE &G E/
the measurement of lease HEM™®
liabilities 14 1,435 1,399

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R

Bt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

=

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 11. FRSHMAZ  (E%R)
2022 2021
—E-= BT
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FAET FHTT
Current tax: BIERFRIE -
Charge for the year FEZH 75 4
Deferred tax: IEIEFRIE
Charge/(credit) for the year FEZWH (KR 24 194 (143)
Income tax expense/(credit) FRiSMm ~ (E%) 269 (139)

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operates.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the BVI.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
16.5%).

Under the law of the PRC Mainland on Enterprise Income Tax
(the “EIT Law”) and Interpretation Regulation of the EIT Laws,
the tax rate of the PRC Mainland subsidiaries is 25% for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 25%).

rEREREREEENAERRER
BEMREEMENRZEERESE
BB B s M AR P AS AR

RERBEXHE (HBEERESE))
RARRE » AEBEAGMNERRE
BREEFEHR -

REBEE_Z-__#+-_A=+—HI1
FE > BBRERDRE BRG]
BL16.5% (ZZEZ—4F 1 16.5%) MR =
FIGE

RIEFEAMPERAERE (TEERR
BRE) REEMEREEREAL
REEZZEZ-_F+ZA=+—H1
FE> PEAMKEATNRES25%
(CZB - —F 125%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

zﬁ A
17177 N |

Rt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued) 1. FRiGIAX (E%) (@)
The income tax expense/(credit) can be reconciled to the loss FriEMps/ (B%k) BEs8a kA
before income tax expense per the consolidated statement of temlm R ZFEMEMRMAZAIER
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: HERWT -
2022 2021
—F__ —EF-—%
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FHIT THET
Loss before income tax expense  BRFTIS BT A5 18 (22,895) (31,499)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rate 2 #1733 K 16.5%5T &
of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) 2B (CEZ—F:
16.5%) (3,778) (5,197)
Effect of different tax rate of REAMBAREE & E 2 MY
subsidiaries operating in BABERREREZ
other jurisdictions o 111 (399)
Tax effect of income not taxable HBEZRRWA ZIRFETE
for tax purposes (49) (77)
Tax effect of expenses not THMNREASZZNBEEE
deductible for tax purposes 4,099 3,556
Tax effect of tax losses not RIS %RIEE‘E?EIZ
recognized ME 2 621 1,984
Tax effect of other temporary REBEMERER
differences not recognized MR 191 137
Utilization of previous R AR ERRIERE
unrecognized tax losses (1,120) -
Accrual/(reversal) of withholding ~ FEIIfR &(&sHiR~ (B[E) 24
tax liabilities 194 (143)
Income tax expense/(credit) FAHRSRAS  (E%)
for the year 269 (139)
BRERARAD | —R-—EER 199
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A H

R

SRR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had estimated unused tax
losses of approximately HK$49,295,000 (2021: approximately
HK$45,786,000) which are available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognized in
respect of the estimated tax losses due to unpredictability of
future profit streams. Tax losses amounted to approximately
HK$44,526,000 (2021: approximately HK$40,840,000) may
be carried forward indefinitely and approximately RMB253,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$285,000) (2021: approximately
RMB4,095,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$4,946,000))
will expire in five years.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC Mainland, withholding tax at
10% is imposed on dividends declared to its immediate holding
company outside of the PRC Mainland in respect of the profits
earned by the PRC Mainland subsidiary from 1 January 2008
and onwards. A lower 5% withholding tax rate may be applied
when the immediate holding company is established in Hong
Kong according to the tax treaty arrangement between the
PRC Mainland and Hong Kong.

11.

FRSMEAz (E%R) (&
A CE TFE+RA=1+—H AEH
BT REARIBEEL49,295,000
BT (ZEIZT—4F [ 445,786,000/
7T) > AR R KA c AR AT
FFREFZR S E IR IBE IR
MERIRIEIIEE & © 2 #4944,526,000
Bt (ZF T —5F | 440,840,000/ 7T)
ZHRIEEEERPAE MOUARE
253,0007¢ (FHZ5 72 49285,0008 7T) (=
T —F I Y AR 4,095,000t (16
FN 494,946,000 70)) B AERE
AR o

BETEAMEEMRSREZ BT
NE—B—HEE HEAMHE LS
HBREC Y A @) B e B A9 it 3% S A9
EEZERASEIRNKREEZI10%H
MR GRTAIK - IRIBPEI MR EFE
ZERBBE R EERERAHT
REBRLILE > Al LIEABRERS%TE
M=K o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4= A

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. SRREHE
2022 2021
—E=-Z BT —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TATT
Loss E518
Loss attributable to owners of NABHEE AELEIE
the Company (22,074) (29,159)
2022 2021
—E=-Z T —4F
Number of shares g =]
Weighted average number of AUt EEREREEY
ordinary shares for the purpose of ZERMEFEEEE (FR)
calculating basic loss per share
(in thousand) 829,404 742,298
Diluted loss per share for loss attributable to owners of the B FEIE__F+°A4

Company for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022
was the same as basic loss per share because the impact of
the exercise of share options is anti-dilutive.

The details of the share option are set out in Note 26.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK

=t+—HLEFE ARTEEAZER
BEEERSRELABEE - AR
EEREZEDRBENE-

BB tET IR EE26 °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R

SRR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ME -BERSE
Equipment
and computer Leasehold Furniture Motor
software improvements and fixture vehicle Total
HER HE
B MERE FRREE RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FHET FiET FHET
Cost %3
As at 1 January 2021 \_E_-5—-F—H 3,320 1,585 3,867 772 9,544
Additions 1B 9 - 601 489 1,186
Exchange alignment ERAE 5 - 26 7 38
As at 31 December 2021 and RZIZZ—5+-A=+—Hk
1 January 2022 _E_"_#—-B—H 3,421 1,585 4,494 1,268 10,768
Exchange alignment ERAE (15) - (102) (39) (156)
As at 31 December 2022 R-B8-Z#+-A=+-H 3,406 1,585 4,392 1,229 10,612
Accumulated depreciation RHIE
As at 1 January 2021 RZE__&—H—H 3,151 1,460 1,612 772 6,995
Charge for the year FELH 80 125 900 88 1,193
Exchange alignment ERAE 1 - 4 1 6
As at 31 December 2021 and AR -F+ZA=+—HkK
1 January 2022 “E-"F—-A—H 3,232 1,585 2,516 861 8,194
Charge for the year FEXH 85 - 1,012 115 1,212
Exchange alignment ERRE 4 = (31) 8) (43)
As at 31 December 2022 RZE-Z&+ZR=+-H 3,313 1,585 3,497 968 9,363
Net carrying value IREEE
As at 31 December 2022 RZZZZ£+ZR=+-H 93 - 895 261 1,249
As at 31 December 2021 RZ2Z—&+ZHF=1+—H 189 - 1,978 407 2,574
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

14. FREEEREERR

REMBRRRITUATRBEERR
BIEER

2022 2021
—E-ZC BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT TR
Right-of-use assets EHESE
Properties LY ES 6,338 5,186

During the year ended 31 December 2022, additions to the
right-of-use assets were approximately HK$4,406,000 (2021:
approximately HK$5,632,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group leases
properties for its operations. Lease contracts for other assets
are entered into for a fixed term of 2 to 5 years (2021: 2-3
years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK

BE_ZE_—_F#+"HA=+—HIHE
S (RS EREL 54,406,000 7T
(ZE - —14 : 45,632,000 7T) ©

RZEZHF+ZRA=+—HLEEFE
N> AEEHREYERNREE - HME
ENHEESQNTLZ2ESF (ZEZ—
F2F3F) WEEART I - FAERK
ML B ERNBEEER > BEFBREIE
AR AE A o R EE T B A SR R A B[]
HENEER AEEERAGONTER
Al B TE B 49 7] 5 ) AT R HA RS ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 14. FRAKEEREGEE® (@)
(continued)
2022 2021
b e —E-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHEIT
Lease liabilities payable: ENEEESRE:
Within one year —FR 2,282 2,767
Within a period of more than one year —&E L EERBBMEN
but not more than two years B A 1,976 1,787
Within a period of more than two years EMN B BB R EN
but not more than five years HARS 2,978 854
7,236 5,408
Less: Total future interest expenses B RIRF B 4B (599) (147)
Lease liabilities included in the FARtTZBA=+—H8%GE
consolidated statement of financial TR RRNEEA®R
position as at 31 December 6,637 5,261
Less: Amount due for settlement B ERBIaEEN
within 12 months shown under 1218 B 7 & HR
current liabilities BENRIE (2,035) (2,667)
Amount due for settlement after FIEIEREBI B EN
12 months shown under R121@ B #& I HA
non-current liabilities BIERIE 4,602 2,594

The lease liabilities of the Group are unguaranteed and secured
by rental deposits.

The carrying amount of lease liabilities are denominated in HK$
and RMB.

AEENHEEAERERERF BUES

BRI -

HESRNKREENE TR ARES

Be
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

zﬁ P
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(continued)

14. FREBERBEAR (@

The following are the amounts recognized in profit or loss: MUTARIBmERNMRIE
Properties
mE
2022 2021
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 5E FHT T
Depreciation expense of FREEENITE
right-of-use assets B 2,392 2,758
Interest expense on lease liabilities A E & ERF B 9 152 92
Expense relating to short-term ERGBEENHES
leases 10 1,435 1,399
3,979 4,249

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of approximately
HK$3,635,000 during the year ended 31 December 2022
(2021: approximately HK$4,207,000). As at 31 December 2021

and 2022, no leases committed but not yet commenced.

Termination options are included in a number of property leases
across the Group. These are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the Group’s
operations. The Group assesses at lease commencement
date whether it is reasonably certain to be not exercised the
termination options. Periods after termination options are only
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to

be not terminated.

BE_Z-_—_F#+-A=+—801
FEECAEENHEERESAHAELY
#38,635,0008T (ZE-—F %
4,207,00087T) "R _E_—FK_=F
T TE+ZRA=+—H IEBKEE
EENEEE R R

RIEEZEROSEEENFZWEMR
Eh-ELEZEEGFEEEEERESED
ERANEETERAREMRESES
BEM -AEENREERGRAILES
CEBRERILEZFESTRITE-R

EEEREEERAGRIENBRT &
IFEFEENRES SEEEERT -

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. R—EBE AT 2D
2022 2021
—®=-C TR F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cost of investment in an associate, RN—EBERB ZRER L
unlisted KEm 8,000 8,000
Share of post-acquisition losses DML ERBEIE M
and other comprehensive loss Hh2mEsIE (5,084) (297)
2,916 7,703
BIRERBRAR | ZEZ2EFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 15. R—HBEATZE=D (&)
Details of the Group’s associate as at 31 December 2021 and N —ERCE-_F+_"H
2022 are as follows: —t+—H AEEZBEABFEEN
B
Place of business/ % of equity interest
country of Particulars of issued attributable to
Name of entity incorporation shares held the Group Principal activity
EEME B &1
Bl 5 1 B 3L FR 72 3 By TEAEGRET AL TEEH
2022 2021
—ECZE _T_—-fF
Loco Precious Metal Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 40% 40% Trading of metal in
(‘LPM”) (Indirectly)  (Indirectly)  Hong Kong
BREEEEERRAT B Himk () (B REENZEBES
(TBRESE))
Summarized financial information in respect of the Group’s EHEAEREARBMEATNTFTER
material associate is set out below: MEEHNNT
2022 2021
—F-= —ET—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TFETT
Current assets MEEE 7,339 19,499
Non-current assets ERBEE - -
Current liabilities mEnaE 48 243
Non-current liabilities ERBER - -
Revenue WA (11,259) 220
Loss for the year FERIE (11,965) (946)
Other comprehensive income Hte2mlzm - -
Total comprehensive loss S HEEBAREE (11,965) (946)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 15. R—HEBEQR 2z = (&)
Reconciliation of the summarized financial information to the MHRERMERG ST HERERPER
carrying amount of the interest in an associate recognized in HNRBE AR EmVREENEER
the consolidated financial statements:

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
BE HE
—E-C T4
+=-—B=+—H +Z=ZHA=+—H
I FE EFE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT TFHT
Loss for the year FREE (11,965) (946)
Total comprehensive loss 2HEEIE (11,965) (946)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership ~ AREBE R E ATIH
interest in associate VBRI LA 40% 40%
The Group’s share of post-acquisition Z<£ B FE(L B E A B W EEE
losses and other comprehensive BEEEMEEEBER
loss of associate (4,787) (378)
Cost of investment in associate LEBEABBI A 8,000 8,000
Carrying amount of the interest in an RS AT ERNIREE
associate 2,916 7,703
BIRERBRAR | ZEZ2EFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 &

16. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mAEMBRRNME

EEZ-F+_A=+—HILEE

16. HihEREE

2022 2021
—E-C B —
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 53 FET TAETT
Financial assets measured at A FEE AIEHEH
FVTPL BZEMEE
Unlisted equity securities A JE LR AR FA (a) and (o)
(@)&(c) 4,280 4,500
Unlisted equity securities B JE LR AESB (b) and (c)
(b)%(c) - 1,000
4,280 5,500

Notes:

The unlisted equity securities A are shares in Lexus Group (Asia) Limited
(“Lexus”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong which is currently
trading gold, silver and other precious and base metals. As at 31
December 2022, the Group held 18% equity interest in Lexus (2021:
18%).

The unlisted equity securities B are shares in Grand Max Enterprises
Limited (“Grand Max”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong which
is currently investing in some innovative technology projects. At at 31
December 2021, the Group held 16.7% equity interest in Grand Max.
During the year, the Group disposed all its equity interests in Grand Max to
an independent third party.

Information about the Group’s exposure to equity price risk are set out in
Note 3.1. For information about the methods and assumptions used in
determining fair value are set out in Note 3.3.

B -

(c)

ELTRAFBSABBEER (M BERL
B (TH&) > —BREBaEMmlizz A8
BEaEEE: HERENSESBRES
=B Z2Rp - R F+"A=+—
B AEEFEHEN18%RE (T —
F:18%) ©

FLEHRAESBAEHCEERAT

(GEBR) > —BREAEMMILZ AT B
AIREETAMBEMIER) 2RHB - R
5+ A=+—H > xEEFEEH
1916.7%RE - NAFEE  REBHEHNT
ERENEHREF—BILE=H AL

FRAEEEBRNRAERRBHERNE
RMEE31 - BEERATFEMBNAER
RERBE R HIHIEES.3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

17. INVENTORIES 17. &8
2022 2021
—E-C =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Silver HiR 148 143
Low value consumables BEEZHER 113 113
261 256
The fair values of the Commodity Inventories were determined BREFENAFEDHARARKRRE

by the Company by reference to the price available in active
market including London Bullion Market Association.

The fair value of the Commodity Inventories is a level 2
recurring fair value measurement. The fair value measurement
is based on the inventories’ highest and best use, which does
not differ from their actual use.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK

REREDS (BRERATEDEHE)
ISR ERETE -

BEREENATFTEBE _S&EHA
FETE-AFEFAENUFEZERS
EEBERRAER HESHEEE
PRAARIEER o

L\

El}
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

18. BB RHEMEWHREAREMRIEA

PREPAYMENTS
2022 2021
—=E== T
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET FHBTT
Trade receivables B 5 WA 10,618 3,088
Less: provision for loss allowance B EHREEEE (HEE«e)
(Note (c)) (372) (166)
Trade receivables — net (Note () B S EWEIE—F5E (H5E@) 10,246 2,922
Loan interest receivable EWERFHE 893 893
Less: provision for loss allowance B EHREEEE (HEE«e)
(Note (c)) (893) (893)
Loan interest receivable — net (Note (b)) FEWE A B — 348 (FFsE(b)) - -
Other receivables and deposits HAEWRIE A E 19,273 9,940
Less: provision for loss allowance B EHREEEE (HEE«e)
(Note (c)) (208) (239)
Other receivables and deposits — net  EthfE U T IE 28 19,065 9,701
Prepayments B FIB 113 292
29,424 12,915
(a) Trade receivables (a) EBFEWFRIA

The credit period granted to customers are 1 month — 3

months generally.

The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on the

date of demand note is as follows:

BRYERPNEER—RB/1EAR

E3EA -

ERAEREMFHNESE
WRRIREREC D ATA0 T -

2022 2021
—E-C =

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FHT T

0 - 30 days 0ZE30H 8,388 578
31 - 90 days 31E90H 922 -
91 - 180 days 91ZE180H 426 543
Over 180 days #BiE180H 510 1,801
10,246 2,922
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

BIRIERBRAAF |

Trade receivables (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$1,998,000 which are past
due at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
approximately HK$73,000 has been past due 90 days or
more and is not considered as in default. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group recognized a loss allowance of approximately
HK$227,000 (2021: approximately HK$36,000), based
on individual risk assessment. The movement of the loss
allowance is set out in Note (c).

Loan interest receivable

The Group’s loan interest receivable arises from the
money lending business of providing personal loans in
Hong Kong. The loan interest receivable was secured by
collateral provided by personal guarantee and a property
located in Hong Kong. Further details of the loan are set
out in Note 19.

The movement of the loss allowance of loan interest
receivable is set out in Note (c).

B _FER

18. BB RHEMEWHREAREMRIEA

(&

(a)

(b)

B EWkE (&)
R_E2__F+-_B=+—H"
REBNE ZREKRHIBLAREIE
BRE 48 28491,998,00078 7T BB 75
N HEERRSHA 1T
4EERT 0 973,000 7T B @ HA90
REU L BURHIREEN A
SEEUENZSEFITEIMIE
R o

BHE_ S __F#+-_A=+—H
IEEE > AEEERER &R T
EREE BB 49227,00058 7T
— T4 436,000/ 7T) ©
EEEEEBEH N (C)e

R E 2
FEBNBRERAEELEEN
ERRHREAERNREES-
R ERF) B LUE A B RIBHH
BRERUNREBN —EYEF
R - BREVE — D 5¥ 1B R
3190

ERMBWER B EEEHEE
BN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

PREPAYMENTS (continued)
Provision for loss allowance

(c)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9
and provide impairment based on lifetime ECL for all
the trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been based on individual
risk assessment. The expected credit losses below also
incorporate forward-looking information.

18. BB RHEMEWHREAREMRIEA

(&
(c)

stiRiS iR H

ESEKHE

AEBEBBIEL ZREBME
BREERFORREMTAREER
BEHREAEREEHRBES
BEBA B 5 EWGRIER R
B-RERREEGEE BES
R IE ERIRE B A BT E 2
B UTHRAEEFERETEIA
BEMER -

Trade
91-180 Over receivables
0-30 days 31-90 days days 180 days Total
g5 ek
0E30H 31F90H 91F180H  iBif180H IR
As at 31 December 2022 H_-EZ_Z
+=ZB=+—H
Expected credit loss rate ~ TEHAE EEEX
(average) (FF19) 2.7% 6.0% 6.0% 9.6% 3.5%
Gross carrying amount IRMEAE(E
(HK$’000) (FE7T) 8,620 981 453 564 10,618
Expected credit losses FAHAEEE51E
(HK$’000) (F#7) 232 59 27 54 372
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HMEMBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 18. BR R HtEWRIARFE(TFRIE
PREPAYMENTS (continued) (&

(c) Provision for loss allowance (continued) (c) EHEESIERE @)
Trade receivables (continued) ESEWmIE (&)

Trade

receivables
181 days-

0-30 days  91-180 days 1 year Total

B5 R’

0ZE30H 91%180H 1815 E14F FUIEEEE

As at 31 December 2021 W=ZE=-—%£

+=-B=+—H
Expected credit loss rate ~ FEHAE BEEX
(average) (F19) 2.5% 6.1% 6.1% 5.4%
Gross carrying amount REEE
(HK$’000) (F#71) 593 578 1,917 3,088

Expected credit losses  FEHAIEHASIE

(HK$’000) (F#7m) 15 35 116 166
The movement in the provision for loss allowance in BHE_EZ_—FK_FT -
respect of trade receivables during the years ended 31 +ZB=+—BLEFE -BHES
December 2021 and 2022 is as follows: FEINRIBER RN EEEEEES
MU
Lifetime ECL
- (not credit-  Lifetime ECL -
impaired) (credit-impaired) Total
2HATEH 2HITER
EEBHE- EEEHE -
GEEERE) (EEiRE) et
As at 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—H—H 125 - 125
Provide made for the year FREIR 36 - 36
Exchange alignment fERAE 5 - 5
As at 31 December 2021 and KRB —E+"A=+—-HkK
1 January 2022 “®-"#-B—H 166 - 166
Transfer to credit-impaired HEEEERE (29) 29 -
Provision made for the year FREHE 341 23 364
Reversal of provision made FREHERE
for the year (137) - (137)
Exchange alignment ERRAE (19) (2) (21)
As at 31 December 2022 —E_"f+”-H=+-H 322 50 372
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Bt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HE_ZT__F+_FB=+—HIEE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(c)

Provision for loss allowance (continued)

Loan interest receivable

The Group applies the general approach to providing
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9 and
provide impairment based on lifetime ECL. As at 31
December 2022, the total carrying amount of the loan
interest receivable is overdue by more than 3 years and
the total carrying amount of loan interest receivable is
determined to be credit-impaired after cosidering the
overdue aging analysis and other qualitative factors.
To measure the expected credit losses, loan interest
receivable has been based on individual risk assessment.
The expected credit losses below also incorporate
forward-looking information.

18. BB RHEMEWHREAREMRIEA

(4=
(c)

stiRiSHREE (&)

BYEHFE
AEERBEBYHFREERS
OMBMEN—MRAEZMTAHREER
BRFLEGERREZHEBRE
BEEBEREHERE- R
+ZA=+—H BHRERFIE
WREBEARBR=F B
WEMH EHNIREAERE B8
iR DT RAMEEERERE
EEERE R ERRPEES
B ERRERFNEEREMER R
KM.:JFTE DU T RMEERE
TFEIREIEER -

Loan interest

receivable
RSz E

As at 31 December 2022 H-E-—-F#+=-A=+—H
Expected credit loss rate (average) TEHRE B R IE =X (F19) 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) IREEE (FEm) 893
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) TEHAE E S8 (F# ) 893
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HMEMBERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 18. B RHMEWRIARTEGRIE
PREPAYMENTS (continued) (#)
(c) Provision for loss allowance (continued) (c) EHEESIERE @)
Loan interest receivable (continued) BIREZFE (&)

Loan interest

receivable
Fél-l &7 B
As at 31 December 2021 W-E-—+-BA=+—H
Expected credit loss rate (average) FEEAEEiBIEX (1) 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) REEE (TEm) 893
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) JEHRE 8518 (F#T) 893
The movement in the provision for loss allowance in HE_ZE-_—GFRIZTCZ
respect of loan interest receivable during the years ended +ZB=t+—HILEFEHREEKRE
31 December 2021 and 2022 is as follows: RA S BRNBEREHEEHER
(I S
Lifetime ECL -
(credit-impaired)
ZHIFAEE
BE-EEiRE
HK$’000
FHET
As at 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, R -2 _—F—H—H~
1 January 2022 and - —F4+"BA=+—H"
31 December 2022 —EF—-F—HK
B _F+-HA=+—H 893
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 18. B RHMEWRIARTEGRIE

PREPAYMENTS (continued) (4

(c) Provision for loss allowance (continued) (c) stHiREsIE#EE (&
Other receivables and deposits BB IBRIES
The Group applies the general approach to providing REERB—WRAEZEERH
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, and WEEAFIOFRREMBHEE
provide impairment based on 12m ECL. To measure the BETIEEHERBEI12@E E
expected credit losses, other receivables and deposits HEEEBEREIREHAE A2
have been based on individual risk assessment. The HEEEBE EMERTIEREZ
expected credit losses below also incorporate forward- S EIREER R R FEE D8 U
looking information. THEAEEBEITESARENEE

216

i} o
Other
receivables
and deposits
B &

As at 31 December 2022 R-E-__+-A=+—8H
Expected credit loss rate (average) TEERE BA1EX (1) 1.1%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) IREARE (T8 19,273
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) TERRE 5518 (&) 208
Other
receivables
and deposits
H U kI8
iz

As at 31 December 2021 W-E-—+-A=+—H
Expected credit loss rate (average) TEEAE BRBEE (1) 2.4%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) IREARE (FET) 9,940
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) JEHAE E S (F# ) 239
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

PREPAYMENTS (continued)

(c) Provision for loss allowance (continued)

4= AH
[7177 O = |

Rt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

Other receivables and deposits (continued)

The movement in the provision for loss allowance in
respect of other receivables and deposits during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2022 is as follows:

18. BB RHEMEWHREAREMRIEA

(4
(c)

sHiRESIE G (B
HEWZIERES (&
BHE_ZT - —GFRZZTC
+BA=+—HI-EFEREME
WRIERZEBRANEGRERE

#FWE

12m ECL

121E B f& 4R

EEE51E

HK$’000

TR

As at 1 January 2021 N _E_—F—F—H 71

Provision made for the year FREHE 164

Exchange alignment PE R 2 4
As at 31 December 2021 and N B —F+ZRA=+—H

1 January 2022 rRZEZ"HF—H—H 239

Reversal of provision made for the year F RO (239)

Provision made for the year FREHR 226

Exchange alignment B i (18)

As at 31 December 2022 R-E€__+”"-H=+—H 208

(d) Denominated currencies

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables and prepayments are denominated in the

following currencies:

(d)

FHES
KXEEE S KREMERRIEUR
FEAHIENREEMU T &S5t
& :

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000

F#ET FEIT

HK$ BT 754 970
RMB AR 28,670 11,945
29,424 12,915
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HE_Z "

19. LOAN RECEIVABLE

F+ZR=+—HLEFE

19. FEWE™

Loan receivable
Less: provision for loss allowance

SRR IR A

2022 2021
—E-C =4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FETT
7,589 7,589
(7,589) (7,589)

Loan receivable - net

B E R — 3R

The Group’s loan receivable arises from the money lending
business of providing personal loans in Hong Kong, with
interest bearing at 8% per annum and denominated in HKS.
The loan receivable was secured by personal guarantee and a
property located in Hong Kong and the Company is as the third
mortgagee of the secured property.

FEENRREREEBNREBREM
BAERBBREREE  REF K8%s
B BLUB TR E - B E /R LUE AR
RRAREBN—BYEFRT BX
RNEBBRITYENE = AT A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

19. LOAN RECEIVABLE (continued)

The Group applies the general approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9 and provide
impairment based on lifetime ECL. As at 31 December 2022,
the total carrying amount of loan receivable is overdue by more
than 3 years and the total carrying amount of loan receivable is
determined to be credit-impaired after considering the overdue
aging analysis and other qualitative factors. To measure the
expected credit losses, loan receivable has been based on
individual risk assessment. The expected credit losses below
also incorporate forward-looking information.

19.

EWEmR (&)
AEBERBEBTBRESELFIOTR
EW—RA LM BEHEESFBELE
BRBEEIATEREEERIEHEE.
R_EBE -+ _-_B=+—H EKE
FNEEAEAREA=F BEKE
THREEENRZEARKRBEDTX
HtMEMRZRECEEREBE Ait2
FEHEEEE BWERCREER R
st fE - U TEHEEESETER
BIREMEE R -

2022 2021

—E-Z —E 4

Expected credit loss rate FEHRE EEEX 100% 100%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) IREARE (FHET) 7,589 7,589
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) FEHA{SEEE (FHET) 7,589 7,589

The movements on the Group’s provision for loss allowance of
loan receivable is as follow:

AEEGRBREREREEFENES
LI

Lifetime
ECL
(credit-
impaired)
ZHATEHA
EEEE
(EERE)
HK$’'000
T AT

As at 1 January 2021, RZE2Z—%—HA—H-

—_—

31 December 2021, +-_A=4+—H\-ZZ2E-_"_F£—H—H
1 January 2022 and RZE__HF+"RB=+—H

31 December 2022

7,589

There were no transfer into or out of stage 3 during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

20. RERREZFEY

2022 2021

—E-C =4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAEIT

Cash on hand FHERE 238 207
Cash at banks RITRE 3,942 20,673
Cash and cash equivalents HERFEEEY 4,180 20,880

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalent
are denominated in the following currencies:

IRTHEeHESHRTERMNREIF
EZPAES

FEENHEERFETFEYREEN
THEHEHE ¢

2022 2021

—E-C —E—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FBIT

HK$ BT 3,209 13,407
us$ ETT 4 4
RMB AR 967 7,469
4,180 20,880

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately HK$967,000 (2021: approximately
HK$7,469,000). The RMB held in the PRC Mainland is not
freely convertible into other currencies. However, under
PRC Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorized to conduct
foreign exchange business.

REEHFR > AEBUAREHENIR
ERIREFEYHA967,0008 7T (=
T —4F 497,469,000 70) o A E
AMMFEMARBAESERBME
ME AT IRIEPE R INESIE
BO R AEE s EERTESTERE &
EEEFEFEEREMAEBIEEEDN
TR ARBRBRAMEE.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 21. HithERPIBEREAER
2022 2021
—E-C B —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET
Other payables and accruals HENHRIERESTER 2,204 2,033

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables, accruals
and deposits received are denominated in the following

FEENEMEMRE B ERKE
WizeIREEMU T EEEHE !

currencies:
2022 2021
—E-C = —
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET TABT
HK$ BT 1,381 1,421
RMB AR 823 612
2,204 2,033
22. BORROWINGS 22,

The borrowings represent loans denominated in HK$ from
shareholders bearing interest at 2.5% per annum which are
unsecured and are repayable within one year.

ERERRUB TS ERENER &
FR25% B RERIERIN—FA
BE-

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. ARAE
2022 2021
HK$’000 B HK_$’OOO
FET FAET
Contract liabilities EFR&E
Trading of metal (Note (i) BB % (MEH)) 4,215 -
Notef(i) P EE()

No revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the
beginning of the year and no revenue recognised from performance obligation
satisfied in prior year.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities
recognized are as follows:

Trading of metal

The Group receives deposits from customers when they sign the sale and
purchase agreement, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract. The increase in contract liabilities as at 31 December 2022 was mainly
due to the increase in deposits received from customers in relation to the
provision of trading of metal at the end of the year.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK

REN > REDVFECREERETHERAR
RE—FE RERMEBENEEMEDIWRA -

FERICFNEETENRE S MRROT

EBES

FEEERRFEIEEREREIRERIEZ &
REREEERBEHELESRERE - RS2
FH+A=+—HNEREEENTERHNTE
RN REREBEEZEANE R RES LR
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

24. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

24,

BEREBERG
UTHUPBRERENZIELERE
REER DA

2022 2021
—E—-— —EBE—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET
Deferred tax liabilities LR IE & & 194 -

The following is the deferred tax liabilities recognized and
movements thereon during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2022:

UTAEARBEZE_ T _—G¢kr_ZT__
E+__A=Z+—HILEEERIBNIEL
MEaERED !

Undistributed
earnings of

the PRC
subsidiary Total
o [ Bt | A B RY
KaREF st
HK$’000 HK$’000
TFAET THT
Balance at 1 January 2021 AR —F—H—HNASRS 143 143
Credited from profit or loss (Note 11) B8 st A (FEE11) (143) (143)
Balance at 31 December 2021 and W2 —&F+"A=+—H
1 January 2022 rR_E-__F£—H—H
FFE:ES - -
Charged to profit or loss (Note 11) Bi8m IOk (WeE11) 194 194
Balance at 31 December 2022 W_E2-_—&F#+—-_8=+—H
B 45 BR 194 194

Under the EIT Law of the PRC Mainland, withholding tax is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned
by a PRC subsidiary from 1 January 2008 onwards. As at 31
December 2022, the deferred tax has been provided on the
undistributed earnings of the PRC Mainland subsidiary.

BREFEAMEEMRSREZ BT
NE—B—BE sirhEME R E HRE
EMERREBREMARIDR KT
“THE+ZA=+—H EBaTEAM
B QB RIKR D IRE R SHRIEER A
Bt o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

25. SHARE CAPITAL 25. @7
Number of
ordinary shares Share capital
HEERHE B s
Note HK$’000
B 51 T
Issued and fully paid: BRTRHR:
As at 1 January 2021 A _E - —F—H—H 691,170,000 161,112
Issue of shares by placements B E TR, (b) 138,234,000 27,236
As at 31 December 2021, RIZ——4%F
1 January 2022 and 31 +-B=+—H8"
December 2022 “E-F—-RA—8k
+-A=+—H 829,404,000 188,348
Notes: P e
(@  Inaccordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, (@) RIBEFBABGHE136F > RATNE B
the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a par value. P& 3 feE [ 45 o
(b) R _Z2"—%F/\B+H 138,234,000/

(b) On 19 August 2021, 138,234,000 new ordinary shares were allotted and
issued to independent investors at HK$0.2 per share. The gross proceeds

from the issue of shares amounted to approximately HK$27,647,000 net

of transaction costs of approximately HK$411,000, in aggregate was

credited to the Company’s share capital.

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK

MEERESROCETREERETTE
UREE - BTROVENBAENS
27,647,000/ 7T » 0 FR3X 5 AL A #9411,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

26.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 22 July
2014 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Under the Share Option
Scheme, the directors of the Company may, subject to and in
accordance with the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
and the GEM Listing Rules, at its discretion, grant options to
any full-time or part-time employees, consultants or potential
employees, consultants, executives or officers (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
directors) of the Group, and any suppliers, customers,
consultants, agents and advisers, who in the absolute
discretion of the board of director has contributed or will
contribute to the Group (collectively “Eligible Participants”).

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentive or reward for Eligible Participants for their contribution
or potential contribution to the Group.

The Company has granted 1,630,000 shares on 10 April 2015
and 37,680,000 shares on 27 August 2019 of the Company
under the Share Option Scheme up to the date of 2019
annual report. The Board proposes to seek approval of the
shareholders by the passing of an ordinary resolution for the
refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit. The refreshment of
the Scheme Mandate Limit was approved by the shareholders
at the annual general meeting held on 26 June 2020. After the
refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit, the total number
of shares (the “Shares”) of the Company available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 57,617,000 Shares,
representing 6.95% of total number of Shares in issue as at the
date of this report.

The directors of the Company shall not grant options to any
Eligible Participant if the acceptance of those options would
result in the total number of Shares issued and to be issued to
that participant on exercise of his options during any 12-month
period up to the offer date exceeding 1% of the total number of
Shares then in issue.

There is no general requirement that an option must be held
for any minimum period before it can be exercised. The period
during which an option may be exercised in accordance with
the terms of the Share Option Scheme shall be the period of
time to be notified by the directors of the Company to each
grantee, which the director of the Company may in its absolute
discretion determine, save that such period shall not be more
than ten years commencing on the date upon which the
vesting period as described in the respective grantee’s offer
document commences.

26.

AR EET R

KRR _E—NELtBE -+ -H#¥
—IERERR 2 (TRERRRESTR)) - R
BZERESE AR ESEZE
% #E 5T 8 B GEM /5 57 Bl B9 & TR IR
TRBEZERESE RGEM MR
BIRESO B AEBE R
HES BERNETEEE BN 1TK
ABTE&BE (BERT FRITA
BIUERITESR) UEREBEEEEHED
BB A BN T HANEREEL SR
ZAEMEREE-FF BB RNIE RS
MA HIEALETAERSEHE) BREB
A& HE o

BB SEER MBS G LA
FEERAERFLEMRZAERS A
o

HE_Z-—NFFHRAP A2AE
RIE—RAFONBE+HRZZE—NEF
NEBEZ+tHREBRESEEY
1,630,0000% % 37,680,0000% 7~ A &) i&
HRoEEFRSKRABBZERE
EMEEMAE LR - RER
ECEFEARATHABEENRKRESR
FREHEFMAERE LR EM
ERELRE BREFSETA
HEBETZRKRBKMG (TRR1B1) B85
57,617,000 &7 > 15 AREHEEE
BTN M 26.95% °

ARBEFITROENEERSHE
RUBREERWZEERERSER
REBEZXEBLEEM12(88 #E R
ETEEBEREMBTHARFET T
2RENRNBBBEERCHETR
DHBEBI1%

HOEBRENLOEFAENREHNRE
REERZR -REERES B BIFR
AT EBRENHEESEATDES
REZENBEREAZAENENN
AR A RBEARAZEN
EUXHFIERERBERMGEZ BiE
st
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

A remittance in favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of
consideration for the grant of the option should be submitted
to the Company on or before the last day for acceptance. The
option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 14 days
from the date on which the option is granted.

The exercise price shall be determined by the board of
directors but in any event shall be at least the highest of (i)
the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’ s daily quotations sheet on the date on which the
option is offered (the “Offer Date”); and (i) the average of
the official closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the Offer Date.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period commencing from the date on which the Share Option
Scheme was conditionally adopted by an ordinary resolution of
the shareholder of the Company on 22 July 2014 and ending
on the tenth anniversary of the date of listing of the Company’s
shares on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 4 August 2014 (both
dates inclusive), after which no further option will be granted
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in
full force and effect in all other respects to the extent necessary
to give effect to the exercise of any options granted prior
thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme and options granted
prior thereto but not yet exercised shall continue to be valid
and exercisable in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.

The remaining life of the share option granted on 10 April 2015
under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately 2.3 years.

The share options granted on 27 August 2019 under the Share

Option Scheme expired during the year ended 31 December
2022.

B _FER

26.

fBRe st (2

M HBREURENFARE1.00
BTZERNEMNREHREZA
RRFAAE - BREFIEH B AIE
14REIE IR 2 DA

THREEREFSEE BEEEFEBER
TABERUTERSE (RE2ERE
E0 (EHRM) BXFAEARESR
FREVRMBIE S IRTHE ; Ri)RZEEZQ
B AEEER  BXAERKRER
Fro RN B E S W HE -

BRESFEFE_Z-—DOFLA
T+ ZH - EBERESEEREAAT
RREBRBREAGHFRMZBE
EXRBROCBRZFAGEM LT B
—ZT—ME )\ A M EESH R+ B F HAE
(BEEEWMR) BN REN  HEM
AEE LIRS ExiERE
STEINRXERMBEMAEIDNE T
M ER 0 U2 K BAR Al SR R
RIESHEIFR XA SERE 2 H 5 Uik
2 R AR IR D] T 17168 LUK 4 #A
[RETRHEBERETRZBEREREE
B RIEBREST BT

A TE T TF+"HB=+—H BB
BHEASN —_E—AFENA+HEBY
Z BRI GREAPR 4 &32.85F o

BE_Z__F+A=+—HLHF
B RIEERESEN _Z—-HENA
“tHttHERERZBRESRE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HE_ZT__F+_FB=+—HIEE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26. MERRHEEE (@)
The following table discloses the movements of the share TREERBEEZZEZZF+ZA
options granted and lapsed under the Share Option Scheme —+—BHBIFEREERESSZE
during the year ended 31 December 2022: R RV B R e s B
Number of share options
SR
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Expired as at
Category of Date Exercise price 1 January during 31 December
grantee of grant period per share 2022 the year 2022
KZEZZH& KZEZZ
=1 —A—H +ZA=+-H
EEAER BHBEH fIREAm 1M B K AT 1 FREHH K17
Directors 27 August 2019 27 Aug 2019 to HK$0.616 13,110,000 (13,110,000) -
26 Aug 2022 (Note)
£ ZZ-hE —h&E 0.616787T
NBZ+tH )\H +tHE
_ECF
NBZ+7~8 (D)
Employees 10 April 2015 10 April 2015 to HK$0.78 160,000 - 160,000
9 April 2025
(=] ZE-RENA+H “2-nFMB+HE 0.78% 7T
“ZTRFEMAAH
27 August 2019 27 Aug 2019 to HK$0.616 23,500,000 (23,500,000) =
26 Aug 2022 (Note)
“E-hE —-nE 0.616787T
NBZ+tH )\ﬁ +tBA=E
S
NBZ+H ()
Others 10 April 2015 10 April 2015 to HK$0.78 120,000 - 120,000
9 April 2025
Hit “Z2-RFMA+H —RENE+HE 0.78#&TT
“ZTREMAAH
Total 36,890,000 (36,610,000) 280,000
st
Exercisable at the end of the year 280,000
FERATE
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.617 HK$0.616 HK$0.78
METHTEE 0.617&7T 0.61677T 0.787 7T
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e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

26. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26.
The following table discloses the movements of the share
options under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended
31 December 2021:

BRI (&)
TRFEERHEE_ZT_—%5+_A4
=+ HIEFEEERESTEIETNE
Ae e E)

Number of share options

BEREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise as at Lapsed as at
Category of Date Exercise price 1 January during 31 December
grantee of grant period per share 2021 the year 2021
RIBZ—%F RZEZ—%&
o ~ ~ Bk —A—-A _ tZA=+-H
EENER et =k TR (B AT FRERY B AT
Directors 27 August 2019 27 Aug 2019 to HK$0.616 13,110,000 - 13,110,000
26 Aug 2022 (Note)
Bz —Z-hE “T-hE 0.616% 7T
NBZ+tH NBZ+tRZE
\B=F7A ()
Employees 10 April 2015 10 April 2015 to HK$0.78 160,000 - 160,000
9 April 2025
B8 “Z-1FMmA+H “2-RFMB+HE 0.7837T
—ZTRFOEAAH
27 August 2019 27 Aug 2019 to HK$0.616 23,500,000 - 23,500,000
26 Aug 2022 (Note)
—2-NE “2-NE 0.61677T
ANBZ+tH NBZ+tRHE
ZEICE
NBZ+7A ()
Others 10 April 20156 10 April 2015 to HK$0.78 120,000 - 120,000
9 April 2025
Hith “Z-1FMA+H “Z-IFMA+HE 0.78E7T
ZZHFMAAHE
Total 36,890,000 - 36,890,000
st
Exercisable at the end of the year 36,890,000
ERATHE
Weighted average exercise price HK$0.617 - HK$O:617
MEFHTHReE 0.617E7T - 0.617#7T

Note: The share options granted will vest to the grantees at the date of grant
(i.e. 27 August 2019), the first and second anniversary of the date of
grant (i.e. 27 August 2020 and 27 August 2021, respectively) at an
average amount, the share options once vested shall be exercisable on a
cumulative basis.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not
recognize equity-settled share-based payments expenses in
respect of the Share Option Scheme (2021: approximately
HK$846,000).

No share options was granted and exercised during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 27. MBATIHS
Details of subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 and 2022 are N B —ER_E__F£+_1
as follows: =+ —HHNKWBRBEFHEWT

Particulars of
Place of issued and fully Place of operation
incorporation paid share capital/ and
Name of subsidiary or establishment  paid up capital principal activities Directly
BE1TR
B3 AE RUdrRRs/ .
WEA=4AHE RLhE BHERE BENERIEER
2022 2021
- Jonbe - B
New Eagle International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Investment holding in 100% 100%
X HK§10,000  Hong Kong
TRERERAT % 10,000ETNERR  REEREER
Loco HK Limited BVI 10 Ordinary shares Investment holding in 100% 100%
of USS1 each Hong Kong
Loco HK Limited ZERYHE 10kEREE REARERR
1EnNERR
Gold Convergence Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Investment holding in 100% 100%
HK$10,000 Hong Kong
ETEERAA e 1000ETHERR  NEEREZR
Full Time Investment Holdings Limited BVI 10,000 Ordinary shares  Investment holding in 100% 100%
of USS1 each Hong Kong
Full Time Investment Holdings Limited ERRUHE 10,000k ERA(E REEREER
Sl
Lead The Way Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Inactive 100% 100%
HK$10,000
ERERAT i 10000ENERR  EEEE
Success Vision International Holdings Limited BVI 10,000 Ordinary shares  Investment holding in 100% 100%
) of USS1 each  Hong Kong
ARERZERERAT EERUHE 10,000k ERERE REEREER
1EnNERR
China New Era Investment Limited BVI 1 Ordinary share Investment holding in 100% 100%
. of USS1 each  Hong Kong
PEREAREERAT EERUHE REREE REEREER
1EnNERR
True Time International Investments Limited BVI 10,000 Ordinary shares  Investment holding in 100% 51%
(“True Time") (Note 2) (Note 5) of USS1 each Hong Kong
True Time International Investments Limited BERLES 10,000k EREE REBRELR
(Mrue Time ) (13£2) (KzE5) 1EnNERR
Loco Metal International Limited BVI 1,000 Ordinary shares ~ Investment holding in 100% 100%
of USS1 each Hong Kong
Loco Metal International Limited BERLES 1,000 E R EE REBRELR
1EnHERR
China Precision Material Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Metal and commodity - -
HK$20,000,000 forward contracts
trading in Hong Kong
BIESERTHY &% N000ETH  RERETLEERR
ER2E el BnERENES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
G BHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

27. MBABFE (&)

Particulars of
Place of issued and fully Place of operation
incorporation paid share capital/ and
Name of subsidiary or establishment  paid up capital principal activities Directly Indirectly
&7k
3 AE EYMERE/ ‘
KEARAHE R BRELHE EENARIERR Ef R
2022 2021 2022 2021
—8-CF CBC-f ZSIZE CER-F
CPM Silver Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Silver processing in - - 100% 100%
HK$10,000  Hong Kong
BIRERRAT % 10000ETNERR  REBETREMT
United Bridge Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Investment holding in - - 100% 100%
HK§10,000  Hong Kong
EBERAF % 1000ETNERR  NEEREZR
World Bridge Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share Inactive - - 100% 100%
HK$1
EEERAT i 1A ERR fEgx
United Worth Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Provision of money - - 100% 100%
HK$10,000 lending services in
Hong Kong
ERBERAT % 10,000 EBR )}A*%kﬁiw e
Gold Prosperous City Limited (Note 2) Hong Kong Ordinary shares Investment holding in - - 100% 51%
HK810,000 Hong Kong
SHABRAT (H32) i 1000ETNERR  NEEREZR
Loco Hong Kong Green Energy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Investment holding in - - 100% 100%
HK$10,000 PRC Mainland
BRMERERAT % 10008THERR  RRERMREER
Loco Hong Kong Green Energy (Shenzhen) PRC Mainland Paid up capital Inactive - - 100% 100%
Limited" (Note 3) RMB500,000 (
BRIAER (R BRAR (K:3) EIAH BHERARE500000r BEEE
Sichuan Loco Yahui Education Management PRC Mainland Paid up capital Education management - - 100% 57%
Limited* (‘Loco Yahui') RMB10,000,000 services in PRC Mainland
(Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 4) \
MIEREEAREEERAD (RERE)  HEpN BREL _ ReERMEE
GEARUEINGED AR%®10000000  HAEEREE
Loco (HK) Metal Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares Investment holding in - - 100% 100%
HK$10,000 PRC Mainland
EReBERAT e 10,000 T E B8 RE MR ERR
Sichuan Loco Metal Technology Limited* (Note 8)  PRC Mainland Paid up capital Metal trading in - - 100% -
RMB2,000,000 PRC Mainland
mIAREBREARAT (H:3) EA BHEX ROERETEEER
B 2,000,0007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Notes:

(1) Newly incorporated during the year ended 31 December 2022.

2 Non-controlling interest for the years ended 31 December 2021, the
details are set out in Note 31.

(3) It is wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC Mainland Law.

(4) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party to acquire
9% of the issued share capital of Loco Yahui. After the acquisition, the
Group indirectly held 57% equity interest in Loco Yahui. The Group treats
transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control as transactions with equity owners of the Group.

27. MBABHE (&

M5E

M

REE_E__E+_A=+—HIEEE
Ao

RBEE_T_—F+-_A=+—HLEE
BB JFER R ST EINMIEEST -

RIFREAMER ARSIEBERE

RIE-_—F+_B=+—HLEFEE &
EEBEE =AU B IRIEEI%M
BETRATIEE HE WERME &
EEBERFEBIRHESTRHIRE A&
B RBIEERERNR S (I N B kT
HIE) RIERAEERRET AN S

Consideration paid A0
HK$'000
FET
Cash He 1,083

Difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling
interests and consideration paid is summarized as below:

FEREDABYBEESINREZBEN
ERERNT

HK$'000

FHET

Consideration paid B ARE 1,083
Adjustment to non-controlling interests SRR R AR (1,103)
(20)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 27. WMBABFE (&)

Notes: (continued) MisE (&)

(5)  During the year, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement (6) MRAFEE > NEEEBHTITERBERTrue
with Mr. Hon Hang to acquire 43% of the issued share capital of True Time Time 43%M B &ETRASTIIEE W 1F
at the consideration of USD1 in cash. After the acquisition, the Group BRAIETHNRE WETME A£EH
directly held 100% equity interest in True Time (2021: 57%) and indirectly BFATrue Time 100%MEH#E (T2 = —
held 100% equity interest in Loco Yahui (2021: 57%). The Group treats F157%) REEE BREE100%H R #E
transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of (ZBZ—F :157%) - AEBEBEIEER
control as transactions with equity owners of the Group. BRI S (A EHE RS- [IEHR

TEERDEBANZS
Consideration paid [EEA0L

HK$'000
FHET
Cash B _
Difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling R EDARHEEE AR EZEN

interests and consideration paid is summarized as below: EERELNT
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration paid B ARE -
Adjustment to non-controlling interests IR m AR HER 287
287

*English name for identification purpose only

*  Less than HK$1,000
t R FET

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mAEMBRRNME

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HE_ZT__F+_FB=+—HIEE

28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 28. IFARERERM:E

CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing MEEEBFFEENERRIE:
activities:
Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
= HEAMRE @et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2022 R_E__F—HF—H - 5,261 5,261
Changes from financing MEREREEE .
cash flows:
Interest element of lease payment paid B HE S HHF 255 - (152) (152)
Repayments of capital element HEMRERBONER
of lease payment - (2,048) (2,048)
Proceeds from borrowings EXFEmE 13,560 - 13,560
Repayments of borrowings ERRER (1,510) - (1,510)
12,050 (2,200) 9,850
Other changes: Hithgh :
New lease entered SJiumEE - 4,406 4,406
Interest expenses FERZ - 152 152
Lease termination BARIENEE - (839) (839)
Exchange alignment [E R R - (143) (143)
As at 31 December 2022 K-ZE-Z§+-B=+—-H 12,050 6,637 18,687
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MBRRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 28. IFEHMEMRERME (&
CASH FLOWS (continued)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing FMEEEFREENEGRRIR . (&
activities: (continued)

Lease
Borrowings liabilities Total
=N HEERE W
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
As at 1 January 2021 R_E-—F—F—H - 2,375 2,375
Changes from financing MERERELE
cash flows:
Interest element of lease payment paid BT E [FHAIF 25D - 92) (92)
Repayments of capital element HEMRERBONER
of lease payment - (2,716) (2,716)
Proceeds from borrowings EXFBEMIE 3,000 - 3,000
Repayments of borrowings ERRER (3,000) - (3,000)
- (2,808) (2,808)
Other changes: Hithgg):
New lease entered SIS - 5,602 5,602
Interest expenses FERZ - 92 92
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—-%+”"A=+—H - 5,261 5,261
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

29. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has not entered into any
significant related party transactions during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2022.

Key management personnel compensation

Key management includes members of the board of directors
and other members of key management of the Group. Their
emoluments are set out as follows:

29.

MEAXBRMERS

PRI S B RREMB O KESE
Sy KEBRBE_Z_—FKR-F
TRt —HILEFEWES]
YEREREELIRS

FEEEASHM
TEEEEOEAERESFEHNER
Hih T2 EEEME - REZFH T
meE:

2022 2021
—g=-= o
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT TR

Salaries and short-term e MIEHEEET
employee benefits 5,568 7,642
Post-employment benefits BER B ER 72 65
5,640 7,707
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

30. ZARMBRARRERED

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THET

Non-current assets ERENEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AT 2K E 8,760 13,960

Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGRS 19,406 27,511
Deposits and prepayments & RFBENRIE 53 211
Cash and cash equivalents BERIFEEEY 6 6,646
19,465 34,368
Current liabilities mENE R

Other payables and accruals HMENRIERESER 747 711
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT B 8 2 B 7R 1B 8,149 231
8,896 942
Net current assets MBBEFE 10,569 33,426
Total assets less current liabilities WEERMAE 19,329 47,386
Net assets BEFE 19,329 47,386

Capital and reserves BRRKEH#E
Share capital A& A 188,348 188,348
Reserves i (169,019) (140,962)
Total equity 4B S 19,329 47,386

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on

24 March 2023.

Wang Wendong
EXR

Director

EF

BIRIERBRAR | Z2F5RK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A

R

SRR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

30. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity

30. ZARMBRARRFEEED (2

AEBGERE AR DT
HARGEHR BN HERENGaEaE
BR o ANABRFA R FARZEBIEH

R m AR ER D BY

4=4

BT -

between the beginning and the end of the year are set out
below:
Equity-
settled
share-based
Share Capital payment Accumulated Total
capital reserve reserves losses equity
MigaaEE
2RI AR
R4 BX G faftfE 40 i mrER
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
Myt AT TET FET FET TET
As at 1 January 2021 RIEZ—F
—B—H 161,112 301 7,000 (119,343) 49,070
Loss and total comprehensive FEREGER 2 ERELLEE
loss for the year - - - (29,766) (29,766)
Issue of new shares by way of LUEZE A 1T KRG
placement 27,647 - - - 27,647
Transaction costs attributable 4T3 LI 5 A A
to issue of shares (411) - - - (411)
Recognition of equity-settled UREER 2’ 1n
share-based payments Hitiaf 26 - - 846 - 846
As at 31 December 2021 and PR_E_—%F
1 January 2022 +IZB=+—-Hk
B2 "F—-F—H 188,348 301 7,846 (149,109) 47,386
Loss and total comprehensive ERESERZEEELEE
loss for the year - - - (28,057) (28,057)
Expired share option FERET - - (7,757) 7,757 -
As at 31 December 2022 g Jaan -3
+ZB=+-H 188,348 301 89 (169,409) 19,329
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Rt #5 ¥ &= MY 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ__F+_F=+—HILFE

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 31. JEEERRED
The total accumulated non-controlling interest as at the end REE-Z-_—F+ZHB=+—HIHF
of the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately EREBHIEERERARZEA1,004,000
HK$1,004,000 is related to the non-controlling interests (“NCI”) Bt BTrue TimeREKBATRMIE
in True Time and its subsidiaries, which are principally engaged TR E (TIEERRER)) B> MTrue
in provision of education management services in PRC TimeXREK B AR T ER HE AR
Mainland. During the year, the Group entered into a sale and ERMHEEERT NAFEE» K&
purchase agreement with Mr. Hon Hang to acquire 43% of the E SR HT ST E LU IE I True Time 43%
issued share capital of True Time at the consideration of USD1 NEBTRATIIEE G R (FEA1
in cash. After the acquisition, the Group held 100% equity ETHNBRE - WERME  AEEFE
interest in True Time and its subsidiaries (2021: 57%). True Time &z ELfff & A B1100% 89 & 1 (=
T —4F 1 57%) ©
Set out below is summarized consolidated financial information True TimeR EMBABNIGZEETHEE
for True Time and its subsidiaries. I T o
Summarized consolidated statement of financial position EERBRARBE
As at
31 December
2021
RIE-——4
+=ZHB=+—H
HK$’'000
FAET
Current assets MENEE 21,005
Current liabilities mEaE (20,323)
Current net assets MBEERE 682
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,653
Non-current liabilities ERBEE -
Non-current net assets ERENE EFE 1,653
Net assets BEFE 2,335
Accumulated NCI Rt IEfERRER 1,004

“ECFFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBERRWE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #HEZZ_—_F+_F=+—HIEFE

31. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) 31. FFEERRER (&)
Summarized consolidated statement of profit or loss and FEAEEREMEEKREREE

other comprehensive income

2021

—E-—5F

HK$’000

TAETT

Revenue KA 4,545

Loss for the year FREE (4,558)

Other comprehensive income Hth2mizm 387

Total comprehensive loss T HEEE (4,171)

Loss allocated to NCI DB IFERERINEIER (2,201)

Total comprehensive loss allocated to NCI PEFIFERERNEZEEIR (2,014)
Summarized consolidated statement of cash flows FEAREREREE

2021

—E &

HK$’000

FET

Cash flows from operating activities RETHEETNREMNE (9,241)

Cash flows from investing activities KRETHEFNRERE (1,180)

Cash flows from financing activities MEFHEENRERE 7,596

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SN P BB R BN 5o & (69)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RERFESZEEYH L BE (2,894)
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT BY CATEGORY

33.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBBRRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #EZE"Z__"F+"A=+—HI-FE

32. RENBSNEMIA

2022 2021
—E-C# —Eo—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT T
Financial assets EHEE
At amortized cost: FEEETE ALK
— Trade and other receivables — B REMEWIE 29,311 12,623
— Cash and cash equivalents - RENKREEEY 4,180 20,880
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL: BHIGTEIZ LA FEFAED .
— Other financial assets —HitsmEE 4,280 5,500
37,771 39,003
Financial liabilities 43R
At amortized cost: TR
Other payables and accruals HENHRIERESTER 2,204 2,033
Borrowings e 12,050 -
Lease liabilities HEaE 6,637 5,261
20,891 7,004
DIVIDENDS 33. BRE
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31 REEZE- -+ -"A=+—H1I
December 2022, nor has any dividend been proposed since FEMBRVHNEZKEFARE B

the end of the reporting period (2021: Nil).
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BB BE

AEERBEREAMBRFEZFEUREE

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group

for the last five financial years is set out below: REBEBRESHIIWMT
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
-F-C R IRIFE IE-NE ZEN\E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
Results e FHET FATT FATT FAT FAT
Revenue from FRBEEEBIRA
continuing operations 48,341 13,932 10,464 216,614 1,083,940
Loss before income tax SRS EBIRAE
from continuing operations MAEE (22,895) (31,499) (45,952) (20,403) (22,572)
Loss for the year (including FEBE (BEEBALE
discontinued operations) REEE) (23,164) (31,360) (46,737) (26,304) (27,653)
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C - -F CZ-ZFE —Z-AFE C—Z-)\E
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Assets and liabilities BEREE FET FHET FET FTET FET
Current assets MEEE 33,865 34,051 37,219 61,867 162,865
Current liabilities mEas 20,576 4,700 3,779 9,250 86,652
Non-current assets FRBEE 14,783 20,963 18,442 31,262 6,241
Non-current liabilities Bl =R 4,796 2,594 659 871 -
Total equity W 4B EE 23,276 47,720 51,2283 83,008 82,454
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Key financial ratios BEEMBLILE —EZZ T CZTZTFE CZT-hnE ZT)\F
Current ratio RENEEE 1.65 7.24 9.85 6.69 1.88
Quick ratio RENLE = 1.63 7.19 9.78 6.66 1.40
Net gearing ratio FEABELR 384% NATER NATER NAFRER NATER
Return on total assets MEEDRE (47.6%) (57.0%) (84.0%) (28.2%) (16.4%)
Return on equity 1t O] 2R = (99.5%) (65.7%) (91.2%) (31.7%) (33.5%)
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